
 

 

 

 

AGENDA 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
7651 E. Central Park Ave, Bel Aire, KS 

September 20, 2022 7:00 PM 

 

I. CALL TO ORDER: Mayor Jim Benage 

II. ROLL CALL 

Greg Davied                   Tyler Dehn                    Emily Hamburg         

Justin Smith                   John Welch         

III. OPENING PRAYER: Mark Posson  

IV. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE AMERICAN FLAG 

V. DETERMINE AGENDA ADDITIONS 

VI. CONSENT AGENDA 

A. Approval of Minutes of the September 7, 2022 City Council meeting. 

B. Approval of Minutes of the September 13, 2022 Special City Council Meeting 

Action: Motion to (approve / table / deny) the Consent Agenda as (listed / amended) and 

authorize the Mayor to sign. 

Motion _______ Second _______ Vote _______ 

VII. DISCUSSION AND APPROVAL OF APPROPRIATIONS ORDINANCE 

A. Consideration of Appropriations Ordinance 22-17 in the amount of $360,775.89. 

Action: Motion to (approve /deny / table) Appropriations Ordinance 22-17. 

Motion _______ Second _______ Vote _______ 

VIII. CITY REQUESTED APPEARANCES 

A. 2021 Audit Presentation- Tara Laughlin from Allen, Gibbs & Houlik 
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IX. CITIZEN CONCERNS: If you wish to speak, please fill out a "Request to Speak" card at the 

podium and give it to the City Clerk before the meeting begins. When you are called on by the 

Mayor, please go to the podium, speak into the microphone, and state your name and address 

before giving your comments. Please limit your comments to 3 minutes in the interest of time. If 

more time is needed, you may request an extension from the Mayor. 

X. REPORTS 

A.      Council Member Reports 

B.      Mayor's Report 

C.      City Attorney Report 

D.      City Manager Report 

XI. ORDINANCES, RESOLUTIONS AND FINAL ACTIONS 

A. Consideration of an Amendment to the Arthur Heights Planned Unit Development 

(PUD -22-01). 

Action: Motion to (approve/ deny / table) the Arthur Heights PUD Amendment as 

recommended by the Planning Commission, allowing for R-6 multi-family zoning with 

certain conditions within the existing PUD (as presented by Planning Commission/ as 

amended by this Council). 

Motion_______ Second _______ Vote: 

Jim Benage ____       Greg Davied                   Tyler Dehn         

Emily Hamburg          Justin Smith                   John Welch         

B. Consideration of A Resolution Concerning Service, License And Permit Fees Within 

The Corporate Limits Of The City Of Bel Aire, Kansas (Fee Schedule 2023). 

Action: Motion to (approve / deny / table) A Resolution Concerning Service, License And 

Permit Fees Within The Corporate Limits Of The City Of Bel Aire, Kansas. 

Motion _______ Second _______ Vote _______ 

XII. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

Action: Motion to go into executive session for the sole purpose of discussion the subject of: 

(                                     ), pursuant to the KSA 75-4319 exception for: (                              ). Invite 

the City Manager and the City Attorney. The meeting will be for a period of (    ) minutes, and the 

open meeting will resume in City Council Chambers at (           ) PM.  

Motion _______ Second _______ Vote _______ 
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XIII. DISCUSSION AND FUTURE ISSUES 

XIV. ADJOURNMENT 

Action: Motion to adjourn. 

Motion _______ Second _______ Vote _______ 

 

Additional Attachments: 

A. PD Report - August 2022 

B. Planning and Zoning Staff report - August 2022 

C. Rec Activities -  August 2022 

D. Manager's Report - September 20, 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Notice 
It is possible that sometime between 6:30 and 7:00 PM immediately prior to this meeting, during breaks, 

and directly after the meeting, a majority of the Governing Body may be present in the Council Chambers 

or the lobby of City Hall. No one is excluded from these areas during these times. Cox Cable Channel 7 

rebroadcasts of this meeting are scheduled daily or can be streamed on YouTube and at 

www.belaireks.gov. Please make sure all cell phones and other electronics are turned off and put away. 
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1 
City Council Meeting 
September 7, 2022 

 

 

 

MINUTES 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
7651 E. Central Park Ave, Bel Aire, KS 

September 07, 2022 7:00 PM 

 

I. CALL TO ORDER: Mayor Jim Benage called the  meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 

II. ROLL CALL 

Present were Greg Davied, Emily Hamburg, Justin Smith, and John Welch. Tyler Dehn was 
absent. 

Also present were City Manager Ty Lasher, City Attorney Jacqueline Kelly, Assistant City 
Manager/ Director of Finance Ted Henry, City Engineer Anne Stephens, City Clerk Melissa 
Krehbiel, Bond Counsel Kevin Cowan of Gilmore and Bell, PA and Financial Advisor Adam 
Pope of Columbia Capital Management, LLC. 

III. OPENING PRAYER: John Barkett provided the opening prayer. 

IV. PRESENTATION OF COLORS: Boy Scout Pack #585 presented the colors. 

V. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE AMERICAN FLAG 

  Boy Scout Pack #585 led the pledge of allegiance. 

VI. DETERMINE AGENDA ADDITIONS: There were no additions. 

VII. CONSENT AGENDA 

A. Approval of Minutes of the August 16, 2022 City Council meeting. 

B. Accept a Petition for Water Distribution System Improvements to serve Phase 1 of 
Skyview at Block 49 2nd Addition. 

C. Approve A Resolution Determining The Advisability Of The Making Of Certain 
Internal Improvements In The City Of Bel Aire, Kansas; Making Certain Findings 
With Respect Thereto; Authorizing And Providing For The Making Of The 
Improvements In Accordance With Such Findings (Sanitary Sewer Improvements/ 
Skyview At Block 49 2nd Addition - Phase 1); And Amending, Restating And 
Repealing Resolution No. R-22-28. 
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D. Approve A Resolution Determining The Advisability Of The Making Of Certain 
Internal Improvements In The City Of Bel Aire, Kansas; Making Certain Findings 
With Respect Thereto; Authorizing And Providing For The Making Of The 
Improvements In Accordance With Such Findings (Water Distribution System 
Improvements/Skyview At Block 49 2nd Addition- Phase 1); And Amending, 
Restating And Repealing Resolution No. R-22-31. 

MOTION: Councilmember Smith moved to approve the Consent Agenda as listed. 
Councilmember Davied seconded the motion. Motion carried 4-0.  

VIII. DISCUSSION AND APPROVAL OF APPROPRIATIONS ORDINANCE 

A. Consideration of Appropriations Ordinance No. 22-16 in the amount of 
$1,108,026.56. 

MOTION: Councilmember Hamburg moved to approve Appropriations Ordinance No. 
22-16. Councilmember Smith seconded the motion. Motion carried 4-0. 

IX. CITY REQUESTED APPEARANCES 

A. Woodlawn Construction Update - Dakota Zimmerman, Garver 

B. Gary O’Neal, Bel Aire Area Chamber of Commerce 

C. Larry Kleeman, Ranson City Code Financial 

  Dakota Zimmerman provided an update on construction progress on Woodlawn.  

Gary O’Neal reported on the growth in membership and recent activities of the Chamber.  

Larry Kleeman gave a demonstration of a draft of the online City Code.  

X. PUBLIC HEARING 

A. Revenue Neutral Rate - The purpose of the public hearing is to give property owners and 
other interested parties the opportunity to speak on exceeding the Revenue Neutral Rate of 
39.722 mills. 

  James Siever, 4242 N Rushwood Circle, asked how the mill levy affects individual 
property taxes. 

MOTION: Councilmember Smith moved to close the public hearing. Councilmember 
Welch seconded the motion. Motion carried 4-0.  

   Staff requested that Agenda Item XIII A be considered at this time. 

[XIII. A.] Consideration of A Resolution Of The City Of Bel Aire, Kansas To Levy 
A Property Tax Rate Exceeding The Revenue Neutral Rate. 
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  City Manager Lasher gave a brief presentation on the Revenue Neutral Rate and stood 
for question from the Council. 

MOTION: Councilmember Welch moved to approve A Resolution Of The City Of Bel 
Aire, Kansas To Levy A Property Tax Rate Exceeding The Revenue Neutral Rate and 
authorize the Mayor to sign. Councilmember Davied seconded the motion.  
Rollcall Vote: 
Greg Davied – Aye   Emily Hamburg – Aye   Justin Smith – Aye 
John Welch - Aye 
Motion carried 4-0. 

B. 2023 City of Bel Aire Budget - The purpose of the public hearing is to give property 
owners and other interested parties the opportunity to speak on the proposed 2023 City of 
Bel Aire Budget.  

  No one spoke. 

MOTION: Councilmember Smith moved to close the public hearing. Councilmember 
Welch seconded the motion. Motion carried 4-0. 

XI. CITIZEN CONCERNS: No one spoke. 
 
XII. REPORTS 
 

A.      Council Member Reports 
 

Councilmember Welch reported that patches were done on 53rd Street. He would like to see 
the patches completed this year and a solution for the traffic on 53rd Street at Isely Elementary 
during pickup and drop off times. 

 
Councilmember Smith gave a brief report on the latest meeting of the Chisholm Creek Utility 

Authority (CCUA). 
 
Councilmember Hamburg briefly reported on the latest meeting of the Bel Aire Lion’s Club, a 

ribbon cutting for the new disc golf course at Alley Park, and the Lion’s Club District Cabinet 
meeting. She also met with the Bel Aire Senior Center Coordinator and attended a performance at 
the Kechi Playhouse. She encouraged residents to patronize the Bel Aire Lions Club concessions 
at Rec Center games; much of the proceeds go back to community events. Also, she reminded 
residents that October 1st is Fall Curbside Cleanup day.  
 
B.      Mayor's Report 
 

Mayor Benage reported on the need to continue to support businesses on Woodlawn during 
the construction. He attended the disc golf course ribbon cutting and thanked the Lions Club for 
donating the equipment for the course. Mayor Benage also attended a meeting on the K-96 
Improvement Plan; a public meeting is planned for January 2023. He noted that the Wichita area is 
the 5th largest community for human trafficking in the United States; he encouraged people who 
are concerned about the issue to contact Hope Ranch for Women. Regarding upcoming events, 
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McConnell Air Force Base will host an air show on September 24-25, Church of the Resurrection 
will hold a blood drive September 10th, and Sedgwick County Association of Cities will meet on 
September 10th at Kechi City Hall. 
 
C.      City Attorney Report 
 

City Attorney Kelly briefly reported on the sidewalk abatement program and enforcement of 
the noise ordinance. Also, no petitions were received against the Charter Ordinances passed earlier 
this year, so they will go into effect. 

 
D.      City Manager Report 

 
City Manager Lasher reported that the City was recently awarded an improved bond rating of 

AA- . The improved rating will allow the City to have lower interest rates for bonds and those 
lower rates will translate into savings for taxpayers.  

XIII. ORDINANCES, RESOLUTIONS AND FINAL ACTIONS 

A. Consideration of A Resolution Of The City Of Bel Aire, Kansas To Levy A Property 
Tax Rate Exceeding The Revenue Neutral Rate. 

 
This item was addressed earlier in the meeting. 

B. Consideration of adopting the 2023 City of Bel Aire budget. 

  Assistant City Manager/ Director of Finance Ted Henry stood for questions from the 
Council. 

MOTION: Councilmember Hamburg moved to adopt the 2023 City of Bel Aire budget 
as presented and authorize the Governing Body to sign. Councilmember Welch 
seconded the motion. Motion carried 4-0. 

C. Consideration of An Ordinance Authorizing And Providing For The Issuance Of 
General Obligation Bonds, Series 2022A, Of The City Of Bel Aire, Kansas; Providing 
For The Levy And Collection Of An Annual Tax For The Purpose Of Paying The 
Principal Of And Interest On Said Bonds As They Become Due; Authorizing Certain 
Other Documents And Actions In Connection Therewith; And Making Certain 
Covenants With Respect Thereto. 

  Financial Advisor Adam Pope of Columbia Capital Management, LLC. presented the 
bids for both the Bonds and Notes (Item XIII.E.) and stood for questions from Council. 

MOTION: Councilmember Smith moved to accept An Ordinance Authorizing And 
Providing For The Issuance Of General Obligation Bonds, Series 2022A, Of The City 
Of Bel Aire, Kansas; Providing For The Levy And Collection Of An Annual Tax For 
The Purpose Of Paying The Principal Of And Interest On Said Bonds As They Become 
Due; Authorizing Certain Other Documents And Actions In Connection Therewith; 
And Making Certain Covenants With Respect Thereto and authorize all required 
signatures. Councilmember Davied seconded the motion. 
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Rollcall Vote: 
Greg Davied – Aye   Emily Hamburg – Aye   Justin Smith – Aye 
John Welch - Aye 
Motion carried 4-0. 

D. Consideration of A Resolution Prescribing The Form And Details Of And 
Authorizing And Directing The Sale And Delivery Of General Obligation Bonds, 
Series 2022A, Of The City Of Bel Aire, Kansas, Previously Authorized By Ordinance 
No. 696 Of The Issuer; Making Certain Covenants And Agreements To Provide For 
The Payment And Security Thereof; And Authorizing Certain Other Documents And 
Actions Connected Therewith. 

MOTION: Councilmember Smith moved to approve A Resolution Prescribing The 
Form And Details Of And Authorizing And Directing The Sale And Delivery Of 
General Obligation Bonds, Series 2022A, Of The City Of Bel Aire, Kansas, Previously 
Authorized By Ordinance No. 696 Of The Issuer; Making Certain Covenants And 
Agreements To Provide For The Payment And Security Thereof; And Authorizing 
Certain Other Documents And Actions Connected Therewith and authorize all required 
signatures. Councilmember Davied seconded the motion. Motion carried 4-0. 

E. Consideration of A Resolution Authorizing And Directing The Issuance, Sale And 
Delivery Of General Obligation Temporary Notes, Series 2022B, Of The City Of Bel 
Aire, Kansas; Providing For The Levy And Collection Of An Annual Tax, If 
Necessary, For The Purpose Of Paying The Principal Of And Interest On Said Notes 
As They Become Due; Making Certain Covenants And Agreements To Provide For 
The Payment And Security Thereof; And Authorizing Certain Other Documents And 
Actions Connected Therewith. 

 MOTION: Councilmember Davied moved to approve A Resolution Authorizing And 
Directing The Issuance, Sale And Delivery Of General Obligation Temporary Notes, 
Series 2022B, Of The City Of Bel Aire, Kansas; Providing For The Levy And 
Collection Of An Annual Tax, If Necessary, For The Purpose Of Paying The Principal 
Of And Interest On Said Notes As They Become Due; Making Certain Covenants And 
Agreements To Provide For The Payment And Security Thereof; And Authorizing 
Certain Other Documents And Actions Connected Therewith, and authorize all 
required signatures. Councilmember Smith seconded the motion. Motion carried 4-0. 

EXECUTIVE SESSION  

MOTION: Councilmember Hamburg moved to go into executive session for the sole purpose 
of discussion the subject of: attorney-client consultation regarding pending litigation, pursuant 
to the KSA 75-4319 exception for: attorney-client privilege. Invite the City Manager, the City 
Attorney, Jennifer Hill and representatives from Burns and McDonnell. The meeting will be 
for a period of 30 minutes, and the open meeting will resume in City Council Chambers at 
9:12 PM. Councilmember Smith seconded the motion. Motion carried 4-0. 

The Council then held an executive session. At 9:12 p.m. the Council returned from executive 
session. Mayor Benage stated no binding action had been taken and called the meeting back to 
order in open session. 
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MOTION: Councilmember Smith moved to extend the executive session for 20 minutes and 
for the open meeting to resume in Council Chambers at 9:34 p.m. Councilmember Davied 
seconded the motion. Motion carried 4-0. 

The Council then returned to executive session. At 9:34 p.m. the Council returned from 
executive session. Mayor Benage stated no binding action had been taken and called the 
meeting back to order in open session. 

F. Consideration of acquiring easements from Envision Management, Inc. for the Oliver 
Street Lift Station and associated sanitary sewer mains. 

MOTION: Councilmember Hamburg moved to approve the receipt of easements from 
Envision Management, Inc., for the Oliver Street Lift Station and associated Gravity 
Sanitary Sewer Mains and authorize the Mayor to sign. Councilmember Davied 
seconded the motion. Motion carried 4-0. 

G. Consideration of accepting a bid for Water, Sanitary Sewer and Drainage 
Improvements to serve Skyview at Block 49 2nd. Five bids were received:  

 
Contractor                 Water                 Sewer                Drainage            Total 
Apex                         $128,825.00       $221,030.00       $252,920.00     $602,775.00 
Dondlinger                 $86,602.20       $151,709.00       $206,217.90     $444,528.90 
McCullough               $91,493.00       $133,746.00       $195,079.20     $420,318.20 
Mies                           $89,599.00       $160,026.00        $230,059.00     $479,684.00 
Nowak                       $98,795.00        $180,622.00       $212,472.50     $491,889.50 
Engineer’s Estimate  $83,824.00        $124,129.00       $230,883.00     $438,836.00 

MOTION: Councilmember Smith moved to accept the bid from McCullough in the 
amount of $420,318.20 for Water, Sanitary Sewer and Drainage Improvements to serve 
Skyview at Block 49 2nd and authorize the Mayor to sign all related documents. 
Councilmember Welch seconded the motion. Motion carried 4-0. 

H. Consideration of approving a bid for Chapel Landing, Phase 2 and Homestead Senior 
Landing Sanitary Sewer Projects Part “A”, “B”, & “C”, Water Line Part “D”, and 
Storm Water Drain Improvements. Three bids were received:                        
 
Project Part                    Engineer’s Est.          Mies                   Nowak             Dondlinger 
A. Mains, Lift Station   $1,136,868.00      $859,476.00       $901,854.50       $1,124,780.22 
B. Sanitary Sewer           $113,073.00         $80,972.00        $101,113.50            $90,572.46 
C. Sanitary Sewer           $400,632.00       $318,149.50        $385,743.00          $415,911.59 
D. Water                         $212,156.00       $219,365.00        $239,550.00          $355,491.00 
E. Storm Water               $368,704.50       $420,088.20        $366,322.00          $403,116.50 
Total                            $2,231,433.50    $1,898,050.70     $1,994,583.00       $2,389,871.77 

MOTION: Councilmember Smith moved to accept the bid from Mies in the amount of 
$1,898,050.70 for Chapel Landing, Phase 2 and Homestead Senior Landing Sanitary 
Sewer Projects Part “A”, “B”, & “C”, Water Line Part “D”, and Storm Water Drain 
Improvements Part “E” and authorize the Mayor to sign all related documents. 
Councilmember Welch seconded the motion. Motion carried 4-0. 
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I. Consideration of a bid for Cured In Place Pipe to be installed in Aurora Park and 
Lawn Terrace. Three companies were contacted and two bids were received: 
 

Insituform Technologies USA     $631,792.80 
Municipal Pipe Tool Co. LLC      $703,674.34 

MOTION: Councilmember Welch moved to approve the bid from Insituform 
Technologies USA in the amount not to exceed $631,792.80 for Cured in Place Pipe to 
be installed in the Aurora Park and Lawn Terrace neighborhoods and authorize the 
Mayor to sign. Councilmember Smith seconded the motion. Motion carried 4-0. 

J. Consideration of a Development Agreement for Elk Creek 3rd. 

MOTION: Councilmember Hamburg moved to approve the Development Agreement 
for Elk Creek 3rd and authorize the Mayor to sign. Councilmember Welch seconded the 
motion. Motion carried 4-0.  

K. Consideration of a Development Agreement for Chapel Landing 6th. 

MOTION: Councilmember Welch moved to approve the Development Agreement for 
Chapel Landing 6th and authorize the Mayor to sign. Councilmember Davied seconded 
the motion. Motion carried 4-0. 

L. Consideration of the revised Employment Agreement with City Manager Lasher. 

MOTION: Councilmember Davied moved to approve the revised Employment 
Agreement with City Manager Lasher and authorize the Mayor to sign. Councilmember 
Hamburg seconded the motion. Motion carried 4-0.  

M. Consideration of an Agreement for Professional Services with PEC for Construction 
Administration and Construction Observation services for the 2022 Street Repairs in 
the amount of $62,500.00. 

MOTION: Councilmember Smith moved to approve an Agreement for Professional 
Services with PEC for Construction Administration and Construction Observation 
services for the 2022 Street Repairs in the amount not to exceed $62,500 and authorize 
the Mayor to sign. Councilmember Davied seconded the motion. Motion carried 4-0.  

N. Consideration of accepting a proposal for the Water and Sanitary Sewer Master 
Plans. Three proposals were received: 

PEC                                $134,000.00 
Garver                            $211,117.00 
Burns & McDonnell       $236,700.00 

MOTION: Councilmember Hamburg moved to accept the proposal from PEC in the 
amount of $134,000.00 for the Water and Sanitary Sewer Master Plans and authorize 
the Mayor to sign all related documents. Councilmember Smith seconded the motion. 
Motion carried 4-0.  
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XIV. EXECUTIVE SESSION: There was no need for another executive session. 

XV. DISCUSSION AND FUTURE ISSUES 

A. Workshop - September 13th at 6:30 pm? 

Councilmembers briefly discussed the agenda for the Council Workshop. There was consensus to 
hold a special meeting on September 13th at 6:30 p.m., which will be followed by the workshop at 
7:00 p.m. 

XVI. ADJOURNMENT 

MOTION: Councilmember Smith moved to adjourn. Councilmember Welch seconded the 
motion. Motion carried 4-0.  

The meeting adjourned at 10:11 p.m. 
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Special City Council Meeting Minutes 

September 13, 2022 

 

 

 

MINUTES 

 

SPECIAL CITY COUNCIL 

MEETING 
7651 E. Central Park Ave, Bel Aire, KS 

September 13, 2022 6:30 PM 

I. CALL TO ORDER: Mayor Jim Benage called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. 

II. ROLL CALL 

Present were Greg Davied, Tyler Dehn, Emily Hamburg, Justin Smith, and John Welch. 

Also present were City Manager Ty Lasher and City Attorney Jacqueline Kelly. 

III. CITIZEN CONCERNS: No one spoke. 

IV. NEW / OTHER BUSINESS: None. 

V. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

MOTION: Councilmember Smith moved to go into executive session for the sole purpose of 

discussing the subject of Attorney-Client Consultation regarding contractual obligations, 

pursuant to the KSA 75-4319 exception for: attorney-client privilege. Invite the City Manager 

and City Attorney. The meeting will be for a period of 30 minutes, and the open meeting will 

resume in City Council Chambers at 7:02 PM. Councilmember Welch seconded the motion. 

Motion carried 5-0. 

The Council then held an executive session. At 7:05 p.m. the Council returned to the Council 

Chambers. Mayor Benage stated no binding action was taken and called the meeting to order in 

open session. 

MOTION: Councilmember Davied moved to extend the executive session for 15 minutes, 

with the open meeting to resume in Council Chambers at 7:20 p.m. Councilmember Welch 

seconded the motion. Motion carried 5-0. 

The Council then returned to executive session. At 7:20 p.m. the Council returned to the 

Council Chambers. Mayor Benage stated no binding action was taken and called the meeting to 

order in open session. 

VI. ADJOURNMENT 

MOTION: At 7:22 p.m., Councilmember Hamburg moved to adjourn. Councilmember 

Welch seconded the motion. Motion carried 5-0. 
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City of Bel Aire, Kansas 
 

STAFF REPORT 
 
DATE:  9/14/2022 
TO: Ty Lasher, City Manager  
FROM: Ted Henry, Assistant City Manager/ Director of Finance   
RE: 2021 Audited Financial Statements   
 
Auditors from Allen, Gibbs & Houlik L.C. (AGH) have completed the audit of the City’s 2021 financial 
statements. Accompanying the audit was a Governing Body Communication letter dated July 29, 2022 that 
identifies areas of needed improvement in the City’s internal control processes. This memo highlights those 
deficiencies, and the corrective actions staff has already taken or will be taking in the future to address the 
concerns. AGH auditors have assured staff that the identified areas are due to the City’s small staff size 
which is common among cities of the second class.  
 
These are the same weakness identified in the past seven audit years. In past few years, I have worked with 
our software provider and auditors in efforts to remove some of these weaknesses. You will note these 
changes throughout the letter starting on page 4 and 5. (highlighted below) These changes represent 
progress, and the work will continue.  
 
Segregation of duties: 
 
Payroll - One employee inputs employee master file information (can enter data for new employees and 
change pay rates), enters pay period information and processes payroll. Compensating controls include: the 
financial statements are reviewed and compared to budget monthly by department heads and the City 
Council. A calculation verification report is reviewed each payroll cycle that is reviewed by both the 
payroll clerk and the Director of Finance. Starting mid-2021, the system allowed for the Director of 
Finance to limit his access so he no longer can make pay changes, however, he can still grant himself 
this access and does when needing to fill in for the payroll clerk. We recommend that the City 
implement an authorization or approval process for changes made to the payroll system through review of 
master file change reports. We discussed and looked at system reports at the end of the fiscal year 2021 
audit with the Director of Finance and found a payroll change report can be run that shows all changes 
made for that period, the time stamp of the change and the user that made the change. The City will work 
on implementing a review of this payroll change report by the City Manager who does not have 
access to make payroll changes during fiscal year 2022. 
 
Accounting system - One employee has access to all areas of the accounting software which provides for 
the opportunity for management override of controls. Compensating controls include: the financial 
statements are reviewed and compared to budget monthly by department heads and the City Council. 
Additionally, all journal entries recorded in the system are reviewed by both the Director of Finance and 
Treasurer. We recommend that someone independent of the account process reviews the entered budget 
and compares to the legal budget. Starting for fiscal year 2023, the City will have the City Clerk, who 
does not have access to the system, review the budget entered into the system for accuracy to 
approved budget. 
 
Accounts receivable/revenue - One employee has the ability to enter and adjust approved rates into the 
utility billing system, to accept payments for utilities, and to prepare and make the bank deposits. Starting 
mid-2021, access to make changes to utility rates was limited to only the Director of Finance. We 
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recommend that someone independent of the rate approval process reviews changes to utility rates. The 
City is implementing an additional control starting with the January 1, 2023 rate changes where the 
City Clerk will review the rate changes made by the Director of Finance or accuracy. 
 
Municipal Court receivable/revenue - One employee has the ability to enter traffic violations and violations 
of City ordinances and has the ability to accept payments as well. Compensating controls include that all 
cash and checks collected by the court clerk are processed and posted into the system by the Treasurer’s 
Department. We recommend the City evaluate if the system can produce a report that shows changes 
made to tickets within the system. (report not available with our current software provider)  
 
Check writing - For fiscal year 2021, there was no dual verification for the approval of ACH and wire 
payment. In addition, the Treasurer has access to master vendor files, the ability to write checks, and has 
access to the Finance Director’s signature stamp. (bank upgraded online approval system) Starting in 
fiscal year 2022, the City does now require dual authorization for ACH and wire payments.  
 
Accounting and Financial Reporting:  
 
Financial Statement Preparation: City staff members do not currently possess the level of training required 
to prepare the annual financial statements in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
(GAAP).  Although the American Society of CPA’s indicates that financial statements and note disclosures 
should be prepared “in-house” by a staff accountant, this requirement is not very realistic for most small 
municipalities, and many have this issue identified during their audit.  
 
Journal Entry/ Capital Asset: This deficiency is related to the material weakness regarding capital asset 
recording. Prior to the audit, capital projects funded with temporary notes were not considered to be assets 
until the permanent financing (GO bond) was issued. Auditors will continue to work with staff to ensure 
that going forward, capital projects will be moved from the “Construction In Progress” report to the 
schedule of assets when they are placed in service, not when they are bonded, however this improvement 
was not enough to fully remove this deficiency for 2021. 
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The Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 
City of Bel Aire, Kansas 
 
We are pleased to present this report related to our audit of the basic financial statements of the City of 
Bel Aire, Kansas (City) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021. This report summarizes 
certain matters required by professional standards to be communicated to you in your oversight 
responsibility for the Organization’s financial reporting process. 
 
This report is intended solely for the information and use of the City Council and management, and is 
not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties.  
 
Consistent with this requirement, the following summarizes our responsibilities regarding the basic 
financial statement audit as well as observations arising from our audit that are significant and relevant 
to your responsibility to oversee the financial and related compliance reporting process. 
 
This letter includes other comments and suggestions with respect to matters that came to our attention 
in connection with our audit of the City’s financial statements. These items are offered as constructive 
suggestions to be considered part of the ongoing process of modifying and improving the City’s 
practices and procedures. 
 
The following summarizes various matters that must be communicated to you under auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Our Responsibilities with Regard to the Financial Statement Audit 
Our responsibilities under auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and 
the Kansas Municipal Audit and Accounting Guide have been described to you in our arrangement 
letter dated January 4, 2022. Our audit of the financial statements does not relieve management or 
those charged with governance of their responsibilities, which are also described in that letter. 
 
Overview of the Planned Scope and Timing of the Financial Statement Audit 
We have issued a separate communication dated January 4, 2022, regarding the planned scope and 
timing of our audit and have discussed with you our identification of significant risks. We made no 
significant changes to the scope or timing of our procedures. 
 
Accounting Policies and Practices 
Preferability of Accounting Policies and Practices - Under generally accepted accounting principles, in 
certain circumstances, management may select among alternative accounting practices. In our view, in 
such circumstances, management has selected the preferable accounting practice. 
 
Adoption of, or Change in, Accounting Policies - Management has the ultimate responsibility for the 
appropriateness of the accounting policies used by the City. 
 
The City did not adopt any significant new accounting policies, nor have there been any changes in 
existing significant accounting policies during the current period. 
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Significant Accounting Policies - We did not identify any significant accounting policies in controversial 
or emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. 
 
Significant or Unusual Transactions - We did not identify any significant or unusual transactions. 
 
Management’s Judgments and Accounting Estimates - Accounting estimates are an integral part of the 
preparation of financial statements and are based upon management’s current judgment. The process 
used by management encompasses their knowledge and experience about past and current events, 
and certain assumptions about future events. You may wish to monitor throughout the year the process 
used to determine and record these accounting estimates. The following describes the significant 
accounting estimates reflected in the City’s financial statements. 
 

 Land project valuation - Management evaluates the valuation of the land held for sale by 
comparing current year sales to asking prices and utilizing appraisals in the selling documents. 
As a basis for our conclusions, we compared asking prices to actual sales.  

 Net pension liability - The City followed guidelines in GASB Statement No. 68 for reporting its 
proportionate share of KPERS’ collective net pension liability. This included obtaining KPERS’ 
report on Schedules of Employer and Nonemployer Allocations and Schedules of Pension 
Amounts by Employer and Nonemployer as of June 30, 2021, which was audited by other 
auditors. The City compared contributions made by the City to amounts included in this report. 
As a basis for our conclusions, we reviewed KPERS’ report for reasonableness and verified and 
recalculated the City’s information provided in the report. 

 Total Other Post-Employment Benefit (OPEB) Liability - The City participates in KPERS’ death 
and disability OPEB plan. The City followed guidelines in GASB statement No. 75 for reporting 
its share of the KPERS’ death and disability OPEB plan. This included obtaining an actuary 
report as of June 30, 2021 provided by KPERS’ on the City’s share of this plan liability. As a 
basis for our conclusion, we reviewed KPERS’ report for reasonableness and verified and 
recalculated the City’s information provided in the report. 

 
Audit Adjustments 
Audit adjustments proposed by us and recorded by the City are as follows: 

 to adjust beginning fund balance in various funds related to prior year audit adjustments  
 to record debt activity for amounts paid directly by the trustee  
 to adjust accounts payable and other accrued liabilities  
 to properly record sales tax, mortgage, property tax, franchise tax, water and sewer and other 

operating receivables for amounts collected after year-end 
 to adjust special assessments receivable  
 to properly record the movement of funds to record long term debt activity 
 various capital asset adjustments 
 to record the net pension liability and total OPEB liability and related deferred inflows and 

outflows of resources  
 to convert fund data for proper inclusion into the government-wide financial statements 
 to record purchases and sales during the year of land held for sale 
 to record unearned revenue for ARPA grant revenue received in advance of eligibility 

requirements being met 
 
Uncorrected Misstatements 
We are not aware of any uncorrected misstatements other than misstatements that are clearly trivial. 
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Management Representations 
In connection with our audit procedures, we have obtained a written management representation letter. 
This representation letter constitutes written acknowledgments by management that it has the primary 
responsibility for the fair presentation of the financial statements in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles and also includes the more significant and specific oral representations made by 
officers and employees during the course of the audit. The letter is intended to reduce the possibility of 
misunderstandings between us and the City and reminds the signing officers to consider seriously 
whether all material liabilities, commitments and contingencies or other important financial information 
have been brought to our attention. 
 
Observations About the Audit Process 
We did not discuss with management any alternative treatments within generally accepted accounting 
principles for accounting policies and practices related to material items during the current audit year; 
we encountered no disagreements with management over the application of significant accounting 
principles, the basis for management’s judgments on any significant matters, the scope of the audit or 
significant disclosures to be included in the financial statements; we are not aware of any consultations 
management had with other accountants about accounting or auditing matters; no significant issues 
arising from the audit were discussed or the subject of correspondence with management; we did not 
encounter any difficulties in dealing with management relating to the performance of the audit; and we 
did not encounter any significant and difficult or contentious matters that required consultation outside 
the engagement team. 
 
Internal Control Matters 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of the City as of and for the year ended 
December 31, 2021, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America, we considered the City’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis 
for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing 
our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the City’s internal control. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph 
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be significant deficiencies 
or material weaknesses. Therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were 
not identified. However, as discussed below, we identified certain deficiencies in internal control that we 
consider to be material weaknesses and significant deficiencies. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A deficiency in design exists when (a) a control 
necessary to meet the control objective is missing, or (b) an existing control is not properly designed so 
that, even if the control operates as designed, the control objective would not be met. A deficiency in 
operation exists when a properly designed control does not operate as designed or when the person 
performing the control does not possess the necessary authority or competence to perform the control 
effectively. 
 
A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there 
is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be 
prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. We consider the following deficiency in the 
City’s internal control to be a material weakness: 
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Accounting and Financial Reporting: The City’s management is responsible for the accuracy, 
completeness and fairness of the data presented in the basic financial statements, including all 
disclosures. Management generated budgetary fund-level financial statements and provided supporting 
information to assist the auditors in compiling components of the footnotes, fund level statements and 
government-wide financial statements that are in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. Throughout the course of the audit, the auditors identified several adjusting entries to 
prepare the fund level statements, government-wide financial statements and complete set of notes to 
the financial statements. Management does review the adjusting entries and financial statements 
prepared by the auditors. We recommend the City develop policies and procedures to improve the 
financial reporting process by identifying adjustments and disclosures required by generally accepted 
accounting principles and ensure personnel receive ongoing training related to the preparation of the 
annual financial statements. 

 
 A deficiency exists in controls over procedures used to initiate, authorize, record and process 

certain journal entries into the general ledger, and record recurring and nonrecurring 
adjustments to the financial statement including: activity recorded for capital assets (see more 
detail below); activity recorded for debt; and adjustments for accounts receivable, accounts 
payable and other liabilities. We recommend that the City develop policies and procedures to 
identify, evaluate and properly record all activity in the general ledger or as top-side report 
entries, as applicable. 

 Certain adjustments to the capital asset records were required as a result of our procedures 
including: identification of completed construction in process (CIP) projects, and removal of 
those projects; recording of expenses to proper CIP projects; recording CIP in the water and 
sewer funds; and recording of land project transactions. We recommend that the City develop 
procedures to capture, track and record all capital asset activity. 

 
The deficiency described above could result in misstatements to the basic financial statements.  
 
A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less 
severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance. We consider the following deficiencies in the City’s internal control to be significant 
deficiencies: 
 
Segregation of duties: 
 

 Payroll - One employee inputs employee master file information (can enter data for new 
employees and change pay rates), enters pay period information and processes payroll. 
Compensating controls include: the financial statements are reviewed and compared to budget 
monthly by department heads and the City Council. A calculation verification report is reviewed 
each payroll cycle that is reviewed by both the payroll clerk and the Director of Finance.  
Starting mid-2021, the system allowed for the Director of Finance to limit his access so he no 
longer can make pay changes, however, he can still grant himself this access and does when 
needing to fill in for the payroll clerk. We recommend that the City implement an authorization or 
approval process for changes made to the payroll system through review of master file change 
reports. We discussed and looked at system reports at the end of the fiscal year 2021 audit with 
the Director of Finance and found a payroll change report can be run that shows all changes 
made for that period, the time stamp of the change and the user that made the change.  The 
City will work on implementing a review of this payroll change report by the City Manager who 
does not have access to make payroll changes during fiscal year 2022.  
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 Accounting system - One employee has access to all areas of the accounting software which 
provides for the opportunity for management override of controls. Compensating controls 
include: the financial statements are reviewed and compared to budget monthly by department 
heads and the City Council. Additionally, all journal entries recorded in the system are reviewed 
by both the Director of Finance and Treasurer. We recommend that someone independent of 
the account process reviews the entered budget and compares to the legal budget. Starting for 
fiscal year 2023, the City will have the City Clerk, who does not have access to the system, 
review the budget entered into the system for accuracy to approved budget. 

 Accounts receivable/revenue - One employee has the ability to enter and adjust approved rates 
into the utility billing system, to accept payments for utilities, and to prepare and make the bank 
deposits. Starting mid-2021, access to make changes to utility rates was limited to only the 
Director of Finance. We recommend that someone independent of the rate approval process 
reviews changes to utility rates.  The City is implementing an additional control starting with the 
January 1, 2023 rate changes where the City Clerk will review the rate changes made by the 
Director of Finance or accuracy. 

 Municipal Court receivable/revenue - One employee has the ability to enter traffic violations and 
violations of City ordinances and has the ability to accept payments as well. Compensating 
controls include that all cash and checks collected by the court clerk are processed and posted 
into the system by the Treasurer’s Department. We recommend the City evaluate if the system 
can produce a report that shows changes made to tickets within the system.  

 Check writing - For fiscal year 2021, there was no dual verification for the approval of ACH and 
wire payment. In addition, the Treasurer has access to master vendor files, the ability to write 
checks, and has access to the Finance Director’s signature stamp. Starting in fiscal year 2022, 
the City does now require dual authorization for ACH and wire payments. 

 
Potential effects of the above noted significant deficiencies include recording of fraudulent transactions 
resulting in potential misappropriation of assets that may not be detected in a timely manner. The City 
is currently evaluating or, as noted above, implemented additional mitigating controls during the year in 
these areas to assist in mitigating these risks.  
 
Other Matters 
 
Cybersecurity Risk 
 
An effective cybersecurity risk management program provides reasonable, but not absolute, assurance 
that material breaches are prevented or detected, and mitigated in a timely manner. The combined 
effects of an organization’s dependency on IT, the complexity of IT networks and business applications, 
extensive reliance on third parties and human nature (i.e., susceptibility to social engineering) are only 
likely to increase the need for effective cybersecurity risk management programs. Elements of an 
effective cyber risk management program should include: 
 

 A comprehensive and documented risk assessment. Such assessment should not fall solely on 
the IT team. It is a governance and management challenge that should involve executive 
management and others charged with governance. 

 Control assessments should include, at a minimum, an information technology systems general 
controls review, social engineering testing and, potentially, internal and/or external penetration 
testing. A vulnerability assessment will identify potential network vulnerabilities that can leave a 
company open to significant risk. Using automated scanners, this will help the organization 
identify and resolve vulnerabilities before they are exploited by cybercriminals. 

23

Section VIII, Item A.



 

6 

Both control assessments and vulnerability assessments should be completed on a periodic 
basis which is dependent on the annual risk assessment. At a minimum, we strongly believe 
these assessments should be done on an annual basis, IF NOT MORE OFTEN. Executive 
managers should be involved with the review and summary reports should also be shared with 
the governance team. 
 
Comprehensive Policy and Procedure Review 
 
Given the broad and deep scope of your operations, you should consider completing a comprehensive 
evaluation of the adequacy and effectiveness of the entity’s internal financial policies, processes and 
procedures, including a comparison to best practices among organizations the same size.  
 
For entities that have experienced budget cuts in the finance area or those that have experienced 
turnover, a periodic review of controls is imperative. Even if your finance team has been stable over the 
years, we remind you that even the best design of controls is only as good as the people who carry out 
and execute such controls. 
 
Financial policies, procedures and processes are a key element of sound fiscal administration. When 
policies are effective, they can preserve or enhance the fiscal health and wealth of the organization and 
create efficiencies for staff members. This comprehensive evaluation could include: 
 

1. Evaluation of existing controls 
2. Identification of financial policies that could lead to vulnerability to fraud and/or abuse 
3. For those identified weaknesses and risks, recommendations for improvements 

 
AGHUniversity Resources 
As part of AGH’s ongoing commitment to serve as a trusted advisor, we offer these resources as a key 
part of the additional value AGH provides beyond the engagement itself: 
 

 AGHUniversity.com - a full schedule of complimentary CPE or current and relevant topics and 
other updates to clients throughout the year. Free registration and webinars are available for the 
County’s staff and board members at aghuniversity.com. A sample of recent topics include 
Management and Key Position Succession Planning; Destroying the Myths about Employee 
Engagement; Preventing Fraud in Small and Medium Sized Organizations; Measuring What 
Matters in Your 401(k) Plan to Recruitment, Retention and Reward; Planning The Transition: 
Taking Your Company To Market; and The How and Why of Business Valuations. 

 AGH alerts and newsletters - this includes periodic mailings or emails to alert clients to new 
accounting standards or regulatory changes. 

 Also available from the home page of www.aghlc.com are COVID-19 resources for employers 
and taxpayers. You can access tax and HR-related alerts, webinars and other third-party 
resources to help you navigate through the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Closing 
We will be pleased to respond to any questions you have about this report or set up an introductory 
meeting to discuss the other recommendations at no charge. We appreciate the opportunity to continue 
to be of service to the City of Bel Aire, Kansas. 
 

Allen, Gibbs & Houlik, L.C 
                                                                                  CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

  
Wichita, KS 
July 29, 2022 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 
City of Bel Aire, Kansas 
 
Opinions 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Bel Aire, Kansas (City) as 
of and for the year ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively 
comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.  
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the 
aggregate remaining fund information of the City, as of December 31, 2021, and the respective changes in 
financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Basis for Opinions 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
(GAAS) and the Kansas Municipal Audit and Accounting Guide. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. 
We are required to be independent of the City, and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with 
the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
 
As discussed in Note III. E. to the financial statements, adjustments were made to the beginning net position and 
fund balance to correct a misstatement in the prior year financial statements.  Our opinions are not modified with 
respect to this matter. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, 
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, 
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a going concern 
for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information that may raise 
substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the 
aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 
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In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we 
 
• exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures 
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. 

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

• conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that 
raise substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period 
of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that 
we identified during the audit. 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis and required supplementary information listed in the table of contents be presented to 
supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, although 
not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who 
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and 
comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial 
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not 
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide 
us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.  
 
Supplementary Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise 
the City’s basic financial statements. The combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements and 
schedules as listed in the table of contents are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required 
part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from 
and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. 
The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the combining and individual nonmajor fund financial 
statements and schedules as listed in the table of contents is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to 
the basic financial statements as a whole. 
 

Allen, Gibbs & Houlik, L.C 
                                                                                                    CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 
Wichita, Kansas 
July 29, 2022 
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 MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
 
This section of the City of Bel Aire’s (City) financial statements provides a narrative overview and 
analysis of the City’s financial activities for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021. This discussion 
follows guidelines prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement 34, 
which enhances comparability between governments. The information presented here should be read 
in conjunction with the accompanying basic financial statements and the notes to those basic financial 
statements. 
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 
 The assets plus deferred outflows of resources of the City exceeded its liabilities and deferred 

inflows of resources at the close of the most recent fiscal year by $42,673,401 (net position).  
 The City’s total net position increased during this fiscal year by $6,042,072.  
 At the close of 2021, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of 

$14,617,875, a decrease of $2,232,689 over the prior year.  
 At the close of 2021, unassigned fund balance for the General Fund was $3,989,177 or 57% of 

revenues for the fund.  
 
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City’s basic 
financial statements, which include three components: 1) Government-wide financial statements, 
2) Fund financial statements and 3) Notes to the basic financial statements. This report also contains 
other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves.  
 
Government-Wide Financial Statements 
 
The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of 
the City’s finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector business. These statements use the accrual 
basis of accounting, which means that the current year’s revenues and expenses are recorded as they 
are earned or incurred, regardless of when cash is received or paid. 
 
The Statement of Net Position presents information on all of the City’s assets, deferred outflows of 
resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, with the difference reported as net position. 
These statements include infrastructure assets as well as all known liabilities, including long-term debt. 
Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial 
position of the City is improving or deteriorating. The Statement of Activities provides information 
detailing how the City’s net position changed.  
 
The government-wide financial statements report functions of the City that are principally supported by 
taxes and intergovernmental revenue (governmental activities) separately from other functions that are 
intended to recover all or a significant portion of costs through user fees and charges (business-type 
activities). Governmental activities of the City include general government, law enforcement, public 
works, capital improvement, community development, and parks and recreation. The City has four 
business-type activities which are used to account for the assets, deferred outflows of resources 
liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, revenues and expenses associated with water, sewer, and solid 
waste and storm water functions. 
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Fund Financial Statements 
 
A fund is a fiscal entity with a set of self-balancing accounts that is used to maintain control over 
resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City uses fund accounting 
to demonstrate compliance with legal requirements, such as state statutes or bond covenants. There 
are three types of funds: governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary.  
 
Governmental Funds 
 
Governmental fund accounting focuses on 1) cash flow and how financial assets can readily be 
converted to available resources, and 2) the balances left at the end of the fiscal year for future 
spending. The focus is on the budgetary, short-term financial picture of the reported operations rather 
than on the longer-term economic picture of the City as a whole. 
 
Governmental funds are reported using the modified accrual basis of accounting, which measures cash 
and other financial assets that can readily be converted to cash. Under this basis of accounting, 
revenues are recognized when they become measurable and available, and expenditures are generally 
recognized when the related fund liability is incurred. Such information may be useful in determining 
what financial resources are available in the near future to finance the City’s programs.  
 
Therefore, both the governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements and the 
government fund financial statements present different useful aspects of the City’s financial picture. 
They are designed to be compared and interpreted together. The reconciliations at the end of the fund 
financial statements detail the relationship and differences between the two types of financial 
statements. 
 
Proprietary Funds 
 
The City maintains proprietary funds that are used to report the same functions presented as business-
type activities in the government-wide financial statements, but in more detail. The proprietary fund 
financial statements provide separate information for the sewer and water funds, which are considered 
major funds of the City.  
 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
 
The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of the basic financial statements. They 
provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the 
government-wide and fund financial statements. 
 
Other Supplementary Information 
 
Required budgetary data related to the General Fund, Land Bank Fund, combining statements for 
nonmajor governmental and nonmajor enterprise funds and fund budgetary schedules are presented 
immediately following the notes to the basic financial statements.  
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GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
 
 

 
 

Analysis of Net Position 
 
As previously mentioned, net position may serve as a useful indicator of a government’s financial 
position. The City’s assets plus deferred outflows of resources of the City exceeded its liabilities and 
deferred inflows of resources by $42,673,401 at the close of 2021. 
 
The City’s net investment in capital assets of $7,722,693 represents capital assets (e.g., land, buildings, 
equipment and infrastructure) less any related outstanding debt used to acquire those assets. These 
assets are used on an ongoing basis to provide services to citizens and are thus not available for future 
spending. The City’s investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt; however, the 
resources needed to repay this debt must come from other sources. The capital assets themselves 
cannot be liquidated to satisfy these liabilities.  
 
The City’s net position that represents resources that are subject to external restrictions on how they 
may be used of $2,328,271. Restricted net position includes:  

 Debt service: $237,333 
 Capital projects: $238,852 
 Public Building Commission: $168,845 
 Land Bank: $1,679,588 and 
 Drug forfeiture: $3,653 

 
The City’s total unrestricted net position is $32,622,437. 

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
Current and other assets 40,112,469$     37,648,442$  6,410,211$    5,201,247$    46,522,680$  42,849,689$   
Capital assets 47,337,805       40,682,862    21,559,166    18,390,940    68,896,971    59,073,802     
   Total assets 87,450,274       78,331,304    27,969,377    23,592,187    115,419,651  101,923,491   

Deferred outflows 2,847,454         2,330,425      100,219         130,655         2,947,673      2,461,080       

Long-term liabilities 68,614,626       62,085,950    1,173,024      1,392,623      69,787,650    63,478,573     
Other liabilities 1,884,676         1,008,451      147,788         120,753         2,032,464      1,129,204       
   Total liabilities 70,499,302       63,094,401    1,320,812      1,513,376      71,820,114    64,607,777     

Deferred inflows 3,784,137         3,140,223      89,672           5,242             3,873,809      3,145,465       

Net position
Net investment in capital assets (12,926,229)      (13,671,338)   20,648,922    17,417,827    7,722,693      3,746,489       
Restricted 2,328,271         3,371,657      -                 -                 2,328,271      3,371,657       
Unrestricted 26,612,247       24,726,786    6,010,190      4,786,397      32,622,437    29,513,183     
   Total net position 16,014,289$     14,427,105$  26,659,112$  22,204,224$  42,673,401$  36,631,329$   

Government-Wide Financial Statements

Governmental Business-type Total Primary
Activities Activities Government
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Analysis of Changes in Net Position 
 
The City’s net position increased during the fiscal year by a total of $6,042,072 including these changes: 
 
 Charges for services increased $619,896 mostly due to an increase in water and sewer services 

provided of $526,401. 
 Capital grants and contributions increased by $5,288,734 due to an increase in special 

assessments.  
 General revenues increased $905,793 due to increases in property taxes and sales taxes of 

$295,621 and $280,559, respectively, due to post COVID activity.  Miscellaneous revenue increased 
$255,849 due to proceeds received from sale of land in 2021. 

 Expenses of governmental activities decreased by $1,148,302 due to land sales resulting in a net 
gain in 2021 versus a lost in 2020 offset by an increase in community development costs of 
$986,576 due to increase in non-capital repair and maintenance costs.  

 Expenses of business-type activities were comparable to the prior years with an increase of 
$123,095. 

Condensed Statement of Changes in Net Position

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
Revenues:
Program revenues:
  Charges for services 489,970$          425,523$       6,571,128$    6,015,679$    7,061,098$    6,441,202$     
  Operating grants and contributions 204,773            149,764         -                 -                 204,773         149,764          
  Capital grants and contributions 5,783,824         495,090         -                 -                 5,783,824      495,090          
General revenues:
  Property taxes 3,202,287         2,906,666      -                 -                 3,202,287      2,906,666       
  Sales taxes 1,676,913         1,396,354      -                 -                 1,676,913      1,396,354       
  Other taxes 967,178            912,262         -                 -                 967,178         912,262          
  Franchise taxes 720,680            675,626         -                 -                 720,680         675,626          
  Investment earnings 1,402                19,151           148                8,605             1,550             27,756            
  Miscellaneous 319,438            76,198           20,019           7,410             339,457         83,608            
     Total revenues 13,366,465       7,056,634      6,591,295      6,031,694      19,957,760    13,088,328     

Expenses:
Administration, mayor and council 885,010            925,468         -                 -                 885,010         925,468          
Law and municipal court 105,583            130,052         -                 -                 105,583         130,052          
Streets and highway 423,331            614,557         -                 -                 423,331         614,557          
Capital improvement program 77,004              77,004           -                 -                 77,004           77,004            
Community development 2,300,739         1,314,163      -                 -                 2,300,739      1,314,163       
Parks, grounds, recreation, pool, etc. 825,205            702,153         -                 -                 825,205         702,153          
Police 1,222,902         1,005,775      -                 -                 1,222,902      1,005,775       
Nondepartmental and other 306,046            437,849         -                 -                 306,046         437,849          
Land sales project 799,939            2,896,086      -                 -                 799,939         2,896,086       
Interest and fees on long-term debt 1,929,907         1,920,861      -                 -                 1,929,907      1,920,861       

  Water -                    -                 2,581,926      2,649,661      2,581,926      2,649,661       
  Sewer -                    -                 2,309,322      2,181,379      2,309,322      2,181,379       
  Solid Waste and Stormwater -                    -                 516,074         453,187         516,074         453,187          
     Total expenses 8,875,666         10,023,968    5,407,322      5,284,227      14,282,988    15,308,195     
Increase in net position before transfers 4,490,799         (2,967,334)     1,183,973      747,467         5,674,772      (2,219,867)      
Transfers (3,270,915)        (949,602)        3,270,915      949,602         -                 -                  
Increase (decrease) in net position 1,219,884         (3,916,936)     4,454,888      1,697,069      5,674,772      (2,219,867)      
Net position - beginning of year 14,427,105       18,344,041    22,204,224    20,507,155    36,631,329    38,851,196     
Prior period adjustment 367,300            -                 -                 -                 367,300         -                  
Net position - end of year 16,014,289$     14,427,105$  26,659,112$  22,204,224$  42,673,401$  36,631,329$   

Governmental Business-type Total Primary
Activities Activities Government
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The charts above illustrate the City’s governmental expenses and program revenues by function, and 
revenues by source. The land sales projects represent the largest portion of 2021 expenses followed 
by interest on long-term debt.   
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For governmental activities overall, intergovernmental revenues are the largest source of revenue 
followed by property tax revenue received for cost sharing arrangements on capital projects. Other 
revenues and expense functions fall within anticipated ranges. 
 
ANALYSIS OF THE FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance related legal 
requirements. Types of governmental funds reported by the City include the General Fund, Special 
Revenue Funds, Debt Service Funds, Capital Projects Funds and Land Bank. 
 
At the end of 2021, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of 
$14,617,875 including: 

 Nonspendable: $2,762,033; 
 Restricted by external requirements and laws: $6,527,137; 
 Assigned to capital projects or other uses: $1,339,528; and 
 Unassigned funds available for use at the City’s discretion: $3,989,177. 

 
The General Fund is the primary operating fund for the City. At the end of 2021, total fund balance of 
the General Fund was $4,193,337. The fund balance increased by $282,119 during the fiscal year due 
to increases in taxes.   
 
The Bond and Interest Fund had a decrease in fund balance of $74,541 due to a decrease in transfers 
from other funds.  
 
The Capital Projects Fund had a decrease in fund balance of $39,092 due to the issuance of general 
obligation bonds for capital projects offset by capital outlay expenditures. 
 
The Public Building Commission had a decrease in fund balance of $1,276,727 using cash balances to 
facilitate the 2021 PBC Bond refunding.  
 
The Land Bank had a decrease in fund balance of $1,886,391 due to a transfer to the PBC fund to 
facilitate the 2021 PBC Bond refunding. 
 
Nonmajor government had a combined increase in fund balance of $394,643 due to transfer activity 
involving the nonmajor funds.   
 
The Water Fund had an increase in net position of $1,805,744 due increase in capital contributions. 
 
The Sewer Fund had an increase in net position of $2,597,955 due to an increase in capital 
contributions.  
 
Nonmajor proprietary funds remained comparable to the prior year with increases in net position of 
$51,189. 
 
GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Variances between the final budget and actual amounts are not expected to impact either liquidity or 
future services. Majority of revenues were more than budgeted for 2021, while recreation fees and 
interest came in under budget. Overall budgeted expenditures were comparable to actual results. 
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CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 
 
Capital Assets 
 
The City’s investment in capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, was $68,896,971 as of 
December 31, 2021. These capital assets include land, buildings, improvements, equipment, drainage 
improvements, streets, bridges, streetlights, and traffic signals. 
 

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Land 4,395,801$       4,370,646$    534,040$       534,040$       4,929,841$    4,904,686$     
Land project 4,724,108         5,317,322      -                 -                 4,724,108      5,317,322$     
Construction in progress 6,879,172         1,519,220      2,990,953      1,116,558      9,870,125      2,635,778$     
City hall 1,780,843         1,847,224      -                 -                 1,780,843      1,847,224$     
Swimming pool 444,469            470,112         -                 -                 444,469         470,112$        
Other structures and equipment 1,126,626         1,244,645      18,034,173    16,740,342    19,160,799    17,984,987$   
Infrastructure 27,986,786       25,913,693    -                 -                 27,986,786    25,913,693$   
     Total 47,337,805$     40,682,862$  21,559,166$  18,390,940$  68,896,971$  59,073,802$   

Business-Type
Activities Activities

Total Primary 
Government

Governmental

 
 
Additional information about the City’s capital assets may be found in Note III. B. to the financial 
statements. 
 
Long-Term Debt 
 
At December 31, 2021, the City had total long-term bonds outstanding of $65,310,000. This amount 
included $31,495,000 of general obligation bonds backed by the full faith and credit of the City, 
$17,890,000 in temporary notes which will be repaid with an issuance of general obligation bonds and 
$15,925,000 in revenue bonds with the Public Building Commission.  
 
Total long-term bonds payable increased by $5,710,000 during the fiscal year due to bond issuances 
being more than the repayment of debt made during the year. 
 
The City had $910,244 of outstanding revolving loan funds for water and sewer fund projects and 
$164,353 of outstanding rail loan funds for a capital project. 
 
Standard and Poor’s rated the City’s most recent bond issue AA and affirmed this rating for all existing 
debt.  
 
Kansas statutes limit the amount of general obligation debt a governmental entity may issue to 30% of 
its total assessed valuation. After subtracting deductions allowed by the statutes, the current debt limit 
for the City is $27,008,019 and debt outstanding subject to the limit is $19,018,173, leaving $7,989,846 
in legal debt margin.  
 
Additional information on the City’s long-term debt can be found in Note III. C. of the financial 
statements. 
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Economic Factors  
 
Property tax collections increased 10.2% over 2020 and the positive trend has continued into the first 
half of 2022. The assessed valuation increased 10.0% in 2021. 
 
REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION 
 
This financial report is designed to provide an overview of the City’s finances for all interested parties. 
Questions concerning any of the information provided in the report or requests for additional information 
should be directed to the Finance Director, City of Bel Aire, 7651 E. Central Park Ave., Bel Aire, KS 
67226. 

2021 2020

General obligation bonds 31,495,000$     32,010,000$  
Temporary notes 17,890,000       8,040,000      
Revenue bonds - 
  Public Building Commission 15,925,000       19,550,000    
     Total 65,310,000$     59,600,000$  

Activities

 Outstanding Bonds
General Obligation and Revenue Bonds

Governmental
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City of Bel Aire, Kansas
Statement of Net Position

December 31, 2021

Governmental Business-type  
Activities Activities Total

Assets:
Cash, including investments 12,900,378$         5,958,078$          18,858,456$         
Receivables, net 24,654,218          452,133               25,106,351          
Property held for resale 2,557,873            -                       2,557,873            
Capital assets:

Land and construction in progress 15,999,081          3,524,993            19,524,074          
Other capital assets, net of depreciation 31,338,724          18,034,173          49,372,897          

Total assets 87,450,274          27,969,377          115,419,651         

Deferred outflows of resources:
Deferred refunding 2,248,652            -                       2,248,652            
Deferred outflows - OPEB 180,561               -                       180,561               
Deferred outflows - pensions 418,241               100,219               518,460               

Total deferred outflows of resources 2,847,454            100,219               2,947,673            

Liabilities:
Accounts payable 910,704               98,747                 1,009,451            
Accrued wages 79,576                 49,041                 128,617               
Unearned grant revenue 633,328               -                       633,328               
Interest payable 261,068               -                       261,068               
Long-term liabilities

Due within one year 6,608,741            71,003                 6,679,744            
Due in more than one year 62,005,885          1,102,021            63,107,906          

Total liabilities 70,499,302          1,320,812            71,820,114          

Deferred inflows of resources:
Deferred property tax receivable 3,397,673            -                       3,397,673            
Deferred inflows - OPEB 12,230                 -                       12,230                 
Deferred inflows - pensions 374,234               89,672                 463,906               

Total deferred inflows of resources 3,784,137            89,672                 3,873,809            

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets (12,926,229)         20,648,922          7,722,693            
Restricted for:

Debt service 237,333               -                       237,333               
Capital projects 238,852               -                       238,852               
Public Building Commission 168,845               -                       168,845               
Land Bank 1,679,588            -                       1,679,588            
Drug forfeiture 3,653                   -                       3,653                   

Unrestricted 26,612,247          6,010,190            32,622,437          
Total net position 16,014,289$         26,659,112$         42,673,401$         

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.
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City of Bel Aire, Kansas
Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position
Operating Capital Total Total

Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental Business-type
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total
Governmental activities:

Administration, mayor and council 885,010$               266,917$        204,773$           -$                     (413,320)$                   -$                         (413,320)$              
Law and municipal court 105,583                 116,068          -                     -                       10,485                        -                           10,485                   
Streets and highway 423,331                 -                  -                     -                       (423,331)                     -                           (423,331)                
Community development 2,300,739              24,225            -                     -                       (2,276,514)                  -                           (2,276,514)             
Parks, grounds, recreation, pool, etc. 825,205                 82,760            -                     -                       (742,445)                     -                           (742,445)                
Police 1,222,902              -                  -                     -                       (1,222,902)                  -                           (1,222,902)             
Nondepartmental and other 306,046                 -                  -                     -                       (306,046)                     -                           (306,046)                
Land sales project 799,939                 -                  -                     -                       (799,939)                     -                           (799,939)                
Capital improvement program 77,004                   -                  -                     5,783,824            5,706,820                   -                           5,706,820              
Interest and fees on long-term debt 1,929,907              -                  -                     -                       (1,929,907)                  -                           (1,929,907)             

Total governmental activities 8,875,666              489,970          204,773             5,783,824            (2,397,099)                  -                           (2,397,099)             

Business-type activities:
Water 2,581,926              3,139,906       -                     -                       -                              557,980                   557,980                 
Sewer 2,309,322              2,763,962       -                     -                       -                              454,640                   454,640                 
Nonmajor business-type funds 516,074                 667,260          -                     -                       -                              151,186                   151,186                 

Total business-type activities 5,407,322              6,571,128       -                     -                       -                              1,163,806                1,163,806              

Total 14,282,988$          7,061,098$     204,773$           5,783,824$          (2,397,099)                  1,163,806                (1,233,293)             

General revenues:
   Property taxes 3,202,287                   -                           3,202,287              
   Sales taxes 1,676,913                   -                           1,676,913              
   Other taxes 967,178                      -                           967,178                 
   Franchise fees 720,680                      -                           720,680                 
   Investment earnings 1,402                          148                          1,550                     
   Miscellaneous 319,438                       20,019                     339,457                 
   Transfers (3,270,915)                  3,270,915                -                         
         Total general revenues 3,616,983                   3,291,082                6,908,065              
            Change in net position 1,219,884                   4,454,888                5,674,772              
Net position, beginning of year 14,427,105                 22,204,224              36,631,329            
Prior period adjustment 367,300                      -                           367,300                 
Net position, end of year 16,014,289$               26,659,112$            42,673,401$          

Program Revenues

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.
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City of Bel Aire, Kansas
Balance Sheet

Governmental Funds
December 31, 2021

Nonmajor Total 
Bond and Capital Public Building Governmental Governmental

General Interest Projects Commission Land Bank Funds Funds
Assets:
   Cash, including investments 3,562,525$        498,401$           4,760,547$        168,845$           1,685,013$        2,225,047$        12,900,378$      
   Receivables (net of allowance for uncollectibles)
      Property taxes 3,397,673          -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    3,397,673          
      Special assessments -                    20,473,313        -                    -                    -                    -                    20,473,313        
      Motor vehicle and RV tax 99,033               -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    99,033               
      Real estate mortgage note receivable 204,160             -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    204,160             
      Sales tax 309,786             -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    309,786             
      Franchise taxes and fees 52,545               -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    52,545               
      Other 49,816               -                    -                    -                    60,000               7,892                 117,708             
   Property held for resale -                    -                    -                    -                    2,557,873          -                    2,557,873          
         Total assets 7,675,538$        20,971,714$      4,760,547$        168,845$           4,302,886$        2,232,939$        40,112,469$      

Liabilities:
   Accounts payable 8,077$               -$                  822,749$           -$                  65,425$             14,453$             910,704$           
   Accrued liabilities 76,451               -                    -                    -                    -                    3,125                 79,576               
   Unearned grant revenue -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    633,328             633,328             
         Total liabilities 84,528               -                    822,749             -                    65,425               650,906             1,623,608          

Deferred inflows of resources:
   Deferred property tax receivable 3,397,673          -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    3,397,673          
   Unavailable revenue - special assessments -                    20,473,313        -                    -                    -                    -                    20,473,313        
         Total deferred inflows of resources 3,397,673          20,473,313        -                    -                    -                    -                    23,870,986        

Fund balance:
     Nonspendable 204,160             -                    -                    -                    2,557,873          -                    2,762,033          
     Restricted -                    498,401             3,937,798          168,845             1,679,588          242,505             6,527,137          
     Assigned -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    1,339,528          1,339,528          
     Unassigned 3,989,177          -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    3,989,177          
         Total fund balance 4,193,337          498,401             3,937,798          168,845             4,237,461          1,582,033          14,617,875        
         Total liabilities, deferred inflows of 
              resources and fund balance 7,675,538$        20,971,714$      4,760,547$        168,845$           4,302,886$        2,232,939$        40,112,469$      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.
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City of Bel Aire, Kansas
Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds

 to the Statement of Net Position
December 31, 2021

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are different because:

Total fund balance -- governmental funds 14,617,875$        

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources
and, therefore, are not reported in the funds. 

Cost 68,358,102$       
Accumulated depreciation (21,020,297)       47,337,805          

Special assessments receivable are not available to pay for current period
expenditures and, therefore, are reported as unavailable in the fund statements 20,473,313          

Deferred outflows of resources are not available and payable in the current period
and, therefore, are not reported in the funds.

Deferred outflows - deferred refunding 2,248,652            
Deferred outflows - OPEB 180,561               
Deferred outflows - pensions 418,241               

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the
current period and, therefore, are not reported as liabilities in the funds. 

Accrued interest payable (261,068)            
General obligation bonds payable (31,495,000)       
Temporary notes (17,890,000)       
Revenue bonds - Public Building Commission (15,925,000)       
Rail loan (164,353)            
Premiums (1,798,880)         
Net pension liability (1,027,685)         
Total OPEB liability (234,268)            
Compensated absences (79,440)              (68,875,694)         

Other deferred inflows of resources are not due and payable in the current period
and, therefore, are not reported in the funds.

Deferred inflows - OPEB (12,230)                
Deferred inflows - pensions (374,234)              

Total net position -- governmental activities 16,014,289$        

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.
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City of Bel Aire, Kansas
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Nonmajor Total 
Bond and Capital Public Building Governmental Governmental

General Interest Projects Commission Land Bank Funds Funds
Revenues:
Taxes and shared revenues 5,398,859$        98,589$             -$                   -$                   -$                   348,930$           5,846,378$        
Intergovernmental revenues 204,773             -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     204,773             
Franchise fees 720,680             -                     -                     -                   -                     -                     720,680             
Court fines 116,068             -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     116,068             
Licenses, permits and fees 349,677             -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     349,677             
Rents and sales 24,225               -                     -                     230,222             -                     -                     254,447             
Special assessments -                     2,312,079          -                     -                     -                     -                     2,312,079          
Contribution of property held for resale -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
Other 132,760             67                      103                    26                      32,873               113,110             278,939             
       Total revenues 6,947,042          2,410,735          103                    230,248             32,873               462,040             10,083,041        

Expenditures:
Current:
   Administration, mayor and council 868,331             -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     868,331             
   Law and municipal court 104,949             -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     104,949             
   Streets and highway -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     418,195             418,195             
   Community development 198,098             -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     198,098             
   Parks, grounds, recreation, pool, etc. 739,048             -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     739,048             
   Police 1,164,923          -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     1,164,923          
   Nondepartmental and other 304,206             -                     -                     2,475                 -                     -                     306,681             
   Land project 135,782             -                     -                     -                     676,157             -                     811,939             
Capital outlay/projects -                     -                     12,181,160        -                     -                     1,299,202          13,480,362        
Debt Service:
   Principal retirement -                     8,090,000          42,773               2,415,000          -                     -                     10,547,773        
   Interest and other -                     851,831             81,375               502,913             -                     -                     1,436,119          
   Debt issuance costs -                     103,506             187,880             248,417             -                     539,803             
       Total expenditures 3,515,337          9,045,337          12,493,188        3,168,805          676,157             1,717,397          30,616,221        

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
   over (under) expenditures 3,431,705          (6,634,602)         (12,493,085)       (2,938,557)         (643,284)            (1,255,357)         (20,533,180)       

Other financing sources (uses):
   Issuance of general obligation bonds -                     -                     12,290,000        -                     -                     -                     12,290,000        
   Issuance of refunding bonds -                     5,135,000          -                     13,195,000        -                     -                     18,330,000        
   Premium on issuance of refunding bonds -                     683,076             163,651             279,649             -                     -                     1,126,376          
   Payment to refunded bond escrow agent -                     -                     -                     (14,886,232)       -                     -                     (14,886,232)       
   Land sales -                     -                     -                     -                     416,893             -                     416,893             
   Transfers in -                     741,985             342                    3,073,413          -                     1,650,000          5,465,740          
   Transfers out (3,149,586)         -                     -                     -                     (1,660,000)         -                     (4,809,586)         
       Total other financing sources (uses) (3,149,586)         6,560,061          12,453,993        1,661,830          (1,243,107)         1,650,000          17,933,191        

   Net change in fund balance 282,119             (74,541)              (39,092)              (1,276,727)         (1,886,391)         394,643             (2,599,989)         

Fund balance, beginning of year 3,911,218          572,942             3,976,890          1,445,572          5,756,552          1,187,390          16,850,564        
Prior period adjustment -                     -                     -                     -                     367,300             -                     367,300             
Fund balance, beginning of the year restated 3,911,218          572,942             3,976,890          1,445,572          6,123,852          1,187,390          17,217,864        
Fund balance, end of year 4,193,337$        498,401$           3,937,798$        168,845$           4,237,461$        1,582,033$        14,617,875$      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.
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City of Bel Aire, Kansas
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances of 

Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:

Net change in fund balance-- total governmental funds (2,599,989)$          

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However, in the statement
of activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and
reported as depreciation expense. This is the amount by which capital outlays exceeded
depreciation expense in the current period.

Depreciation expense (1,366,851)              
Capital assets capitalized 8,615,008                7,248,157             

In the statement of activities, the gain or loss from the sale of capital assets is
reported, whereas in the governmental funds, only any proceeds from the sale
increase financial resources.  Thus, the change in net position differs from the change 
in fund balance by the cost of capital assets sold. (593,214)               

Payments received on certain assets are recognized as revenue when received in the fund.
However, in the statement of net position, revenue is recognized when earned. 3,471,745             

Payment of pension contributions is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but reduces the net
pension liability in the statement of net position. Additionally, the effect of changes in deferred inflows 
and deferred outflows for pensions are only recorded in the statement of activities. (19,768)                 

Payment of OPEB contributions is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but reduces the total
OPEB liability in the statement of net position. Additionally, the effect of changes in deferred inflows 
and deferred outflows for OPEB are only recorded in the statement of activities. (16,514)                 

Bond and loan proceeds and premiums provide current financial resources to governmental 
funds, but issuing debt increases long-term liabilities in the statement of net position.

General obligation bonds (7,575,000)              
Revenue bond - Public Building Commission (13,195,000)            
Temporary Notes (9,850,000)              
Premiums (1,126,376)              (31,746,376)          

Repayment of bond principal and other long-term obligations is an expenditure in the
governmental funds, but the repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the statement 
of net position.

General obligation bonds 8,090,000                
Revenue bond - Public Building Commission 16,820,000              
Rail loan 42,773                     24,952,773           

In the statement of activities, interest is accrued on outstanding bonds, whereas in
governmental funds, an interest expenditure is reported when due. 59,193                  

The amortization of bond premiums and deferred refundings affect long-term assets and 
liabilities on the statement of net position, but does not provide or use current financial resources 
to governmental funds. 468,054                

In the statement of activities, compensated absences are measured by the amounts
earned during the year.  In the governmental funds, however, expenditures for this
item is measured by the amount of financial resources used (essentially, the 
amounts actually paid).  This year, the following difference was noted:
   Compensated absences earned exceeded benefits paid (4,177)                   

Change in net position of governmental activities 1,219,884$           

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.
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City of Bel Aire, Kansas
Statement of Net Position

Proprietary Funds
December 31, 2021

Nonmajor
Proprietary

Water Sewer Funds Total
Assets:
Current assets:

Cash, including investments 2,421,829$     2,944,842$     591,407$        5,958,078$     
Receivables, net 209,294          206,429          36,410            452,133          

Total current assets 2,631,123       3,151,271       627,817          6,410,211       

Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets:

Land and construction in progress 1,477,027       2,047,966       -                  3,524,993       
Other capital assets, net of depreciation 7,569,610       10,464,563     -                  18,034,173     

Total noncurrent assets 9,046,637       12,512,529     -                  21,559,166     

Total assets 11,677,760     15,663,800     627,817          27,969,377     

Deferred outflows of resources:
Pension related items 50,136            50,083            -                  100,219          

Liabilities:
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 38,860            23,255            36,632            98,747            
Accrued payroll 13,511            35,530            -                  49,041            
Revolving loan - current 40,827            25,503            -                  66,330            
Compensated absences 2,257              2,416              -                  4,673              

Total current liabilities 95,455            86,704            36,632            218,791          

Noncurrent liabilities:
Revolving loan 523,040          320,874          -                  843,914          
Net pension liability 123,189          123,062          -                  246,251          
Compensated absences 5,231              6,625              -                  11,856            

Total noncurrent liabilities 651,460          450,561          -                  1,102,021       

Total liabilities 746,915          537,265          36,632            1,320,812       

Deferred inflows of resources:
Pension related items 44,859            44,813            -                  89,672            

Net position:
Investment in capital assets 8,482,770       12,166,152     -                  20,648,922     
Unrestricted 2,453,352       2,965,653       591,185          6,010,190       

Total net position 10,936,122$   15,131,805$   591,185$        26,659,112$   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.
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City of Bel Aire, Kansas
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Nonmajor
Proprietary

Water Sewer Funds Total
Operating revenues:
   Charges for services 3,139,906$    2,763,962$    667,260$       6,571,128$    

Operating expenses:
   Personnel 296,737          372,696          -                 669,433          
   Contractual services 151,970          37,551            516,074          705,595          
   Water purchases 559,037          6,033              -                 565,070          
   Operations and maintenance - CCUA 381,094          534,702          -                 915,796          
   Debt service - CCUA 523,904          693,940          -                 1,217,844      
   Payment in lieu of franchise fees 100,000          100,000          -                 200,000          
   Other operating expenses 260,161          109,450          369,611          
   Depreciation 309,023          454,950          -                 763,973          
      Total operating expenses 2,581,926      2,309,322      516,074          5,407,322      

Operating income 557,980          454,640          151,186          1,163,806      

Nonoperating revenues and expenses:
   Interest and other 14,418            5,746              3                     20,167            
   Capital contributions 1,491,783      2,435,286      -                 3,927,069      
      Total nonoperating revenue 1,506,201      2,441,032      3                     3,947,236      

Income before transfers 2,064,181      2,895,672      151,189          5,111,042      

Transfers out (258,437)        (297,717)        (100,000)        (656,154)        

Change in net position 1,805,744      2,597,955      51,189            4,454,888      

Net position, beginning of year 9,130,378      12,533,850    539,996          22,204,224    

Net position, end of year 10,936,122$  15,131,805$  591,185$       26,659,112$  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.
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City of Bel Aire, Kansas
Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Nonmajor
Proprietary

Water Sewer Funds Total
Cash flows from operating activities:
   Cash received from customers 3,100,999$     2,764,648$     667,087$        6,532,734$      
   Payments to suppliers for goods and services (1,958,671)      (1,491,839)      (514,518)         (3,965,028)       
   Payments to employees for salaries and benefits (324,049)         (369,101)         -                  (693,150)          
     Net cash flow from operating activities 818,279          903,708          152,569          1,874,556        

Cash flows from non-capital financing activities:
   Transfers to other funds (258,437)         (297,717)         (100,000)         (656,154)          
     Net cash flow from non-capital financing activities (258,437)         (297,717)         (100,000)         (656,154)          

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
  Revolving loan payments (38,904)           (23,965)           -                  (62,869)            
  Acquisition of capital assets (2,565)             (2,565)             -                  (5,130)              
     Net cash flow from capital and related financing activities (41,469)           (26,530)           -                  (67,999)            

Cash flows from investing activities:
  Interest on investments 14,418            5,746              3                     20,167             
     Net cash flow from investing activities 14,418            5,746              3                     20,167             

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 532,791          585,207          52,572            1,170,570        

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year 1,889,038       2,359,635       538,835          4,787,508        
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year 2,421,829$     2,944,842$     591,407$        5,958,078$      

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash
  flow from operating activities:
    Operating income 557,980$        454,640$        151,186$        1,163,806$      
    Adjustments to reconcile operating income to
     net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation expense 309,023          454,950          -                  763,973           
Change in net pension liability (94,043)           (67,534)           -                  (161,577)          
Change in deferred outflows - pensions 19,458            10,978            -                  30,436             
Change in deferred inflows - pensions 42,067            42,363            -                  84,430             
Change in accounts receivable (38,907)           686                 (173)                (38,394)            
Change in accounts payable 17,495            (10,163)           1,556              8,888               
Change in accrued liabilities 5,206              17,788            -                  22,994             

    Net cash flow from operating activities 818,279$        903,708$        152,569$        1,874,556$      

Schedule of non-cash capital and related financing activities:

    Contributions of capital assets 1,491,783$     2,435,286$     -$                3,927,069$      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.
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City of Bel Aire, Kansas 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
 

December 31, 2021 

20 

 
I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The City of Bel Aire, Kansas (City) is incorporated under the laws of the State of Kansas. The City 
adopted a Council-Manager form of City government in January 2010, consisting of an elected Mayor 
and Council and an appointed City Manager to oversee the daily operations.  
 
The City provides services to the citizens in the areas of streets, water service, wastewater service, 
community development, public safety, planning and zoning, parks and recreation, public works and 
general administrative services. 
 
The more significant accounting and reporting policies and practices employed by the City are as 
follows: 
 
A. Reporting Entity  
 
Generally accepted accounting principles require that the basic financial statements present the City 
(the primary government) and its component units. Component units are required to be included in the 
City’s reporting entity because of the significance of their operational or financial relationships with the 
City.  
 
Blended Component Unit: The statements include the financial data of the Public Building Commission 
(PBC). The PBC was formed several years ago in order to finance and build 1) City Hall, 2) the 
swimming pool, 3) an effluent line for the sale of “gray water” to Willowbend, and 4) to finance the 
industrial park of the land project. The PBC issued debt instruments (revenue bonds) to finance the 
projects, and leases the City Hall and swimming pool to the City. All revenues from City Hall rents, gray 
water sales and pool operations are pledged for debt service on the respective PBC revenue bonds.  
 
Although the PBC is a legally separate organization, the City is financially accountable for the 
component unit in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) standards. The 
PBC’s governing body is substantially the same as the governing body of the City; therefore, the PBC 
is “blended” with the City’s financial statements. For financial reporting, the activities of the PBC are 
accounted for within the special revenue funds within the City’s financial statements. 
 
Separate audited financial statements are not prepared for the PBC. 
 
On August 4, 2015, the City established the Bel Aire Land Bank (Land Bank) in conformance with K.S.A. 
12-5901 et seq. Although the Land Bank is a legally separate organization, the City is financially 
accountable for the component unit in accordance with GASB standards. The Land Bank’s governing 
body is substantially the same as the governing body of the City; therefore, the Land Bank is “blended” 
with the City’s financial statements. For financial reporting, the activities of the Land Bank are accounted 
for within the special revenue funds within the City’s financial statements.   
 
Separate audited financial statements are not prepared for the Land Bank. 
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City of Bel Aire, Kansas 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
 

December 31, 2021 
 

21 

 
I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Related Organizations: The Chisholm Creek Utility Authority (Authority) is a quasi-municipal 
governmental entity formed in 2001 in accordance with Kansas Statutes 12-2901 through 2909, referred 
to as the Kansas Interlocal Cooperation Act. It was formed through the joint action of the Cities of Park 
City and Bel Aire, Kansas, for the purpose of providing “wholesale” water, wastewater and utility 
services to the cities. 
 
The Authority’s purpose is to serve the two cities and the function of the cities is to ensure that the 
expenses of the Authority related to the water and wastewater operations of the project constructed by 
the revenue bonds are paid. The cities forming the Authority have planned that the Authority shall not 
create surplus cash balances from the use of City funds. 
 
The Authority does not meet GASB requirements to be reported as a component unit but does meet 
the criteria as joint venture in the City’s financial statements; however, no asset will be recorded as the 
City does not have an equity interest. Payments made by the City for debt service and subsidizing 
operating costs will be recorded as operating expenses of the City. See also Note IV.D. 
 
Audited financial statements are available for the Chisholm Creek Utility Authority at the office of the 
City of Park City, 6110 N. Hydraulic, Park City, Kansas 67219. 
 
B. Basis of Presentation 
 
The City’s basic financial statements include both government-wide (reporting the City as a whole) and 
fund financial statements (reporting the City’s major funds). 
 
Government-wide Financial Statements  
 
The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities display information about the City as a 
whole. Governmental activities are generally financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and 
other non-exchange transactions, and are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely 
to a significant extent on fees and charges for support. Eliminations of interfund charges and balances 
have been made in these statements to minimize the double-counting of internal activities. 
 
The Statement of Activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for 
each program of the governmental activities. Direct expenses are specifically associated with a service, 
program or department and are therefore clearly identifiable to a particular function. Program revenues 
include charges paid by the recipients of the goods or services offered by the programs and grants and 
contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular 
program. Revenues that are not classified as program revenues are presented as general revenues. 
The comparison of program revenues and expenses identifies the extent to which each program is self-
financing or draws from the general revenues of the City. 
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City of Bel Aire, Kansas 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
 

December 31, 2021 

22 

 
I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
The City’s net position is reported in three parts - net investment in capital assets; restricted net position; 
and unrestricted net position. The government-wide focus is more on the sustainability of the City as an 
entity and the change in the City’s net position resulting from the current year’s activities. 
 
Fund Financial Statements 
 
Fund financial statements report detailed information about the City. The focus of governmental fund 
financial statements is on major funds rather than reporting funds by type. Each major fund is presented 
in a separate column. Nonmajor funds are aggregated and presented in a single column. 
 
The major governmental funds of the City are described below: 
 
The General Fund is the government’s primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources of 
the general government, except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 
 
The Bond and Interest Fund is used to pay the general obligation and revenue bond debt service 
requirements of the City.  
 
The Capital Projects Fund is used to account for temporary debt issued funds that are used to finance 
specific projects in the short-term.  
 
The Public Building Commission is used to finance and pay for certain projects using revenue bonds.  
 
The Land Bank Fund is used to account for maintaining and selling real property located within the City. 
 
The major proprietary funds of the City are the Water Fund and the Sewer Fund and are used to account 
for revenues and expenses of those activities. 
 
C. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting and Fund Financial Statement 

Presentation 
 

Government-wide Financial Statements - The government-wide financial statements are reported using 
the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. All assets and 
liabilities associated with the operation of the City are included on the statement of net position. 
Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless 
of the timing of related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the budget year for 
which they are levied. Special assessments are recognized when levied. Grants and similar items are 
recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met. 
 
Fund Financial Statements - Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current 
financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. With this 
measurement focus, only current assets and current liabilities generally are included on the balance 
sheet. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available. Revenues are
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City of Bel Aire, Kansas 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
 

December 31, 2021 

23 

 
I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
considered to be available when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter 
to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the City considers revenues to be available if 
they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures generally are 
recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, debt service expenditures, 
as well as expenditures related to compensated absences and claims and judgments, are recorded 
only when payment is due. 
 
Property taxes, state fuel tax, and franchise taxes associated with the current fiscal period are all 
considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal 
period. Sales taxes collected and held by merchants and/or the state at year-end on behalf of the City 
are recognized as revenue. Other revenues, including licenses and permits, certain charges for 
services, and miscellaneous revenues, are recorded as revenue when received in cash because they 
are generally not measurable until actually received. 
 
Expenditure-driven grants are recognized as revenue when the qualifying expenditures have been 
incurred and all other grant requirements have been met. Unrestricted aid is reported as revenue in the 
fiscal year during which the entitlement is received. 
 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating 
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in 
connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of 
the water and sewer funds are charges to customers for sales and services. Operating expenses include 
the cost of sales and service, administrative expenses and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues 
and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.  
 
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City’s policy to use 
restricted resources first, and then unrestricted resources, as they are needed. 
 
D. Assets, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and 

Net Position 
 
1. Deposits and Investments  
 
K.S.A. 12-1675 limits the City’s investment of idle funds to time deposits, open accounts and certificates 
of deposit with allowable financial institutions; U.S. Government securities; temporary notes; no-fund 
warrants; repurchase agreements; and the Kansas Municipal Investment Pool. Investments are 
reported at fair value based on quoted market prices. 
 
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, the City considers deposits and highly liquid 
investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.  
 

54

Section VIII, Item A.



City of Bel Aire, Kansas 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
 

December 31, 2021 
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I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
The investments of proceeds of long-term debt are governed by specific statutes and authorize the City 
to invest in the following: 
 

Investments authorized by K.S.A. 12-1675 
Direct obligations of the U.S. government or any other agency thereof 
Money market funds comprised entirely of obligations of the U.S. Treasury and agencies thereof 
Obligations of any municipality of Kansas 
Investment agreements with a financial institution rated in the three highest rating categories by 

Moody’s or Standard and Poor’s  
 

The City pools temporarily idle cash from all funds for investments purposes. Each fund’s portion of the 
pool is shown on the Statement of Net Position as cash, including investments. Deposits during the 
year included cash in interest bearing and demand bank accounts. Interest is allocated to each fund 
based on the respective invested balance. 
 
The City follows GASB 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application, which establishes a framework 
for measuring fair value that requires or permits fair value measurement and enhances disclosures 
about fair value measurements. Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received to 
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market 
for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction. There is a fair value hierarchy which requires an entity 
to maximize the use of observable inputs when measuring fair value. The guidance requires three levels 
of fair value measurement based on the respective inputs. 
 
At December 31, 2021, investments consisted of funds invested in the Kansas Municipal Investment 
Pool (KMIP). The KMIP is an external investment pool not SEC (Securities and Exchange Commission) 
registered, which is regulated by the state and is valued at cost. 
 
2. Receivables 
 
Property tax receivable - In accordance with governing state statutes, property taxes levied during the 
current year are revenue sources to be used to finance the budget of the ensuing year. Taxes are 
assessed on a calendar year basis and are levied and become a lien on the property on November 1 
of each year. The County Treasurer is the tax collection agent for all taxing entities within the County. 
Property owners have the option of paying one-half or the full amount of the taxes levied on or before 
December 20 during the year levied with the balance to be paid on or before May 10 of the ensuing 
year. State statutes prohibit the County Treasurer from distributing taxes collected in the year levied 
prior to January 1 of the ensuing year. Consequently, for revenue recognition purposes, the taxes levied 
during the current year are not due and receivable until the ensuing year. At December 31, such taxes 
are recorded as taxes receivable with a corresponding amount recorded as deferred inflows of 
resources on the balance sheets of the appropriate funds. It is not practical to apportion delinquent 
taxes held by the County Treasurer as of December 31, 2021. Estimated delinquencies are insignificant 
and have not been recorded.  
 
Special assessment receivable - As required by state statutes, projects financed in part by special 
assessments are financed through general obligation bonds of the City and are retired from the Bond 
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I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
and Interest Fund. Further, state statutes require levying additional general ad valorem property taxes 
in the Bond and Interest Fund to finance delinquent special assessments.   
 
The City’s special assessment taxes are levied over a 15 to 20-year term of the bonds and the annual 
installments are due and payable with annual ad valorem property taxes. Liens may be foreclosed 
against the property benefited by the special assessments when delinquent assessments are two years 
in arrears. At December 31, 2021, the special assessment taxes levied are a lien on the property and 
are recorded as special assessments receivable in the Bond and Interest Fund with a corresponding 
amount recorded as deferred inflows of resources in the fund financial statements. 
 
Real estate mortgage note receivable - The note receivable is from the sale of the previous City Hall. 
The note was entered into on June 1, 2004, for $495,000, with an initial interest rate of 4.5%, for a 
period not to exceed 24.5 years. At December 31, 2021, the note balance was $204,160. 
 
3.     Property Held for Resale      
 
The City has transferred property to the Land Bank Fund. The purpose of the fund is to maintain and 
sell real property located within the City. The properties have been included as property held for resale 
in the Land Bank Fund. 
 
4. Capital Assets and Depreciation 
 
General capital assets are those assets not specifically related to activities reported in the proprietary 
funds. These assets are reported in the governmental activities column of the government-wide 
statement of net position. Capital assets used by proprietary funds are reported in both the proprietary 
activities column of the government-wide statement of net position and in the individual proprietary 
funds. Donated assets are recorded at acquisition value as of the date of the donation. 
 
The accounting and reporting treatment applied to the capital assets associated with a fund are 
determined by its measurement focus. General capital assets are long-lived assets of the City as a 
whole. Infrastructure such as streets, traffic signals and signs are capitalized. The valuation bases for 
general capital assets are historical cost, or where historical cost is not available, estimated historical 
cost based on replacement cost. Capital assets in the proprietary funds are accounted for in the fund in 
which they are utilized. The valuation bases for proprietary fund capital assets are the same as those 
used for the general capital assets. 
 
The City follows the policy of capitalizing assets with unit costs of $2,500 or more. Depreciation of capital 
assets is computed and recorded by the straight-line method and is recorded as an allocated expense 
in the Statement of Activities with accumulated depreciation reflected in the Statement of Net Position 
and is provided on the straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives: 
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I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Asset Class  Estimated Useful Lives 
Buildings       40 years 
Improvements/infrastructure  20-40 years 
Equipment     5-10 years 
Water System                           35-40 years 
Sewer System       40 years 

 
5.  Accrued Compensated Absences 
 
The City’s policy regarding vacation permits employees with one to five years continuous service to 
earn eleven days vacation pay, six to eleven years continuous service to earn sixteen days and for 
more than twelve years continuous service to earn eighteen days vacation pay. Earned vacation pay in 
excess of five days must be taken prior to the employee’s next earning date (January 1 of the following 
year) or be forfeited. All vacation pay is accrued when earned in the government-wide and proprietary 
fund financial statements. 
 
The sick leave policy of the City provides that all regular employees shall earn one day of sick leave for 
each calendar month of service. The maximum accumulation of sick leave is 120 days. After ten years 
of continuous service with the City an employee shall receive compensation for up to 60 days (maximum 
of $5,000) for unused accumulated sick leave when permanently separated from service by reason of 
death or retirement. Employees with continuous employment that started prior to 1990 shall be 
compensated for up to 50 days (no maximum amount) for unused accumulated sick leave when 
permanently separated from service by reason of death or retirement. All other accumulated sick leave 
is cancelled upon termination of employment.  
 
6. Long-Term Obligations 
 
In the government-wide financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are 
reported as liabilities in the statement of net position. Bond issuance costs are expensed in the year 
incurred.  
 
In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as 
well as bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as 
other financing sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources 
while discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not 
withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures.  
 
7. Pensions 
 
The net pension liability is calculated as the difference between the actuarially calculated value of the 
projected benefit payments attributed to past periods of employee service and the plan’s fiduciary net 
position. The total pension expense is comprised of the service cost or actuarial present value of 
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I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
projected benefit payments attributed to the valuation year, interest on the total pension liability, plan 
administrative expenses, current year benefit changes, and other changes in plan fiduciary net position 
less employee contributions and projected earnings on plan investments. Additionally, the total pension 
expense includes the annual recognition of outflows and inflows of resources due to pension assets 
and liability.  
 
For purposes of measuring the collective net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary 
net position of the Kansas Public Employees Retirement System (KPERS) and additions to/deductions 
from KPERS fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by 
KPERS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are 
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at 
fair value. 
 
8.  Fund Equity 
 
In the government-wide statements, equity is shown as net position and classified into three 
components: 
 

 Net investment in capital assets - consisting of capital assets including restricted capital assets, 
net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances of any bonds, leases, 
or other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those 
assets. 
 

 Restricted net position - consisting of net position with constraints placed on their use either by 
(a) external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other 
governments; or (b) law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. The City first 
utilizes restricted resources to finance qualifying activities. 

 
 Unrestricted net position - consists of all other net position that does not meet the definition of 

“restricted” or “net investment in capital assets.” 
 
As prescribed by GASB Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type 
Definitions, governmental funds report fund balance classifications based primarily on the extent to 
which the City is bound to honor constraints on the specific purposes for which amounts in the funds 
can be spent. 
 
In the governmental funds, equity is shown as fund balance and classified into five components:  
 

 Nonspendable - Nonspendable consists of amounts that cannot be spent because they are not 
in spendable form or are legally or contractually required to be maintained. 
 

 Restricted - Fund balance is reported as restricted when constraints placed on the use of 
resources are either externally imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants), grantors, 
contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments, or is imposed by law through 
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 
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I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

 Committed - This classification consists of amounts that can be used only for the specific 
purposes imposed by a resolution made by the City Council and cannot be used for any other 
purpose unless removed or changed by taking the same type of action that previously committed 
those amounts. 
 

 Assigned - Amounts in the assigned fund balance classification are intended to be used by the 
City for specific purposes but do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed. 
In governmental funds other than the general fund, assigned fund balance represents the 
remaining amount that is not restricted or committed. In the general fund, assigned amounts 
represent intended uses established by the City Council or a City official delegated that authority. 
Encumbrances are considered as assigned unless they specifically meet the requirements to 
be restricted or committed. 

 
 Unassigned - This consists of the residual balance for the general fund not contained in the 

other classifications. In other governmental funds, the unassigned classification is used only to 
report a deficit balance resulting from expenditures exceeding amounts that had been restricted, 
committed or assigned. 

 
The City applies restricted resources first to finance qualifying expenditures, when either restricted or 
unrestricted amounts are available. For unrestricted fund balance, committed amounts are reduced first 
followed by assigned, and then unassigned amounts. 
 
9. Deferred Inflows of Resources/Deferred Outflows of Resources 
 

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for 
deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of 
resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be 
recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/ expenditure) until then. The City has three items that 
qualify for reporting in this category in the government-wide statement of net position, deferred outflows 
for pensions, deferred outflows for OPEB and deferred charges on refunding. A deferred charge on 
refunding results from the difference in the carrying value of refunded debt and its reacquisition price. 
The amount is deferred and amortized over the shorter of the life of the refunded or refunding debt. See 
Note IV. E. and IV. F. for more information on the deferred outflows for pensions and OPEB, 
respectively. 
 
In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for 
deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, 
represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized 
as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The City has four types of items, unavailable revenue, 
deferred revenue, deferred inflows for pensions and deferred inflows for OPEB that qualify for reporting 
in this category that qualify for reporting in this category. Unavailable revenue, which arises only under 
a modified accrual basis of accounting, is reported only in the governmental funds balance sheet. The 
governmental funds report unavailable revenues from special assessments. These amounts are 
deferred and recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the amounts become available. 
Deferred revenues are reported in both the government-wide statement of net position and the 
governmental funds balance sheet for property tax receivable. 
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I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Property taxes are not recognized as revenue until the period for which they are levied. The third and 
fourth items, deferred inflows for pensions and OPEB, are reported on the government-wide statement 
of net position. See Note IV. E. and IV. F., respectively, for more information on these deferred inflows. 
 
10. Land Project 
 
The City invested in the land project for projected growth and future development. 
 
The land project originally consisted of approximately 1,600 acres of land (600 acres residential, 200 
acres commercial and 800 acres industrial park) and is being accounted for by using the cost recovery 
method as allowed under GASB 62.  
 

Capitalized costs of the land project include but are not limited to: 
• Land acquisition and title costs 
• Capitalized interest and debt issuance costs 
• Street, sewers, grading, excavating, improvements and infrastructure 
• Other development costs 
 

Under the hybrid cost recovery method, as parcels of land are sold, the proceeds are offset against the 
total accumulated costs of the project. Other methods of matching costs, such as the specific 
identification method, the gross profit method and the unit/area method were not practical in the 
circumstances.  
 
Management deems that the current estimated fair value of the project is in excess of the remaining 
unrecovered costs. Unrecovered costs at December 31, 2021, amounted to $7,281,981. 
 
The industrial park portion of the land project was financed with Public Building Commission bonds and 
the amount outstanding at December 31, 2021 was $13,195,000, also see Note III. C. 
 
11. Net Position 
 
Net position represents the difference between assets and deferred outflows of resources and liabilities 
and deferred inflows of resources. Net investment in capital assets, consists of capital assets, net of 
accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balances of any borrowings used for the 
acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets. Net position is reported as restricted when 
there are limitations imposed on their use either through the enabling legislation adopted by the City or 
through external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors or laws or regulations of other governments. 
Restricted resources are used first to fund appropriations.  
 
Net position is reported as restricted when there are limitations imposed on their use either through the 
enabling legislation adopted by the City or through external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors 
or laws or regulations of other governments. Restricted resources are used first to fund appropriations. 
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I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
12. Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect: (1) the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, (2) disclosures 
such as contingencies, and (3) the reported amounts of revenues and expenses included in such 
financial statements. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Estimates significant to the financial statement include the valuation of land held for resale; see the 
Land Project discussion in No. 10 above. 
 
II. STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY 
 
A. Budgetary Information 
 
Kansas statutes require budgets be adopted for all funds, unless exempted by a specific statute. The 
statutes provide for the following sequence and timetable in the adoption of the legal budget.  
 

1. Preparation of the budget for the current fiscal year on or before August 1st. 
2. Publication in local newspaper of the proposed budget and notice of hearing on the budget 

on or before August 5th. 
3. Public hearing on or before August 15th, but at least 10 days after publication of notice of 

hearing. 
4. Adoption of the final budget on or before August 25th. 

 
The statutes allow for the governing body to increase the originally adopted budget for previously 
unbudgeted increases in revenue other than ad valorem property taxes. To do this, a notice of public 
hearing to amend the budget must be published in the local newspaper. At least ten days after 
publication the hearing may be held and the governing body may amend the budget at any time.  
 
If the municipality is holding a revenue neutral rate hearing the budget timeline for adoption of the final 
budget has been adjusted to on or before September 20th. The City did hold a revenue neutral rate 
hearing this year. 
 
The statutes permit transferring budgeted amounts between line items within an individual fund. 
However, such statutes prohibit expenditures in excess of the total amount of the adopted budget of 
expenditures of individual funds. Budget comparison statements are presented for each fund showing 
actual receipts and expenditures compared to legally budgeted receipts and expenditures. 
 
All legal annual operating budgets are prepared using the modified accrual basis of accounting, 
modified further by the encumbrance method of accounting. Expenditures include disbursements 
accounts payable, and encumbrances. Encumbrances are commitments by the City for future payments 
such as purchase orders or contracts. 
 
A legal operating budget is not required for the following funds: Capital Improvement, Equipment 
Reserve, Capital Projects, Local Drug Forfeiture Fund, State Drug Forfeiture Fund, Federal Drug 
Forfeiture Fund, and the Public Building Commission. 
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III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL ACTIVITIES AND FUNDS 
 
A. Deposits and Investments 
 
Custodial Credit Risk. For deposits, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a bank failure, 
the City will not be able to recover the value of its deposits. For deposits, the City’s policy follows state 
statutes which require pledged collateral with a fair value equal to 100% of the funds on deposit, less 
insured amounts, and that the collateral be held in safekeeping in the City’s name at other than the 
depository financial institution. To comply with the statutes, the City requires the issuance of joint 
custody receipts as evidence of the pledged collateral. The custodial credit risk for investments is the 
risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty to a transaction, the City will not be able to recover 
the value of its investment or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party.  
 
At December 31, 2021, the City’s deposits were fully covered by federal depository insurance or 
collateralized by securities held by the City’s agent in the City’s name. 
 
At December 31, 2021, the City had invested $15,289,237 in the state’s municipal investment pool not 
SEC (Securities and Exchange Commission) registered. The municipal investment pool is under the 
oversight of the Pooled Money Investment Board. The board is comprised of the State Treasurer and 
four additional members appointed by the State Governor. The board reports annually to the Kansas 
Legislature. State pooled monies may be invested in direct obligations of, or obligations that are insured 
as to principal and interest, by the U.S. government or any agency thereof, with maturities up to four 
years. No more than ten percent of those funds may be invested in mortgage-backed securities. In 
addition, the state pool may invest in repurchase agreements with Kansas banks or with primary 
government securities dealers. The investment in the municipal investment pools is valued at cost. 
 
Credit Risk and Concentration of Credit Risk. Kansas law limits the types of investments that can be 
made by the City, which inherently reduces its credit risk. Credit risk is the risk that the issuer or other 
counterparty to an investment will be unable to fulfill its obligations to the holder of the investment. This 
risk can be measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized statistical rating 
organization. On December 31, 2021, 100% of the City’s investments, $15,289,237, were invested in 
the Kansas Municipal Investment Pool, which is not rated. 
 
Interest Rate Risk. As a means of managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing 
interest rates, the City follows state statutes which generally limit investment maturities to two years. To 
minimize the risk of loss, the City matches investments to anticipated cash flows and diversifies the 
investment types to the extent practicable. Investments in U.S. treasury coupon securities have a 
maturity of less than one year.  
 

Deposits and investments at December 31, 2021 appear in the financial statements as summarized 
below: 
 

Carrying amount of deposits $        3,569,219
Carrying amount of investments  15,289,237
  
Total $      18,858,456
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III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL ACTIVITIES AND FUNDS (CONTINUED) 
 
B. Capital Assets 
 

Capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2021 was as follows: 
 

Balance 
January 1, 

2021 Increases Decreases

Balance 
December 31, 

2021

Governmental activities:
Capital assets, not being depreciated:

Land and improvements
Land Project 5,317,322$    -- $                    593,214$       4,724,108$        
Parks, recreation, etc. 3,421,063 -- -- 3,421,063
City Hall 400,752 -- -- 400,752
Other 548,831 25,155 -- 573,986
Construction in process 1,519,220 8,557,272 3,197,320 6,879,172

Total capital assets, not being depreciated 11,207,188 8,582,427 3,790,534 15,999,081

Capital assets, being depreciated
Infrastructure 41,698,410 3,172,165 -- 44,870,575
City Hall 2,950,273 -- -- 2,950,273
Swimming pool 854,756 -- -- 854,756
Other structures and equipment 3,671,681 57,736 46,000 3,683,417

Total capital assets, being depreciated 49,175,120 3,229,901 46,000 52,359,021

Less accumulated depreciation
Infrastructure 15,784,717 1,099,072 -- 16,883,789
City Hall 1,103,049 66,381 -- 1,169,430
Swimming pool 384,644 25,643 -- 410,287
Other structures and equipment 2,427,036 175,755 46,000 2,556,791

Total accumulated depreciation 19,699,446 1,366,851 46,000 21,020,297
Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 29,475,674 1,863,050 -- 31,338,724

Governmental activities capital assets, net 40,682,862$  10,445,477$      3,790,534$    47,337,805$      

 
 
Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows: 
 

Governmental activities:   
Administration, mayor and council  $         13,943 
Police  46,608 
Capital improvement program  77,004 
Community development  1,148,073 
Parks, grounds, recreation, pool, etc.  81,223 

Total depreciation expense  $    1,366,851 
 

63

Section VIII, Item A.



City of Bel Aire, Kansas 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
 

December 31, 2021 

33 

 
III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL ACTIVITIES AND FUNDS (CONTINUED) 
 

Balance 
January 1, 

2021 Increases Decreases

Balance 
December 31, 

2021

Business-type activities:
Capital assets, not being depreciated:

Land and improvements 534,040$       -- $                    -- $                534,040$          
Construction in process 1,116,558 3,927,069 2,052,674 2,990,953
Total capital assets, not being depreciated 1,650,598 3,927,069 2,052,674 3,524,993

Capital assets, being depreciated
Plant and equipment 26,770,762 2,057,804 -- 28,828,566
Less accumulated depreciation 10,030,420 763,973 -- 10,794,393
Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 16,740,342 1,293,831 -- 18,034,173

Proprietary activities capital assets, net 18,390,940$  5,220,900$        2,052,674$    21,559,166$      

Depreciation expense 763,973$          

 
 
 
 
 

Remainder of page intentionally left blank
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III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL ACTIVITIES AND FUNDS (CONTINUED) 
 
C. Long-term debt 
 

Long-term liability activity for the year ended December 31, 2021 was as follows: 
 

Balance Balance Due within
January 1, 2021 Additions Reductions December 31, 2021 one year

Governmental Activities:
General obligation bonds 32,010,000$         7,575,000$          8,090,000$          31,495,000$         2,505,000$          
Temporary notes 8,040,000            9,850,000            -- 17,890,000          2,860,000
Revenue bonds - PBC 19,550,000          13,195,000 16,820,000          15,925,000          1,170,000            
Rail loan 207,126               -- 42,773                 164,353               43,636                 
Premiums/discounts 606,045               1,126,376            (66,459)                1,798,880            --
Net pension liability 1,391,948            157,415               521,678               1,027,685            --
Total OPEB liability 205,568               66,443                 37,743                 234,268               --

Compensated absences 75,263                 97,696                 93,519                 79,440                 30,105                 

Total Governmental Activities 62,085,950$         32,067,930$         25,539,254$         68,614,626$         6,608,741$          

Business-type Activities:
Revolving loans 973,113$             --$                       62,869$               910,244$             66,330$               
Net pension liability 407,828               37,720                 199,297               246,251               --

Compensated absences 11,682                 24,305                 19,458                 16,529                 4,673                  

Total Business-type Activities 1,392,623$          62,025$               281,624$             1,173,024$          71,003$               

 
Compensated absences for the governmental activities are liquidated in the General Fund. 
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III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL ACTIVITIES AND FUNDS (CONTINUED) 
 
General Obligation Bonds and Notes 
 
The general obligation bonds to be paid with tax levies were issued to construct or acquire capital 
assets. Debt service payments are primarily made by the Bond and Interest Fund and the Public 
Building Commission. Temporary notes are generally paid from the Capital Projects Fund after bonds 
are issued. 
 
General obligation bonds outstanding at December 31, 2021 are as follows: 
 

 Interest Rates  Original Issue  Maturity Date  

Outstanding 
December 31, 

2021 
            
Series 2014A  2.000% - 3.750%  $       1,100,000  10/1/2034  $ 760,000
Series 2015A  2.000% - 2.500%   5,390,000  11/1/2027   2,195,000
Series 2015B  1.500% - 3.250%   575,000  11/1/2027   260,000
Series 2015D  2.000% - 3.500%   3,960,000  11/1/2036   3,125,000
Series 2015E  1.500% - 5.000%   220,000  11/1/2036   175,000
Series 2016A  2.000% - 4.000%   2,820,000  11/1/2037   2,230,000
Series 2017A  3.000% - 3.125%   5,545,000  11/1/2038   4,810,000
Series 2019A  2.000% - 3.000%   6,060,000  11/1/2040   5,825,000
Series 2019B  2.000% - 2.550%   1,430,000  11/1/2029   1,165,000
Series 2020B  1.400% - 2.000%   3,650,000  11/1/2041   3,375,000
Series 2021A  2.000% - 4.000%   5,135,000  11/1/2034   5,135,000
Series 2021C  2.125% - 4.000%   2,440,000  11/1/2041   2,440,000

            
Total    $  38,325,000   $ 31,495,000

 
 
 
Temporary notes outstanding at December 31, 2021 are as follows: 
 

  Interest Rates  Original Issue  Maturity Date  

Outstanding 
December 31, 

2021 
            
Series 2019C  1.350%  $ 2,860,000  12/1/2022  $ 2,860,000
Series 2020A  1.250%   1,985,000  12/1/2023   1,985,000
Series 2020C  0.420%   3,195,000  12/1/2023   3,195,000
Series 2021B  0.375%   9,850,000  12/1/2024   9,850,000

            
Total     $ 17,890,000   $ 17,890,000
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III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL ACTIVITIES AND FUNDS (CONTINUED) 
 
The annual debt service requirements to amortize the general obligation bonds and temporary notes 
outstanding as of December 31, 2021 are as follows: 
 
  Governmental Activities 

  General Obligation Bonds  Temporary Notes 
Year   Principal  Interest  Principal  Interest 

             
2022  $ 2,505,000 $ 924,049 $ 2,860,000 $ 128,656
2023   2,245,000  808,441  5,180,000  75,169
2024   2,295,000  746,911   9,850,000   36,938
2025   2,360,000  683,179   --  --
2026   2,405,000  615,236   --  --

2027 – 2031   9,540,000  2,105,096  --  --
2032 – 2036   6,815,000  918,021  --  --
2037 – 2041   3,330,000  199,080  --  --

      
Total  $ 31,495,000 $ 7,000,013 $ 17,890,000 $ 240,763

 
Current Refunding 
 
On July 6, 2021, the City issued $5,135,000 General Obligation Series 2021A refunding bonds at a 
premium of $683,076. The average interest rate of the new bonds is 3.18%. Total proceeds of the 
issuance were $5,818,076. These proceeds were used to refund $2,995,000 of outstanding General 
Obligation Series 2012A bonds and to refund $2,625,000 of outstanding General Obligation Series 
2013D bonds. The refunded bonds have an average interest rate of 3.41%. 
 
This refunding bond was issued to reduce the City’s total debt payments by $684,250. The economic 
gain (difference between the present value of the old and new debt service payments) is $650,941.  
 
City of Bel Aire Public Building Commission 
 
The City of Bel Aire Public Building Commission (PBC) is a component unit of the City. The City has 
authority to issue revenue bonds to finance the cost of acquiring and/or constructing land and facilities 
operated for a public purpose by a governmental entity. The PBC finances the debt service of the 
revenue bonds by leasing the land and facilities to the governmental entity which operates it. The 
operating governmental entity guarantees the rentals under the PBC lease. The PBC has no power to 
levy taxes, and revenue bonds issued by the PBC are not included in any legal debt limitation of the 
City. All revenues from City Hall rents, gray water sales, pool operations, and industrial land sales are 
pledged for debt service on the revenue bonds. 
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III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL ACTIVITIES AND FUNDS (CONTINUED) 
 
For the payment of its lease obligations, if necessary, the City may levy taxes on all taxable tangible 
property within its territorial jurisdiction. For the land project bonds, in addition to the lease payments, 
other revenue pledged for debt service include sales of land for industrial purposes. 
 
The outstanding revenue bonds are as follows: 
 
 Purpose  Interest Rate  Original Issue  Maturity Date  Amount 
            

 
Revenue Refunding Bonds - 

Series 2014A 2.000% - 4.000%  $ 3,050,000   2/1/2030 $ 2,010,000

 
Taxable Revenue Refunding 

Bonds - Series 2014B 2.000% - 4.600%   1,120,000   2/1/2030  720,000

 
Taxable Revenue Refunding 

Bonds - Series 2021 2.000% - 2.220%   13,195,000   5/1/2034  13,195,000

           
 Total    $ 17,365,000    $ 15,925,000

 
The City has entered into capital lease agreements with the PBC for leases of the City Hall, swimming 
pool and the land project. Lease payments are to be in amounts adequate to pay the PBC’s principal 
and interest maturities on its bonds payable. Future payments due from the City are reflected below: 
 

  PBC Bonds 
Year   Principal  Interest  Total 

          
2022  $ 1,170,000 $ 361,938 $ 1,531,938
2023   1,195,000   334,038  1,529,038
2024   1,225,000  304,344  1,529,344
2025   1,245,000  273,950  1,518,950
2026   1,265,000  243,000  1,508,000

2027 – 2031   6,465,000  725,665  7,190,665
2032 - 2036   3,360,000  109,205  3,469,205

       
Total  $ 15,925,000 $ 2,352,140 $ 18,277,140

 
Advance Refunding 
 
On June 2, 2021, the City issued $13,195,000 Public Building Commission Taxable Refunding Revenue 
Bonds Series 2021 at a premium of $279,649. The average interest rate of the new bonds is 2.06%. 
Total proceeds of the issuance were $13,474,649 were deposited in an irrevocable trust with an escrow 
agent for provide for future debt service payments on the Series 2017 bonds with an average interest 
rate of 3.60%.  As a result, the Series 2017 bonds are considered to be defeased and the $14,405,000 
liability for those bonds have been removed from the government-wide statement of net position and 
will be called on May 1, 2022.  
 
This refunding bond was issued to reduce the City’s total debt payments by $2,850,558. The economic 
gain (difference between the present value of the old and new debt service payments) is $2,676,836.  
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III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL ACTIVITIES AND FUNDS (CONTINUED) 
 
Pledged Revenues 
 
The City has pledged specific revenue streams to secure the repayment of certain outstanding debt 
issues. The following table lists those revenues, the amount and term of pledge remaining, the current 
year principal and interest on the debt, the amount of pledged revenue recognized during the current 
fiscal year, and approximate percentage of the revenue stream that has been committed. Annual 
principal and interest payments not funded by the pledged revenues noted below are budgeted and 
paid from the City’s general tax revenues: 
 

Issue  Revenue Pledged  
Amount of 

Pledge  
Term of 

Commitment  

Percent of 
Revenue 
Pledged  

Principal and 
Interest for 

2021  

Pledged 
Revenues 

Recognized in 
2021 

 
Governmental Activities           

2021A/2017A  

 
Land sales for industrial 

use  $  15,025,955  Through 2034  100% $    2,566,725  $          149,542 

2014A  
 

City Hall rent  $    2,391,450  Through 2030  100% $       266,275  $            47,057 

2014B  

 
Annual property tax levy 

and sale of water through 
effluent line improvements  $       859,734  Through 2030  100%   $       105,690  $            59,750 

 
Conduit Debt 
 
From time to time, the City has sponsored the issuance of Industrial Revenue Bonds to provide financial 
assistance to private-sector entities for the acquisition and construction of industrial and commercial 
facilities deemed to be in the public interest. The bonds are secured by the property financed and are 
payable solely from payments received on the underlying mortgage loans. Upon repayment of the 
bonds, ownership for the acquired facilities transfers to the private-sector entity served by the bond 
issuance. The City, state nor any political subdivision thereof is obligated in any manner for repayment 
of the bonds. The total amount outstanding at December 31, 2021 was $58,109,727. 
 
Revolving Loans 
 
The City entered into a loan agreement with the Kansas Department of Health and Environment for a 
project to reroute certain waterlines and replace existing user meters. The maximum amount of the loan 
is not to exceed $858,942. Principal and interest payments commenced August 1, 2014 
at 2.16% interest. At December 31, 2021, the balance of this loan was $563,867. 
 
The City entered into a loan agreement with the Kansas Department of Health and Environment for a 
project to provide for various improvements to the sanitary sewer system including manhole 
rehabilitation, replacement of several sewer lines, upgrade to wastewater pumping station and SCADA 
system. The maximum amount of the loan is not to exceed $535,980. Principal and interest payments 
commenced September 1, 2014 at 2.12% interest. At December 31, 2021, the balance of this loan was 
$346,377.
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III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL ACTIVITIES AND FUNDS (CONTINUED) 
 
Annual debt service requirements as of December 31, 2021 are as follows: 
 

  Business-type Activities 

  Water Fund   Sewer Fund 
Year   Principal  Interest  Principal  Interest 

             
2022  $ 40,827  $ 10,299 $ 25,503  $ 6,630 
2023   41,713   9,556  26,047   6,151 
2024   42,619   8,797  26,602   5,662 
2025   43,545   8,022  27,169   5,162 
2026   44,491   7,229  27,748   4,651 

2027 – 2031   237,372   23,644  147,866   15,203 
2032 - 2036   113,300   6,518  65,442   2,259 

            
Total  $ 563,867  $ 74,065 $ 346,377  $ 45,718 

 

Rail Loan 
 

The City entered into a loan agreement with the Kansas Department of Transportation for a project to 
build a railroad spur in the Sunflower Commerce Park. The maximum amount of the loan is not to 
exceed $421,358. Payments commence upon the completion of the railroad spur at 2% interest. At 
December 31, 2021, the balance of this loan was $164,353. Annual debt service requirements as of 
December 31, 2021 are as follows: 
 

Year   Principal  Interest  Total 
          

2022  $ 43,636 $ 2,889 $ 46,525
2023   44,517  2,008  46,525
2024   45,416  1,109  46,525
2025   30,784  231  31,015

      
Total  $ 164,353 $ 6,237 $ 170,590
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III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL ACTIVITIES AND FUNDS (CONTINUED) 
 
D. Interfund Transfers 
 
A summary of interfund transfers by fund type for the year ended December 31, 2021 is as follows: 
 

Capital 
Improvements

Equipment 
Reserve Bond and Interest PBC

Special Street 
and Highway

Capital 
Projects Total

Transfer from:
General 1,300,000$          50,000$            385,831$                  1,413,413$       --$                   342$             3,149,586$        
Land Bank --                        --                      --                             1,660,000$       --                     --                  1,660,000
Solid Waste --                        --                      --                             --                     100,000           --                  100,000
Water --                        100,000            158,437                    --                     --                     --                  258,437
Sewer --                        100,000            197,717                    --                     --                     --                  297,717

Total 1,300,000$          250,000$          741,985$                  3,073,413$       100,000$         342$             5,465,740$        

Transfer to:

 
 
Transfers are used to (1) move revenues from the fund that a statute or the budget requires to collect 
them to the fund that a statute or the budget requires to expend them, (2) move receipts restricted to 
debt service from the funds collecting the receipts to the Bond and Interest Fund as debt service 
payments become due, and (3) use unrestricted revenues collected in the General Fund to finance 
various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance with budgetary authorizations. Any 
transfers within the governmental funds have been eliminated in the government-wide Statement of 
Activities.  
 
Additionally, the Capital Projects Fund constructed assets in the amount of $1,491,783 and $2,435,286 
to the Water and Sewer Funds, respectively. This activity is shown as an expenditure from the Capital 
Projects Fund and capital contribution revenue to the Water and Sewer Funds, in the fund financial 
statements. However, this activity is shown within transfers in the government-wide financial 
statements.  
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III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL ACTIVITIES AND FUNDS (CONTINUED) 
 
E. Fund Balances 
 
A summary of the components of governmental fund balance, by purpose, is as follows: 
 

 Nonmajor  Total  
 Bond and  Capital  Public Building Land  Governmental  Governmental 

 General  Interest  Projects  Commission Bank  Funds  Funds 
Nonspendable 204,160$           --$                      --$                      --$                      2,557,873$        --$                      2,762,033$        

Restricted for:
Bond and interest --                        498,401             --                        --                        --                        --                        498,401             
Land Bank --                        --                        --                        --                        1,679,588          --                        1,679,588          
Capital projects --                        --                        3,937,798          --                        --                        238,852             4,176,650          
Public Building Commission --                        --                        --                        168,845             --                        --                        168,845             
Drug forfeiture --                        --                        --                        --                        --                        3,653                 3,653                 

Assigned to:
Capital projects --                        --                        --                        --                        --                        751,440             751,440             
Equipment reserve --                        --                        --                        --                        --                        588,088             588,088             

Unassigned 3,989,177          --                        --                        --                        --                        --                        3,989,177          
Total fund balance 4,193,337$        498,401$           3,937,798$        168,845$           4,237,461$        1,582,033$        14,617,875$      

 
 
Prior Period Adjustment 
 
In 2021, a prior period adjustment was recorded which resulted in an increase to Land Bank beginning 
fund balance by $367,300 to properly account for timing of land sale activity. 
 
 
IV. OTHER INFORMATION 
 
A. Risk Management 
 
The City is exposed to various risks of loss from torts: theft, damage to and destruction of assets; 
business interruption; errors and omissions; employee injuries and illnesses; natural disasters; and 
employee health, dental and accident benefits. Commercial insurance coverage is purchased for claims 
arising from such matters. Settled claims have not exceeded this commercial coverage in any of the 
three preceding years.  
 
B. Contingent Liabilities 
 
Various legal actions and claims against the City are currently pending. The ultimate liability that might 
result from their resolution is not presently determinable; however, in the opinion of management and 
counsel, the probability of material aggregate liabilities resulting from these claims is remote. 
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IV. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 
C. Construction Commitments 
 
The City had outstanding construction commitments for various capital projects and improvements at 
December 31, 2021 as follows: 

Project

Rock Spring 3rd Additon Phase 1 $ 20,280           $ 984,000            
Woodlawn Construction 3,940,747      4,563,705         
Woodlawn Water Utility Relocation 514,052         600,000            
Woodlawn Sewer Utility Construction 262,953         600,000            
Rock Spring 3rd Addition Phase 2 647,830         913,000            
Chapel Landing 3rd Phase 1 1,700,615      1,801,000         
Chapel Landing 3rd Phase 2 346,697         357,000            
Chapel Landing 4th Phase 1 336,679         442,000            
Skyview at Block 49 Phase 1 1,223,050      2,083,709         
Rock Spring 4th Adition Phase 1 225,358         1,748,000         

$ 9,218,261 $ 14,092,414

Project costs to 
date

Approved project 
amount

 
D. Commitments to Chisholm Creek Utility Authority 
 
The City’s Service Agreement with Chisholm Creek Utility Authority (Authority) requires the City to pay 
for minimum amounts of water and treated wastewater, whether such water is actually received by the 
City or whether such wastewater is actually accepted by the Authority and treated.  
 
The Service Agreement also requires the City to maintain and collect rates and charges for service 
sufficient to a) pay its share of the expenses of the Authority, b) pay its share of the Authority’s debt 
service payments, c) enable the City to have in each fiscal year a coverage ratio, as defined by the 
agreement, of not less than 1.25 on all debt service requirements and of not less than 1.10 on any 
Additional Indebtedness, as defined by the agreement, and d) provide reasonable and adequate 
reserves for the payment of Additional Indebtedness.  
 
The City’s obligations under the Service Agreement are several; no member of the Authority is 
responsible for payment obligations of any other member of the Authority.  
 
Similarly, as required by the bond covenants relating to bonds issued by the Authority, the rates charged 
by each city participating in the Authority to its residents and businesses should result in the funds 
necessary for the cities to pay for all the water and wastewater costs of the Authority in addition  
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IV. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 
to all debt service payments. Provisions of the revenue bond rate covenant were complied with for 2021. 
 
At year-end, the Authority had revenue bonds and a land contract outstanding in the principal and 
interest amount of $24,832,868. The debt is more fully described in the audited financial statements of 
the Authority. Debt administration is handled by the Bank of New York and Security Bank of Kansas 
City, excluding the land contract. 
 
During 2009, a temporary financing agreement was approved by the City for the Authority to make 
certain capital improvements to the wastewater treatment facilities. The improvements were approved 
up to $3,918,306, of which the City of Bel Aire is liable for $1,322,934. The temporary financing by the 
City will be repaid through the issuance of revenue bonds by the Authority. The payment of the revenue 
bonds will be through monthly payments by the cities to the Authority from revenues in utility funds. 
 
Bel Aire’s scheduled share of payments due to the Authority for currently issued revenue bonds and 
interest as of December 31, 2021 are as follows: 
 

  Interest and 
Year Principal 
2022 $ 2,045,326 
2023 2,062,258 
2024   2,057,394 
2025   2,064,532 
2026   2,022,876 

2027 and thereafter   14,580,482 
Total  $ 24,832,868 

 
The above payments are recognized as expenses incurred for water and sewer operations. Funding is 
to be provided by user charges. 
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IV. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 
E. Pension and Other Post-Employment Benefit Plans 
 
Defined Benefit Plans 
 
General Information about the Pension Plan 
 
Plan description. The City participates in the Kansas Public Employees Retirement System (KPERS), 
a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan as provided by K.S.A. 74-4901, et. seq. 
Kansas law establishes and amends benefit provisions. KPERS issues a publicly available financial 
report that includes financial statements and required supplementary information. KPERS’ financial 
statements are included in its Comprehensive Annual Financial Report which can be found on the 
KPERS website at http://www.kpers.org or by writing to KPERS (611 South Kansas, Suite 100, Topeka, 
KS 66603) or by calling 1-888-275-5737. 
 
Benefits provided. KPERS provides retirement benefits, life insurance, disability income benefits, and 
death benefits. Benefits are established by statute and may only be changed by the General Assembly. 
Member employees with ten or more years of credited service, may retire as early as age 55, with an 
actuarially reduced monthly benefit. Normal retirement is at age 65, age 62 with ten years of credited 
service, or whenever an employee’s combined age and years of credited service equal 85 “points”. 
 
Monthly retirement benefits are based on a statutory formula that includes final average salary and 
years of service. When ending employment, member employees may withdraw their contributions from 
their individual accounts, including interest. Member employees who withdraw their accumulated 
contributions lose all rights and privileges of membership. The accumulated contributions and interest 
are deposited into and disbursed from the membership accumulated reserve fund as established by 
K.S.A. 74-4922. 
 
Member employees choose one of seven payment options for their monthly retirement benefits. At 
retirement a member employee may receive a lump-sum payment of up to 50% of the actuarial present 
value of the member employee’s lifetime benefit. His or her monthly retirement benefit is then 
permanently reduced based on the amount of the lump-sum. Benefit increases, including ad hoc post-
retirement benefit increases, must be passed into law by the Kansas Legislature. Benefit increases are 
under the authority of the Legislature and the Governor of the State of Kansas.  
 
The 2012 Legislature made changes affecting new hires, current member employees and employers. 
A new KPERS 3 cash balance retirement plan for new hires starting January 1, 2015, was created. 
Normal retirement age for KPERS 3 is 65 with five years of service or 60 with 30 years of service. Early 
retirement is available at age 55 with ten years of service, with a reduced benefit. Monthly benefit 
options are an annuity benefit based on the account balance at retirement.  
 
For all pension coverage groups, the retirement benefits are disbursed from the retirement benefit 
payment reserve fund as established by K.S.A. 74-4922. 
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IV. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED)  
 
Contributions.  K.S.A. 74-4919 and K.S.A. 74-49,210 establish the KPERS member-employee 
contributions rates. KPERS has multiple benefit structures and contribution rates depending on whether 
the employee is a KPERS 1, KPERS 2 or KPERS 3 member. KPERS 1 members are active and 
contributing members hired before July 1, 2009. KPERS 2 members were first employed in a covered 
position on or after July 1, 2009, and KPERS 3 members were first employed in a covered position on 
or after January 1, 2015. Effective January 1, 2015, Kansas law established the KPERS member-
employee contribution rate at 6% of covered salary for KPERS 1, KPERS 2 and KPERS 3 members. 
Member contributions are withheld by their employer and paid to KPERS according to the provisions of 
Section 414(h) of the Internal Revenue Code. 
 
State law provides that the employer contribution rates for KPERS 1, KPERS 2 and KPERS 3 be 
determined based on the results of each annual actuarial valuation. KPERS is funded on an actuarial 
reserve basis. Kansas law sets a limitation on annual increases in the employer contribution rates. The 
actuarially determined employer contribution rate (not including the 1% contribution rate for the Death 
and Disability Program) and the statutory contribution rate was 8.87% for KPERS for the fiscal year 
ended December 31, 2021. 
 
Contributions to the pension plan from the City were $197,781 for KPERS for the year ended 
December 31, 2021. 
 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to Pensions 
 
Although KPERS administers one cost sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan, 
separate (sub) actuarial valuations are prepared to determine the actuarial determined contribution rate 
by group. Following this method, the measurement of the collective net pension liability, deferred 
outflows of resources, deferred inflows of resources, and pension expense are determined separately 
for each group of the plan. The City participates in the local (KPERS) group. 
 
At December 31, 2021, the City reported a liability of $1,273,936 for KPERS for its proportionate share 
of the KPERS’ collective net pension liability. The collective net pension liability was measured by 
KPERS as of June 30, 2021, and the total pension liability used to calculate the collective net pension 
liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2020 which was rolled forward to 
June 30, 2021. The City’s proportion of the collective net pension liability was based on the ratio of the 
City’s actual contributions to KPERS, relative to the total employer and nonemployer contributions of 
the KPERS for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021. The contributions used exclude contributions made 
for prior service, excess benefits and irregular payments. At June 30, 2021, the City’s proportion and 
change from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2021 were as follows: 
 

Governmental 
Activities

Business - Type 
Activities Total

Proportion as of 
June 30, 2021

Increase 
(decrease) 

proportion from 
June 30, 2020

    KPERS (local) 1,027,685$          246,251$             1,273,936$          0.106% 0.002%

Net pension liability as of December 31, 2021
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IV. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2021, the City recognized pension expense of $172,862 for KPERS. 
At December 31, 2021, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions from the following sources:  
  

Governmental 
Activities

Business - Type 
Activities 

Governmental 
Activities

Business - Type 
Activities 

Difference between expected and actual 
   experience 40,565$               9,720$                 9,306$                 2,229$                 

Net difference between projected and 
   actual earnings on pension plan investments --                     --                     364,928               87,443                 

Changes in proportionate share 88,835                 21,286                 --                     --                     

Changes in assumptions 202,301               48,475                 --                     --                     

City contributions subsequent to
   measurement date 86,540                 20,738                 --                     --                     

   Total 418,241$             100,219$             374,234$             89,672$               

Deferred Outflows of Resources Deferred Inflows of Resources

 
The $107,278 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from the City 
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension 
liability for the year ended December 31, 2022. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of 
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized as increases 
(decreases) to pension expense as follows: 
 

Year ended December 31:
Governmental 

Activities
Business-Type 

Activities
2022 21,891$                        5,246$                        
2023 10,846                          2,599                          
2024 (4,728)                           (1,133)                         
2025 (78,669)                         (18,850)                       
2026 8,127                            1,947                          

(42,533)$                       (10,191)$                     

Deferred Outflows (Inflows) of Resources

 
Actuarial assumptions. The total pension liability for KPERS in the December 31, 2020 actuarial 
valuation was determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in 
the measurement: 
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IV. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 
Actuarial cost method Entry age normal
Price inflation
Wage inflation 3.50%
Salary increases, including wage increases

Long-term rate of return, net of investment 
   expense, and including price inflation

2.75%

3.50% to 12.00%, including inflation

7.25%
 

 
Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 Mortality Tables, with age setbacks and age set forwards 
as well as other adjustments based on different membership groups. Future mortality improvements 
are anticipated using Scale MP-2016. 
 
The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2020, valuation were based on the results of an 
actuarial experience study conducted for the three-year period beginning January 1, 2016. The 
experience study is dated January 7, 2020. 
 
The actuarial assumptions changes adopted by the pension plan for all groups based on the experience 
study: 
 

• Investment return assumption was lowered from 7.50% to 7.25% 
• Salary assumption was increased from 3.25% to 3.50% 

 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-
block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, 
net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These 
ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future 
real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage. Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of 
return for each major asset class as of the most recent experience study dated January 7, 2020, a 
provided by KPERS’ investment consultant, are summarized in the following table: 
 

  Target  Long-Term Expected 
Asset Class  Allocation  Real Rate of Return 
US Equities  23.5%  5.20% 
Non-US Equities  23.5%  6.40% 
Fixed Income  11%  1.55% 
Yield Driven  8%  4.70% 
Real Return  11%  3.25% 
Private Real Estate  11%  4.45% 
Private Equity  8%  9.50% 
Short-term Investments  4%  0.25% 

  100.0%   
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IV. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 
Discount rate. The discount rate used by KPERS to measure the total pension liability at June 30, 
2021 was 7.25%. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability at the prior 
measurement date of June 30, 2020 was 7.50%. The projection of cash flows used to determine 
the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be made at the contractually 
required rate. The local employers do not necessarily contribute the full actuarial determined rate. 
Based on legislation passed in 1993, the employer contribution rates certified by the KPERS’ 
Board of Trustees for this group may not increase by more than the statutory cap. The statutory 
cap for the state fiscal year 2021 was 1.2%. The local employers are currently contributing the full 
actuarial contribution rate. The expected employer actuarial contribution rate was modeled for 
future years, assuming all actuarial assumptions are met in the future years. Based on those 
assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all 
projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected 
rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments 
to determine the total pension liability. 
 
Sensitivity of the City’s proportionate share of the collective net pension liability to changes in the 
discount rate. The following presents the City’s proportionate share of the collective net pension 
liability calculated using the discount rate of 7.25%, as well as what the City’s proportionate share 
of the collective net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-
percentage-point lower (6.25%) or 1-percentage-point higher (8.25%) than the current rate: 
 

1% Decrease 
(6.25%)

Current 
Discount Rate 

(7.25%)
1% Increase 

(8.25%)

City's KPERS proportionate share 
of the net pension liability  $     2,095,497  $    1,273,936  $       584,948 

2,095,497$      1,273,936$     584,948$        

 
 
Pension plan fiduciary net position. Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net 
position is available in the separately issued KPERS financial report. 
 
Defined Contribution Plan 457 plan 
 
The City established a defined contribution plan for certain employees. The plan is administered 
by the ICMA Retirement Corporation, and any changes to the plan’s provisions or the contribution 
requirements are determined by the governing body of the City.  The contribution percentage is 
7% and there is no match. The contributions by the City for 2021 were $22,077. 
 
F. Other Post Employment Benefits 
 
COBRA 
 
Under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA), the City makes health 
care benefits available to eligible former employees and eligible dependents. Certain 
requirements are outlined by the federal government for this coverage. The premium is paid in 
full by the insured. There is no cost to the City under this program. 
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IV. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 
KPERS Death and Disability OPEB Plan 
 
Plan Description. The City participates in an agent multiple-employer defined benefit other post-
employment benefit (OPEB) plan which is administered by KPERS. The plan provides long-term 
disability benefits and life insurance benefit for disabled members to KPERS members, as provided by 
K.S.A. 74-04927. The plan is administered through a trust held by KPERS that is funded to pay annual 
benefit payments. Because the trust’s assets are used to pay employee benefits other than OPEB, no 
assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement 75. There 
is no stand-alone financial report for the plan. 
 
Benefits provided: 
 
Benefits are established by statute and may be amended by the KPERS Board of Trustees. The plan 
provides long-term disability benefits equal to 60% (prior to January 1, 2006, 66 2/3%) of annual 
compensation, offset by other benefits. Members receiving long-term disability benefits also receive 
credit towards their KPERS retirement benefits and have their group life insurance coverage continued 
under the waiver premium provision. 
 

Long-term disability benefit: Monthly benefit is 60% of the member’s monthly compensation, with a 
minimum of $100 and maximum of $5,000. The monthly benefit is subject to reduction by deductible 
sources of income, which include Social Security primary disability or retirement benefits, worker’s 
compensation benefits, other disability benefits from any other source by reason of employment, and 
earnings from any form of employment. If the disability begins before age 60, benefits are payable while 
disability continues until the member’s 65th birthday or retirement date, whichever occurs first. If the 
disability occurs after age 60, benefits are payable while disability continues, for a period of 5 years or 
until the member retires, whichever occurs first. Benefit payments for disabilities caused or contributed 
to by substance abuse or non-biologically based mental illnesses are limited to the term of the disability 
or 24 months per lifetime, whichever is less. There are no automatic cost-of-living increase provisions. 
KPERS has the authority to implement an ad hoc cost-of living increase. 
 

Group life waiver of premium benefit: Upon the death of an employee who is receiving monthly disability 
benefits, the plan will pay a lump-sum benefit to eligible beneficiaries. The benefit amount will be 150% 
of the greater of the member’s annual rate of compensation at the time of disability or the member’s 
previous 12 months of compensation at the time of the last date on payroll. If the member has been 
disabled for 5 or more years, the annual compensation or salary rate at the time of death will be indexed 
using the consumer price before the life insurance benefit is computed. The indexing is based on the 
consumer price index, less one percentage point, to compute the death benefit. If a member is 
diagnosed as terminally ill with a life expectancy of 12 months or less, the member may be eligible to 
receive up to 100% of the death benefit rather than having the benefit paid to the beneficiary. If a 
member retires or disability benefits end, the member may convert the group life insurance coverage to 
an individual life insurance policy. 
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IV. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 
Employees covered by benefit terms. At December 31, 2021, the following employees were covered by 
the benefit terms:  
 

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefit payments 1
Active employees 37

38

 
 
Total OPEB Liability 
 

The City’s total OPEB liability of $234,268 was measured as of June 30, 2021 and was determined by 
an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2020, which was rolled forward to June 30, 2021. 
 

Actuarial assumptions and other inputs. The total OPEB liability in the December 31, 2020 actuarial 
valuation was determined using the following actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all 
period included in the measurement, unless otherwise noted:  
 
Price inflation
Payroll growth
Salary increases, including inflation
Discount rate 2.16%
Healthcare cost trend rates
Retiree share of benefit cost

2.75%

3.50 to 10%, including price inflation
3.00%

Not applicable for the coverage in this plan
Not applicable for the coverage in this plan  

 
The discount rate was based on the Bond Buyer General Obligation 20-Bond Municipal Index. 
 
Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 Mortality tables, as appropriate, with adjustment for mortality 
improvements based on Scale MP-2021. 
 
The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2021 valuation were based on an actuarial experience 
study for the period January 1, 2016. Other demographic assumptions are set to be consistent with the 
actuarial assumptions reflected in the December 31, 2020 KPERS pension valuation. 
 

Total OPEB
Liability

Balance at fiscal year-end 12/31/20 205,568$    
Changes for the year:

Service cost 8,277          
Interest 4,444          
Effect of economic/demographic gains or losses 40,698        
Effect of assumptions changes or inputs 933             
Benefit payments (25,652)       

Net changes 28,700        
Balance at fiscal year-end 12/31/21 234,268$    
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IV. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 
Changes in the Total OPEB Liability  
 
Changes of assumptions. Changes of assumptions and other inputs reflect the effects of changes in 
the discount rate each period and demographic assumption updates based on the most recent KPERS 
experience study. The discount rate decreased from 2.21% on June 30, 2020 to 2.16% on June 30, 
2021.  
 
Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate. The following presents the total 
OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the City’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated 
using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (1.16%) or 1-percentage-point higher (3.16%) 
than the current discount rate: 
 

1% Decrease 
(1.16%)

Current 
Discount Rate 

(2.16%)
1% Increase 

(3.16%)

Total OPEB liability  $        254,210  $       234,268  $       216,551  
 

Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend rates. The healthcare trend 
rates do not affect the liabilities related to the long-term disability benefits sponsored by KPERS. 
Therefore, there is no sensitivity to a change in healthcare trend rates. 
 
OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 
OPEB 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2021, the City recognized OPEB expense of $29,340. At 
December 31, 2021, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to OPEB from the following sources: 
 

Deferred Outflows 
of Resources

Deferred Inflows 
of Resources

Difference between expected and actual 
   experience 149,886$                 10,792$                  

Changes in assumptions 17,849                     1,438                      

Benefit payments subsequent to the measurement date 12,826                     --                         

   Total 180,561$                 12,230$                  

 
 
The $12,826 benefit payments made subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a 
reduction in the total OPEB liability for the year ended December 31, 2022. The remaining amounts 
reported as deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as 
follows: 
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IV. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 
 

Deferred (Inflows) & 
Outflows of 
Resources

Year ended December 31:
2022 18,683$                        
2023 18,683                          
2024 18,683                          
2025 18,683                          
2026 18,753                          

Thereafter 62,020                          
155,505$                      

 
 

G. Concentrations 
 

The City buys all of its wastewater services from the Chisholm Creek Utility Authority. All water 
purchases are made from the Chisholm Creek Utility Authority and the City of Wichita. 
 
H. Tax Abatements 
 
The City follows GASB Statement No. 77 Tax Abatement Disclosures, which enhances comparability 
of financial statements among governments by establishing disclosures about the nature and magnitude 
of tax abatements enabling users to understand 1) how tax abatements affect a government’s future 
ability to raise resources and meet its financial obligations and 2) the impact those abatements have on 
a government’s financial position and economic condition. 
 
GASB 77 defines a tax abatement as a reduction in tax revenues that results from an agreement 
between one or more governments and an individual or entity in which (a) one or more governments 
promise to forgo tax revenues to which they are otherwise entitled and (b) the individual or entity 
promises to take a specific action after the agreement has been entered into that contributes to 
economic development or otherwise benefits the citizens of those governments. 
 
The City enters into property tax abatement agreements with local businesses under the state Economic 
Development Opportunity Act of 2006. Under the Act, localities may grant property tax abatements of 
a maximum of ten years at up to 100% of a business’ property tax bill for the purpose of attracting or 
retaining businesses within their jurisdictions. The abatements may be granted to any business located 
within or promising to relocate to the City. See further information regarding IRB’s, including the amount 
outstanding at December 31, 2021, at Footnote III.C. - Conduit Debt. 
 
The County Appraiser determines the full value of the property, noting the value that has been exempted 
through the program. The County Treasurer computes the taxes due on the appraised value only on 
the taxable portion of the property. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, all of the buildings 
associated with tax abatements were still under construction; therefore, the City abated property taxes 
totaling $214,131 under this program. These agreements also include performance measurements that 
the business must achieve. If the performance measurements are not met, the tax abatement will be 
removed, and the business will have to pay their full property taxes. 
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IV. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 
I. Pending Governmental Accounting Standards 
 
The effect on the City’s financial statements of the following statements issued, but not yet adopted, 
has not yet been determined. 
 
GASB Statement No. 87, Leases, improves accounting and financial reporting for leases by 
governments. This statement requires recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for leases that 
previously were classified as operating leases and recognized as inflows of resources or outflows of 
resources based on the payment provisions of the contract. It establishes a single model for lease 
accounting based on foundational principle that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying 
asset. Under this statement, a lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an intangible right-to-
use lease asset, and a lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of 
resources, thereby enhancing the relevance and consistency of information about governments’ leasing 
activities. Provisions of this statement are effective for financial statements for the City’s fiscal year 
ending December 31, 2022. 
 
GASB Statement No. 92, Omnibus 2020, enhances comparability in accounting and financial reporting 
and improves the consistency of authoritative literature by addressing practice issues that have been 
identified during implementation and application of certain GASB Statements. This statement addresses 
a variety of topics including: effective date of GASB 87 for interim financial reports; intra-entity transfers 
between primary governments and component unit pension or OPEB plans; applicability of Statements 
No. 73 and 74 for reporting assets accumulated for postemployment benefits; applicability of certain 
requirements of GASB 84 to postemployment benefit arrangements; measurement of asset retirement 
obligations in government acquisitions; reporting by public entity risk pools for amounts recoverable 
from reinsurers or excess insurers; reference to nonrecurring fair value measurements in authoritative 
literature and terminology used related to derivative instruments. Certain provisions of this statement 
were effective upon issuance and did not impact the City’s financial reporting, other provisions of this 
statement are effective for financial statements for the City’s fiscal year ending December 31, 2022. 
 
GASB Statement No. 93, Replacement of Interbank Offered Rates, provides guidance where some 
governments have entered into agreements in which variable payments made or received depend on 
an interbank offered rate (IBOR), most notably, the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR). As a result 
of global reference rate reform, LIBOR is expected to cease to exist in its current form at the end of 
2021, prompting governments to amend or replace financial instruments for the purpose of replacing 
LIBOR with other reference rates, by either changing the reference rate or adding or changing fallback 
provisions related to the reference rate.  The provisions of this statement were originally effective for 
the City’s fiscal year ending December 31, 2021 and now postponed until December 31, 2022 per GASB 
Statement No. 95. 
 
GASB Statement No. 94, Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships and Availability Payment 
Arrangements, improves financial reporting by addressing issues related to public-private and public-
public partnership arrangements (PPPs). A PPP is an arrangement in which a government contracts 
with an operator to provide public services by conveying control of the right to operate or use a 
nonfinancial asset, such as infrastructure or other capital asset, for a period of time in an exchange or 
exchange-like transaction. This statement also provides guidance for accounting and financial reporting 
for availability payment arrangements (APAs), which is an arrangement in which a government 
compensates an operator for services that may include designing, constructing, financing, maintaining, 
or operating an underlying nonfinancial asset for a period of time in an exchange or exchange-like 
transaction. The provisions of this statement are effective for the City’s fiscal year ending December 31, 
2023. 
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IV. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 
I. Pending Governmental Accounting Standards (CONTINUED) 
 
GASB Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements, provides new 
accounting and financial reporting guidance for subscription-based information technology 
arrangements (SBITAs), which have become increasingly common among state and local governments 
in recent years. Statement 96 is based on the standards established in Statement 87, Leases. The new 
defines a SBITA as a contract that conveys control of the right to use a SBITA vendor’s IT software, 
alone or in combination with tangible capital assets (the underlying IT assets), as specified in the 
contract for a period of time in an exchange or exchange-like transaction. The guidance requires 
governments with SBITAs to recognize a right-to-use subscription asset, an intangible asset, and a 
corresponding subscription liability (with an exception for short-term SBITAs, those with a maximum 
possible term of 12 months) and provides guidance related to outlays other than subscription payments, 
including implementation costs, and requirements for note disclosures related to a SBITA. The 
provisions of this statement will be effective for the City’s fiscal year ending December 31, 2023. 
 
GASB Statement No. 97, Certain Component Unit Criteria and Accounting and Financial Reporting for 
Internal Revenue Code Section 457 Deferred Compensation Plans, provides the following guidance:  
1) increases consistency and comparability related to the reporting of fiduciary component units in 
circumstances in which a potential component unit does not have a governing board and the primary 
government performs the duties that a governing board typically would perform; 2) mitigates costs 
associated with the reporting of certain defined contribution pension plans, defined contribution OPEB 
plans and employee benefit plans other than pension or OPEB plans as fiduciary component units in 
fiduciary fund financial statements; and 3) addresses relevance, consistency and comparability of the 
accounting and financial reporting for Internal Revenue Code Section 457 deferred compensation plans 
that meet the definition of a pension plan and for benefit provided through those plans. The first two 
provisions of this statement are effective immediately. The last provision will be effective for the City’s 
fiscal year ending December 31, 2022. 
 
GASB Statement No. 99, Omnibus 2022, enhances comparability in accounting and financial reporting 
and improves the consistency of authoritative literature by addressing practice issues that have been 
identified during implementation and application of certain GASB Statements. This statement addresses 
a variety of topics including: 1) classification and reporting of derivative instruments within the scope of 
Statement No. 53 that do not meet the definition of either an investment derivative instrument or a 
hedging derivative instrument; 2) clarification of certain provisions in Statement No. 87, Statement No. 
94 and Statement No. 96; 3) extension of the period during which the London Interbank offered Rate 
(LIBOR) is considered an appropriate benchmark interest rate of the qualitative evaluation of the 
effectiveness of an interest rate swap that hedges the interest rate risk of taxable debt; 4) accounting 
for the distribution of benefits as part of the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program; 5) disclosures 
related to nonmonetary transactions; 6) pledges of future revenues when resources are not received 
by the pledging government; 7) clarification of provisions in Statement No 34 related to the focus of the 
government-wide financial statements; terminology updates related to certain provisions of Statement 
No. 63; and 8) terminology used in Statement No. 53 to refer to resource flows statements. The 
provisions of this statement for items 1 and 2 are effective for financial statements for the City’s fiscal 
year ending December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023, respectively.  All other provisions of this 
statement are effective upon issuance.
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IV. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 
I. Pending Governmental Accounting Standards (CONTINUED) 
 
GASB statement No. 100, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, enhances accounting and 
financial reporting requirements for accounting changes and error corrections to provide more 
understandable, reliable, relevant, consistent and comparable information for making decisions or 
assessing accountability. This statement defines accounting changes as changes in accounting 
principles, changes in accounting estimates and changes to or within the financial reporting entity. This 
statement also addresses corrections of errors in previously issued financial statements. This statement 
prescribes the accounting and financial reporting for each type of accounting change and error 
corrections. This statement requires that changes in accounting principles and error corrections be 
reported retroactively by restating prior periods, changes to or within the financial reporting entity be 
reported by adjusting beginning balances of the current period, and changes in accounting estimates 
be reported prospectively by recognizing the change in the current period. This statement also requires 
disclosure in the notes to the financial statements of descriptive information about accounting changes 
and error corrections. Furthermore, this statement addresses how information that is affected by a 
change in accounting principle or error correction should be presented in required supplementary 
information and supplementary information. The provisions of this statement are effective for financial 
statements for the City’s fiscal year ending December 31, 2024. 
 
GASB Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences, better meets the information needs of financial 
statement users by updating the recognition and measurement guidance for compensated absences. 
This is achieved by aligning the recognition and measurement guidance under a unified model and by 
amending certain previously required disclosures. The provisions of this statement are effective for 
financial statements for the City’s fiscal year ending December 31, 2024. 
 
 
J. Subsequent Events 
 
In June, the City received the first allocation of the federal funding from the American Rescue Plan Act 
of $633,328. 
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Required supplementary information includes financial information and disclosures that are required by 
GASB but are not considered a part of the basic financial statements. 
 
For the City, this information includes: 

• A budgetary Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and 
Actual - Budget Basis - General Fund 

 
• A budgetary Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and 

Actual - Budget Basis - Land Bank 
 
• Defined Benefit Pension Plans - Share of the Collective Net Pension Liability Kansas Public 

Employee Retirement System Last Nine Fiscal Years 
 
• Defined Benefit Pension Plans - Schedule of City’s Contributions Kansas Public Employees 

Retirement System Last Seven Nine Years 
 
• Other Post Employment Plans - Schedule of Changes in the City’s Death & Disability Total OPEB 

Liability and Related Ratios Last Five Fiscal Years 
 

Budgetary Comparison Schedule 
 
The City utilizes encumbrances for budgetary reporting purposes. Encumbrances relating to certain 
contractual agreements, supplies and equipment that have been ordered but not received are reported 
in the year the commitment arises for budgetary reporting purposes. However, for financial reporting 
purposes, the goods or services are reported when they are received. Also see Note II to the financial 
statements for additional budgetary information. 
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Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in

Fund Balance - Budget and Actual (Budget Basis)
General Fund

Year ended December 31, 2021

Actual Variance with
Amounts Final Budget

Budgetary Over/
Original Final Basis (Under)

Revenues:
Taxes and shared revenue:

Ad valorem tax 3,108,119$           3,108,119$           3,202,287$      94,168$                
Delinquent tax 25,000                   25,000                   40,280             15,280                  
Motor vehicle tax 412,406                412,406                476,634           64,228                  
Sales tax 1,210,525             1,210,525             1,613,418        402,893                

Franchise tax 686,000                686,000                718,551           32,551                  
Court fines 104,485                104,485                116,068           11,583                  
Licenses, permits and fees 179,000                179,000                266,917           87,917                  
Recreation fees 85,339                   85,339                   82,760             (2,579)                   
Rents and note collections 44,393                   44,393                   48,628             4,235                    
Intergovernmental 59,500                   59,500                   204,773           145,273                
Interest 10,000                   10,000                   1,143               (8,857)                   
Other 38,500                   38,500                   94,191             55,691                  

Total revenues 5,963,267             5,963,267             6,865,650        902,383                

Expenditures:

City Administration:
Personnel services 575,558                575,558                742,702           167,144                
Contractual services 69,500                   69,500                   26,886             (42,614)                 
Operating expenses 22,500                   22,500                   22,320             (180)                      
Capital outlay 10,000                   10,000                   -                   (10,000)                 

Community Development:
Personnel services 180,750                180,750                164,985           (15,765)                 
Contractual services 28,500                   28,500                   22,711             (5,789)                   
Operating expenses 18,600                   18,600                   10,402             (8,198)                   

Law and Municipal Court:
Personnel services 97,018                   97,018                   68,130             (28,888)                 
Contractual services 66,500                   66,500                   34,028             (32,472)                 
Operating expenses 5,700                     5,700                     2,791               (2,909)                   

Parks and Grounds:
Personnel services 107,968                107,968                55,925             (52,043)                 
Contractual services 32,000                   32,000                   35,631             3,631                    
Operating expenses 31,930                   31,930                   37,830             5,900                    
Capital outlay 12,500                   12,500                   19,740             7,240                    

Police:
Personnel services 910,118                910,118                965,527           55,409                  
Contractual services 95,500                   95,500                   103,323           7,823                    
Operating expenses 101,700                101,700                92,159             (9,541)                   
Capital outlay -                        -                        3,914               3,914                    

Recreation:
Personnel services 263,972                263,972                225,437           (38,535)                 
Contractual services 52,949                   52,949                   46,330             (6,619)                   
Operating expenses 43,700                   43,700                   29,753             (13,947)                 

Senior Center:
Personnel services 24,106                   24,106                   18,000             (6,106)                   
Contractual services 4,400                     4,400                     3,785               (615)                      
Operating expenses 9,550                     9,550                     4,942               (4,608)                   

Budgeted Amounts

57
89

Section VIII, Item A.



City of Bel Aire, Kansas
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in

Fund Balance - Budget and Actual (Budget Basis)
General Fund

Year ended December 31, 2021

Actual Variance with
Amounts Final Budget

Budgetary Over/
Original Final Basis (Under)

Budgeted Amounts

Mayor and Council:
Personnel services 22,757                   22,757                   22,431             (326)                      
Contractual services 18,808                   18,808                   27,174             8,366                    
Operating expenses 16,500                   16,500                   26,818             10,318                  

Central Park Pool:
Personnel services 28,300                   28,300                   26,732             (1,568)                   
Contractual services 10,900                   10,900                   7,076               (3,824)                   
Operating expenses 12,000                   12,000                   24,415             12,415                  

Economic Development:
Personnel services 194,614                194,614                52,972             (141,642)               
Contractual services 12,500                   12,500                   127,433           114,933                
Operating expenses 30,200                   30,200                   23,047             (7,153)                   

Nondepartmental:
Personnel services 21,700                   21,700                   9,167               (12,533)                 
Contractual services 157,700                157,700                107,831           (49,869)                 
Operating expenses 20,800                   20,800                   187,208           166,408                
Capital outlay 40,000                   40,000                   -                   (40,000)                 

Transfer out 2,998,075             2,998,075             3,149,586        151,511                
Land project 299,130                299,130                135,782           (163,348)               
Use of cash carryforward 15,920                   15,920                   -                   (15,920)                 

Total expenditures 6,664,923             6,664,923             6,664,923        -                        

Net change in fund balance (701,656)$             (701,656)$             200,727           902,383$              

Fund balance, beginning of year 3,327,086        

Fund balance, end of year 3,527,813$      

Explanation of difference between budgetary and GAAP fund balance:

Accrued revenues 665,524           

GAAP fund balance at end of year 4,193,337$      
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 City of Bel Aire, Kansas
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in

Fund Balance - Budget and Actual (Budget Basis)
Land Bank

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Actual
Amounts Final Budget

Budgetary Over/
Original Final Basis (Under)

Revenues:
Residential lot sales 50,000$               750,000$             2,188,411$         1,438,411$   
Commercial lot sales -                       250,000               385,327              135,327        
Interest -                       100                      34                       (66)                
Miscellaneous -                       600                      32,839                32,239          
Transfer in 225,000               -                       -                      -                

Total revenues 275,000               1,000,700            2,606,611           1,605,911     

Expenditures:
Land bank subjected to budget:

Special assessments 425,000               425,000               245,212              (179,788)       
Contractual services 5,000                   86,000                 85,639                (361)              
Debt service principal -                       1,600,000            -                      (1,600,000)    
Transfer out -                       -                       1,660,000           1,660,000     

Total land bank subjected to budget 430,000               2,111,000            1,990,851           (120,149)       
Land bank not subjected to budget:

Special assessments -                       -                       192,557              192,557        **
Contractual services -                       -                       152,749              152,749        **

Total land bank not subjected to budget -                       -                       345,306              345,306        
Total expenditures 430,000               2,111,000            2,336,157           225,157        

Net change in fund balance 275,000$             1,000,700$          270,454              (730,246)$     

Fund balance, beginning of year 1,349,134           

Fund balance, end of year 1,619,588$         

Explanation of difference between budgetary and GAAP fund balance:
Receivables at 12/31/21 60,000                
Property held for resale 2,557,873           

GAAP fund balance at end of year 4,237,461$         

** Not subject to the legal annual operating budget. Fees paid with proceeds of land sale revenue.

Budgeted Amounts
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CITY OF BEL AIRE, KANSAS
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

December 31, 2021

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Measurement Date June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020 June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018 June 30, 2017 June 30, 2016 June 30, 2015 June 30, 2014 June 30, 2013

0.106% 0.104% 0.098% 0.096% 0.090% 0.087% 0.076% 0.076% 0.070%

 $      1,273,936  $    1,799,776  $    1,369,673  $    1,331,099  $    1,298,316  $    1,353,388  $    1,002,884  $       931,409  $    1,065,989 

 $      2,065,726  $    1,932,044  $    1,786,806  $    1,594,160  $    1,477,171  $    1,450,432  $    1,257,280  $    1,208,004  $    1,128,446 

62% 93% 77% 83% 88% 93% 80% 77% 94%

76.40% 66.30% 69.88% 68.88% 67.12% 65.10% 64.95% 66.60% 59.94%

                 Schedule of City's Proportionate Share of the Collective Net Pension Liability
             Kansas Public Employees Retirement System

          Last Nine Years*

^ Covered payroll is measured as of the measurement date ending June 30.

*GASB 68 requires presentation of ten years.  As of December 31, 2021, only nine years of information is available.

Plan fiduciary net position as a 
percentage of the total pension 
liability

City's proportion of the collective net 
pension liability 

City's proportionate share of the net 
pension liability 

City's covered payroll^

City's proportionate share of the net 
pension liability as a percentage of 
its covered-employee payroll
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CITY OF BEL AIRE, KANSAS
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

December 31, 2021

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Contractually required contribution  $   197,781 168,081$    166,245$      145,716$      133,898$      138,160$      130,342$      107,294$      97,298$       

Contributions in relation to the 
contractually required contribution

(197,781)     (168,081)     (166,245)       (145,716)       (133,898)       (138,160)       (130,342)       (107,294)       (97,298)        

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$               -$               -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                

City's covered payroll ^  $2,240,888 1,998,715$ 1,870,020$   1,736,656$   1,569,560$   1,337,466$   1,374,918$   1,107,270$   1,106,921$  

Contributions as a percentage of 
covered payroll 8.83% 8.41% 8.89% 8.39% 8.53% 10.33% 9.48% 9.69% 8.79%

Schedule of City's Contributions
Kansas Public Employees Retirement System

Last Nine Fiscal Years*

*GASB 68 requires presentation of ten years.  As of December 31, 2021, only nine years of information is available.

^ Covered payroll is measured as of the the fiscal year end December 31
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CITY OF BEL AIRE, KANSAS
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

December 31, 2021

Kansas Public Employees Retirement System
Last Nine Fiscal Years*

Changes in benefit terms for KPERS. Effective January 1, 2014, KPERS 1 member’s employee contribution rate increased to 
5.0 percent and then on January 1, 2015, increase to 6.0 percent, with an increase in benefit multiplier to 1.85 percent for future 
years of service. For KPERS 2 members retired after July 1, 2012, the cost of living adjustment (COLA) is eliminated, but 
members will receive a 1.85 percent multiplier for all years of service. 

January 1, 2015, the KPERS 3 cash balance plan became effective. Members enrolled in this plan are ones first employed in a 
KPERS covered position on or after January 1, 2015, or KPERS 1 or KPERS 2 members who left employment before vesting 
and returned to employment on or after January 1, 2015. The retirement benefit is an annuity based on the account balance at 
retirement.

For the state fiscal year 2017, the Legislature changed the working after retirement rules for members who retire on or after
January 1, 2018. The key changes to the working after retirement rules were to lengthen the waiting period for KPERS members 
to return to work from 60 days to 180 days for members who retire before attaining age 62, remove the earnings limitation for all 
retirees and establish a single-employer contribution schedule for all retirees. 

December 31, 2020 assumption changes included a decrease of the investment return assumption from 7.75% to 7.25% and 
increase in general wage growth assumption from 3.25% to 3.50%.

Changes in assumptions for KPERS. As a result of the experience study completed in November 2016, there were several 
changes made to the actuarial assumptions and methods since the prior valuation. The changes that impact all groups were 
effective December 31, 2016 and include:
• The price inflation assumption was lowered from 3.00% to 2.75%.
• The investment return assumption was lowered from 8.00% to 7.75%.
• The general wage growth assumption was lowered from 4.00% to 3.50%.
• The payroll growth assumption was lowered from 4.00% to 3.00%.

Changes from the November 2016 experience study that impacted KPERS are listed below:
• The post-retirement healthy mortality assumption was changed to the RP-2014 Mortality Table, with adjustments to better fit 
the observed experience for the various KPERS groups. The most recent mortality improvement scale, MP-2016, is used to 
anticipate future mortality improvements in the valuation process through the next experience study.
• The active member mortality assumption was modified to also be based on the RP-2014 Employee Mortality Table with 
adjustments.
• The retirement rates for the select period (when first eligible for unreduced benefits under Rule of 85) were increased, but all 
other retirement rates were decreased.
• Disability rates were decreased for all three groups.
• The termination of employment assumption was increased for all three groups.
• The interest crediting rate assumption for KPERS 3 members was lowered from 6.50% to 6.25%.

As a result of the experience study completed in January 2020, there were several changes made to the actuarial assumptions 
and methods since the prior valuation. The changes that impact all groups were effective December 31, 2019 and include:
• The investment return assumption was lowered from 7.75% to 7.50%.
• The general wage growth assumption was lowered from 3.50% to 3.25%.
• The payroll growth assumption was lowered from 3.00% to 2.75%.

Changes from the January 2020 experience study that impacted individual groups are listed below:
• Retirement rates were adjusted to partially reflect observed experience.
• Termination rates were increased for most KPERS groups.
• Disability rates were reduced.
• Factors for the State group that are used to anticipate higher liabilities due to higher final average salary at
   retirement for pre-1993 hires were modified to better reflect actual experience.
• The administrative expense load for contributions rates was increased from 0.16% to 0.18%.
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CITY OF BEL AIRE, KANSAS
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

December 31, 2021

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
Measurement Date June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020 June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018 June 30, 2017

Total OPEB liability
Service cost 8,277$          6,988$              6,349$          6,313$              6,051$              
Interest 4,444            1,860                3,007            3,627                3,515                
Effect of economic/demographic gains or losses 40,698          141,938            (11,096)         (5,304)               -                    
Effect of assumptions changes or inputs 933               20,544              895               (778)                  (2,030)               
Benefit payments (25,652)         (23,588)             (25,108)         (29,875)             (29,875)             
Net change in total OPEB liability 28,700          147,742            (25,953)         (26,017)             (22,339)             
Total OPEB liability - beginning 205,568        57,826              83,779          109,796            132,135            
Total OPEB liability - ending 234,268$      205,568$          57,826$        83,779$            109,796$          

Covered payroll 2,065,726$   1,932,044$       1,786,806$   1,594,160$       1,477,171$       

Total OPEB liability as a percentage of 
covered payroll 11.34% 10.64% 3.24% 5.26% 7.43%

Last Five Fiscal Years*

Death & Disability Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios
Schedule of Changes in the City's

   - The discount rate decreased from 2.21% on June 30, 2020 to 2.16% on June 30, 2021.

   - The discount rate decreased from 3.87% on June 30, 2018 to 3.50% on June 30, 2019.

* GASB 75 requires presentation of ten years. As of December 31, 2021, only five years of information is available
There are no assets accumulated in the trust to pay related benefits.

Changes of assumptions.  Changes of assumptions and other inputs reflect the effects of changes in the discount rate each period:

   - The discount rate increased from 2.85% on June 30, 2016 to 3.58% on June 30, 2017.
   - The discount rate increased from 3.58% on June 30, 2017 to 3.87% on June 30, 2018.

   - The discount rate decreased from 3.50% on June 30, 2019 to 2.21% on June 30, 2020.
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City of Bel Aire, Kansas
Combining Balance Sheet

Nonmajor Governmental Funds
December 31, 2021

Special Revenue Funds

Total
Nonmajor

Special Street Local Drug State Drug Federal Capital Equipment Governmental
and Highway Forfeiture Forfeiture Forfeiture Improvement Reserve Funds

Assets:
  Cash, including investments 236,725$        880$               1,552$            1,221$            1,396,581$     588,088$        2,225,047$     
  Receivables 7,892              -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 7,892              
       Total assets 244,617$        880$               1,552$            1,221$            1,396,581$     588,088$        2,232,939$     

Liabilities
  Accounts and retainage payable 2,640$            -$               -$               -$               11,813$          -$               14,453$          
  Accrued liabilities 3,125              -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 3,125              
  Unearned grant revenue -                 -                 -                 -                 633,328          -                 633,328          
      Total liabilities 5,765              -                 -                 -                 645,141          -                 650,906          

Fund balance:
  Restricted 238,852          880                1,552              1,221              -                 -                 242,505          
  Assigned -                 -                 -                 -                 751,440          588,088          1,339,528       
      Total fund balance 238,852          880                1,552              1,221              751,440          588,088          1,582,033       
        Total liabilities, deferred inflows of 
             resources and fund balance 244,617$        880$               1,552$            1,221$            1,396,581$     588,088$        2,232,939$     

Capital Project Funds
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City of Bel Aire, Kansas
Combining Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in 

Fund Balances - Nonmajor Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Total
Nonmajor

Special Street Local Drug State Drug Federal Capital Equipment Governmental
and Highway Forfeiture Forfeiture Forfeiture Improvement Reserve Funds

Revenues:
   Taxes and shared revenues 348,930$        -$             -$              -$             -$              -$              348,930$        
   Miscellaneous -                 -               -                -               83,467          29,643          113,110          
      Total revenues 348,930          -               -                -               83,467          29,643          462,040          

Expenditures:
  Streets and highways 418,195          -               -                -               -                -                418,195          
  Capital outlay -                 -               -                -               1,244,073     55,129          1,299,202       
      Total expenditures 418,195          -               -                -               1,244,073     55,129          1,717,397       

    Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures (69,265)          -               -                -               (1,160,606)    (25,486)         (1,255,357)     

Other financing sources (uses):
  Transfers in 100,000          -               -                -               1,300,000     250,000        1,650,000       
  Transfers out -                 -               -                -               -                -                -                 
    Total other financing sources (uses) 100,000          -               -                -               1,300,000     250,000        1,650,000       

Net change in fund balance 30,735            -               -                -               139,394        224,514        394,643          

Fund balance, beginning of year 208,117          880               1,552             1,221           612,046        363,574        1,187,390       
Fund balance, end of year 238,852$        880$             1,552$           1,221$         751,440$      588,088$      1,582,033$     

Capital Project FundsSpecial Revenue Funds
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City of Bel Aire, Kansas
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in

Fund Balance - Governmental Fund - Budget and Actual (Budget Basis)
Bond and Interest Fund

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Actual Variance with
Amounts Final Budget

Budgetary Over/
Original Final Basis (Under)

Revenues:
Special assessments 2,199,332$         2,199,332           2,312,079$         112,747$            
Delinquent tax 35,000                35,000                98,589                63,589                
Interest 1,000                  1,000                  67                       (933)                   
Bond proceeds -                     -                     5,135,000           5,135,000           
Bond sale premium, net -                     -                     683,076              683,076              
Transfer in 1,025,870           1,025,870           741,985              (283,885)            

Total revenues 3,261,202           3,261,202           8,970,796           5,709,594           

Expenditures:
Principal payments 2,370,000           2,370,000           2,470,000           100,000              
Interest expense 917,480              917,480              764,500              (152,980)            

Total expenditures subjected to budget 3,287,480           3,287,480           3,234,500           (52,980)              

Expenditures not subjected to budget:
Principal payments -                     -                     5,620,000           5,620,000           **
Interest expense -                     -                     190,837              190,837              **

Total expenditures not subjected to budget -                     -                     5,810,837           5,810,837           
Total expenditures 3,287,480           3,287,480           9,045,337           5,757,857           

Net change in fund balance (26,278)$            (26,278)$            (74,541)              (48,263)$            

Fund balance, beginning of year 572,942              
Fund balance, end of year 498,401$            

** Not subject to the legal annual operating budget. Debt payments resulting from bond refunding.

Budgeted Amounts
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City of Bel Aire, Kansas
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in

Fund Balance - Governmental Fund - Budget and Actual (Budget Basis)
Capital Projects Fund

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Actual
Amounts

Budgetary 
Basis

Revenues:
Bond proceeds 12,290,000$       
Bond premiums 163,651             
Interest 103                    
Transfer in 342                    

Total revenues 12,454,096         

Expenditures:
Cost of issuance 187,880             
Rock Spring 1,650,553           
Chapel Landing 7,128,914           
Bristol Hollows 757,675             
Prestwick 538,077             
Deer Run 5,500                 
Central Park 877,391             
Skyview 1,223,050           
Temporary note and bond principal 42,773               
Temporary note and bond interest 81,375               

Total expenditures 12,493,188         

Net change in fund balance (39,092)              

Fund balance, beginning of year 3,976,890           
Fund balance, end of year 3,937,798$         
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City of Bel Aire, Kansas
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in

Fund Balance - Governmental Fund - Budget and Actual (Budget Basis)
Public Building Commission

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Actual
Amounts

Budgetary 
Basis

Revenues:
Industrial land sales 230,222$            
Bond proceeds 13,195,000         
Other 26                      
Bond premium 279,649             
Transfer in 3,073,413           

Total revenues 16,778,310         

Expenditures:
Fees 2,475                 
Issuance costs 248,417             
Deposit to refunded bond escrow 14,886,232         
Bond principal 2,415,000           
Bond interest 502,913             

Total expenditures 18,055,037         

Net change in fund balance (1,276,727)         

Fund balance, beginning of year 1,445,572           
Fund balance, end of year 168,845$            
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City of Bel Aire, Kansas
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in

Fund Balance - Governmental Fund - Budget and Actual (Budget Basis)
Special Street and Highway Fund

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Actual Variance with
Amounts Final Budget

Budgetary Over/
Original Final Basis (Under)

Revenues:
Taxes and Shared Revenue:

State gas tax 178,880$            178,880$            243,294$            64,414$              
County gas tax 78,310                78,310                105,636              27,326                

Transfer in 100,000              100,000              100,000              -                     
Total revenues 357,190              357,190              448,930              91,740                

Expenditures:
Personnel services 80,335                80,335                83,673                3,338                  
Contractual services 115,950              115,950              120,643              4,693                  
Operating expense 139,250              139,250              201,656              62,406                
Capital outlay 55,000                55,000                12,223                (42,777)              
Transfer out 46,053                46,053                -                     (46,053)              

Total expenditures 436,588              436,588              418,195              (18,393)              

Net change in fund balance (79,398)$             (79,398)$             30,735                110,133$            

Fund balance, beginning of year 208,117              
Fund balance, end of year 238,852$            

Budgeted Amounts
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City of Bel Aire, Kansas
Combining Balance Sheet

Nonmajor Enterprise Funds
December 31, 2021

Total
Nonmajor

Solid Waste Stormwater Enterprise
Assets:
  Cash, including investments 282,450$       308,957$       591,407$       
  Accounts receivable 36,410           -                 36,410           
       Total assets 318,860         308,957         627,817         

Liabilities:
  Accounts payable 36,632           -                 36,632           
      Total liabilities 36,632           -                 36,632           

Net position:
  Unrestricted 282,228         308,957         591,185         
      Total net position 282,228$       308,957$       591,185$       
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City of Bel Aire, Kansas
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Nonmajor Enterprise Funds
December 31, 2021

Total
Nonmajor

Solid Waste Stormwater Enterprise
Operating revenues:
   Utility income 579,408$       87,852$         667,260$       
      Total operating revenues 579,408         87,852           667,260         

Operating expenses:
  Contractual services 465,438         50,636           516,074         
      Total operating expenses 465,438         50,636           516,074         

    Operating income (loss) 113,970         37,216           151,186         

Non-operating revenues (expenses):
  Interest and other -                 3                    3                    
  Transfers out (100,000)        -                 (100,000)        

Change in net position 13,970           37,219           51,189           

Net position, beginning of year 268,258         271,738         539,996         
Net position, end of year 282,228$       308,957$       591,185$       
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City of Bel Aire, Kansas
Combining Statement of Cash Flows

Non-Major Enterprise Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Solid Waste Stormwater Total
Cash flows from operating activities:
   Cash received from customers 579,235$      87,852$          667,087$        
   Payments to suppliers for goods and services (463,882)       (50,636)           (514,518)         
     Net cash flow from operating activities 115,353        37,216            152,569          

Cash flows from non-capital financing activities:
   Transfers to other funds (100,000)       -                  (100,000)         
     Net cash flow from non-capital financing activities (100,000)       -                  (100,000)         

Cash flows from investing activities:
  Interest on investments -                3                     3                     
     Net cash flow from investing activities -                3                     3                     

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 15,353          37,219            52,572            

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year 267,097        271,738          538,835          
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year 282,450$      308,957$        591,407$        

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash
  flow from operating activities:
    Operating income 113,970$      37,216$          151,186$        
    Adjustments to reconcile operating income to
     net cash provided by operating activities:

Change in accounts receivable (173)              -                  (173)                
Change in accounts payable 1,556            -                  1,556              

    Net cash flow from operating activities 115,353$      37,216$          152,569$        
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City of Bel Aire, Kansas
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in

Fund Balance - Enterprise Funds - Budget and Actual (Budget Basis)
Water Fund

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Actual Variance with
Amounts Final Budget

Budgetary Over/
Original Final Basis (Under)

Revenues:
Utility income 2,494,200$     2,494,200$     3,143,000$      648,800$              
Interest income 3,600              3,600              63                    (3,537)                   
Miscellaneous 10,000            10,000            14,355             4,355                    

Total revenues 2,507,800       2,507,800       3,157,418        649,618                

Expenditures:
Personnel services 309,181          309,181          327,410           18,229                  
Contractual services 1,762,942       1,762,942       1,616,005        (146,937)               
Commodities 309,600          309,600          362,726           53,126                  
Capital outlay 246,000          246,000          -                   (246,000)               
Debt service 51,715            51,715            38,904             (12,811)                 
Transfer out 258,437          258,437          258,437           -                        

Total expenditures 2,937,875       2,937,875       2,603,482        (334,393)               

Net change in fund balance (430,075)$       (430,075)$       553,936           984,011$              

Fund balance, beginning of year 1,857,523        
Fund balance, end of year 2,411,459$      

Budgeted Amounts
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City of Bel Aire, Kansas
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in

Fund Balance - Enterprise Funds - Budget and Actual (Budget Basis)
Sewer Fund

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Actual Variance with
Amounts Final Budget

Budgetary Over/
Original Final Basis (Under)

Revenues:
Utility income 2,401,744$     2,401,744$     2,764,648$      362,904$            
Interest income 3,600              3,600              82                    (3,518)                 
Miscellaneous -                  -                  5,664               5,664                  

Total revenues 2,405,344       2,405,344       2,770,394        365,050              

Expenditures:
Personnel services 335,410          335,410          383,887           48,477                
Contractual services 1,421,877       1,421,877       1,272,226        (149,651)             
Commodities 298,800          298,800          212,015           (86,785)               
Capital outlay 300,000          300,000          -                   (300,000)             
Debt service 31,478            31,478            23,965             (7,513)                 
Transfer out 297,717          297,717          297,717           -                      

Total expenditures 2,685,282       2,685,282       2,189,810        (495,472)             

Net change in fund balance (279,938)$       (279,938)$       580,584           860,522$            

Fund balance, beginning of year 2,305,473        
Fund balance, end of year 2,886,057$      

Budgeted Amounts
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City of Bel Aire, Kansas
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in

Fund Balance - Enterprise Funds - Budget and Actual (Budget Basis)
Solid Waste Fund

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Actual Variance with
Amounts Final Budget

Budgetary Over/
Original Final Basis (Under)

Revenues:
Utility income 540,000$        540,000$        579,235$         39,235$              

Total revenues 540,000          540,000          579,235           39,235                

Expenditures:
Contractual services 535,000          535,000          465,438           (69,562)               
Transfers out 100,000          100,000          100,000           -                      

Total expenditures 635,000          635,000          565,438           (69,562)               

Net change in fund balance (95,000)$         (95,000)$         13,797             108,797$            

Fund balance, beginning of year 232,021           
Fund balance, end of year 245,818$         

Budgeted Amounts
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City of Bel Aire, Kansas
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in

Fund Balance - Enterprise Funds - Budget and Actual (Budget Basis)
Stormwater Fund

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Actual Variance with
Amounts Final Budget

Budgetary Over/
Original Final Basis (Under)

Revenues:
Utility income 86,100$          86,100$          87,852$           1,752$                
Interest income -                  -                  3                      3                         

Total revenues 86,100            86,100            87,855             1,755                  

Expenditures:
Contractual services 5,000              5,000              50,636             45,636                
Capital outlay 247,223          247,223          -                   (247,223)             

Total expenditures 252,223          252,223          50,636             (201,587)             

Net change in fund balance (166,123)$       (166,123)$       37,219             203,342$            

Fund balance, beginning of year 271,738           
Fund balance, end of year 308,957$         

Budgeted Amounts
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City of Bel Aire, Kansas 

 

STAFF REPORT 
 

DATE:  August 25, 2022 

 

TO: Governing Body, City Manager   

 

FROM: Planning Commission  

 

RE: August 23, 2022 

 

PUD-22-01. Proposed changing the current PUD to allow R-6 multi-family zoning and amended 

parking requirements. (Arthur Heights PUD) 

 

Planning Commission reviewed the applicants request to change the current PUD to allow R-6 multi-

family zoning for Arthur Heights.  This property is located immediately west of the northwest corner 

of 45th and Woodlawn.  Ken Lee of Garver, LLC was present to represent the property owner, Russ 

Relph to discuss the application.  Mr. Lee spoke to some of the requests that were previously made by 

the Planning Commission regarding amendments to the original application that was tabled at the 

previous Planning Commission meeting.  The first item discussed as a request from the Planning 

Commission was to adhere to City regulations concerning the need to have two (2) parking stalls per 

unit.  Mr. Lee explained that the required amount of parking would be seventy-two (72) stalls to 

accommodate the requirement and the amended PUD contains seventy-seven (77) parking stalls.  This 

was completed by eliminating two dwellings from the original twenty (20) dwelling units to eighteen 

(18).  The space vacated by the two (2) became a “green space” for residents.  The second item 

discussed was installing a perimeter fence for screening purposes.  Mr. Lee explained the amended 

PUD would have a 6 or 8-foot fence on most of the perimeter and then a row of Emerald Green 

Arborvitae trees on the southwest boundary of the property for screening purposes.  Another change 

that was made was working with the Sedgwick County Fire Department on narrowing the entry way to 

allow for more green space.  Mr. Lee also spoke to adding inlets to maintain the amount of possible 

water that could come onto the property.   

 

Commissioners asked questions regarding the proposed changes in terms of maturity of planted 

screening, building plans of the conceptual dwelling drawings, maintenance of the green spaces, 

drainage retention, and easement encroachment of the trash enclosure.  Mr. Lee explained the maturity 

time of the Arborvitae being between 8 to 10 years, that buildings would be built to code but would not 

have a back door, any maintenance of the green spaces would be carried out by the owner through a 

landscape company, the retention and detention of water runoff would be sufficient and drain through 

the Woodlawn project and off of the property, and the understanding that easement encroachment is 

done so at the responsibility of the owner.   

 

Following this discussion, Chairman Schmidt opened the floor to residents and allotted each resident 

with three (3) minutes to express grievances, concerns, or support.  The Planning Commission also 

allowed Mr. Lee to address these concerns after all residents spoke.  The first to speak was Dennis 

McCallum, 4650 N Hillcrest, spoke to sharing 150 ft of shared property line with the PUD and stated 

that he was worried about his property value dropping and the possibility of more calls to the Bel Aire 

Police Department.  Another concern was the drainage issue on his property and the concern that 
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adding this development may increase said water issues.  The next to speak was Carol Russell, 6218 E 

45th St.  Her concern was with the trees that would abut her property line as screening and the 

possibility of children running in and out of the tree line.  She was also concerned with individuals 

hiding in said trees to attack her on her way home.  The last citizen to voice concern was Gary Jantz, 

6200 E 45th St N, had concerns about the density of the PUD and the possible fire event that could take 

place.  He was also concerned with the setbacks from the property lines proposed.  Concern also arose 

regarding the gas pipeline on the southern portion of the property.  He stated feeling violated by loss of 

privacy and stolen property due to lowering property values.   

 

Mr. Lee was given the opportunity to discuss the concerns and answered questions and specific issues 

that citizens mentioned.  

 

Following the public hearing, Planning Commission considered the evidence and discussed the 

following factors based on the Criteria for Review established in section 5.02 (D) of the Zoning 

Regulation. A significant amount of discussion circled around factors commonly known as the Golden 

Factors, below are notes of some of the Golden Factors discussion: 

 

Character of the neighborhood: 

- The PUD plan presented is an improvement for the character of the neighborhood 

compared to other applications.  The surrounding area has several different zoning types 

and that allows the PUD to fit into the existing character of the neighborhood and hence 

appropriate. 

 

Zoning uses of nearby property: 

- The surrounding zoning is C-1, C-2, R-2, R-4, R-5, and R-6.  This supports the new zoning 

with surrounding properties. 

 

Suitability of the property for the uses to which it is restricted: 

-  The Planning Commission discussed the use as an R-6 density as opposed to the R-5 

density and that it is a combination of the two.  The addition of green space is helpful in the 

R-6 zoning. 

 

The extent to which removal of the restrictions will detrimentally affect nearby property: 

- The engineered designed of the drainage system presented by the civil engineers indicate 

that the chances for run-off or water issues on other properties would be satisfactory.   

 

The length of time the subject property has remained vacant as zoned: 

- The property has remained vacant under the current PUD and the zoning before which 

supports approval. 

 

Having thoroughly reviewed the issue Planning Commission voted (by passing a 5-0 motion) to 

recommend changing the partial zoning within the current PUD to allow R-6 multi-family 

housing with the condition of a default eight (8) foot fence or appropriate screening as 

otherwise mutually agreed upon with neighboring properties.    

 

ZON-22-05 Rezoning:  Approximately 71 acres zoned AG to M-1 Industrial. Currently used as 

farmland. Was recently annexed into city. (Located at the southwest corner of HWY 254 and 

Webb Rd. 
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The Planning Commission reviewed the application for a rezoning of AG to M-1 Industrial at the 

southwest corner of Hwy 254 and Webb Rd.  Property was recently annexed by the City.  

 

The hearing was opened, and the Chairman opened the floor to residents and allotted each with three 

(3) minutes to express grievances, concerns, or support.  Franklin Vespa, owner of the property 

directly east of the application, spoke with concerns for the rezoning.  He stated that he would not have 

purchased his property if he had known an industrial zone would be allowed next to his property. He 

has concerns for lowering property values, increase in crime, excessive noise and lighting, and 

environmental issues.   

 

After hearing concerns, the Planning Commission discussed the zoning change to the south of the 

property becoming residential.  It was also stated that M-1 Industrial zoning would require a PUD and 

that the residential area to the south should be taken into consideration when that arises.  There was 

discussion as to ideas that the developer may have in mind for the property from a PowerPoint showed 

to the Planning Commission in a previous meeting.  Questions were asked regarding the airspace from 

Jabara airport.  The attorney explained that, in communication with the airport, Jabara would not be 

opposed to any rezoning or changes as long as it did not affect the airspace around their property.  

Therefore, communication between the City and Jabara would have to take place regarding future 

PUDs.     

 

Character of the Neighborhood 

- Comments were made involving the rezoning of this property is in continuation of what has 

been planned in the area with other rezonings. 

 

Conformance of the Requested Change to the Adopted or Recognized Master Plan Being Utilized by 

the City  

- It agrees with the master plan which contemplates a unique commercial district.  It should 

be a large commercial destination. 

 

Zoning and Uses of Nearby Properties 

- The zoning around the property is M-1, C-2, AG, and Sedgwick County RR.   

 

 

After consideration of the Golden Factors and the request for the zoning change, the Planning 

Commission voted (by passing a 5-0 motion) to recommend the request to rezone certain recently 

annexed property at the southwest corner of Hwy 254 and Webb Rd. Containing approximately 

71 acres from AG to M-1 Industrial use without changes or conditions. 

 

 

The Planning Commission voted (by passing a 5-0 motion) to approve the next meeting date of 

September 8th, 2022, at 6:30. 
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ARTHUR  HEIGHTS  PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT
ARTHUR HEIGHTS

AMENDMENT 1

Bel Aire,  Sedgwick  County,  Kansas

SOUTHEAST CORNER
OF GOVERNMENT LOT 1,
SEC. 25, T26S, R1E

SOUTHEAST CORNER
OF SEC. 24, T26S, R1E

030' 30'15'

BENCHMARK:
CHISELED SQUARE WITH DIVOT ON THE CONCRETE
TRANSFORMER PAD IN LOT 2, BLOCK 1,  NORTH
WOODLAWN SECOND ADDITION, SEDGWICK COUNTY,
KANSAS, 91' W. AND 72' S. OF THE CENTER OF
INTERSECTION OF 45TH ST. N. AND WOODLAWN
ELEVATION = 1393.91 (NAVD88, G18)

SANITARY SEWER (BEL AIRE)

WATER MAIN (CITY OF BEL AIRE)

SANITARY SEWER MANHOLE

LEGEND (PROPOSED UTILITIES)

GAS LINE (SOUTHERN STAR CENTRAL)

PROPOSED PRIVATE SANITARY SEWER

PROPOSED WATER

GAS LINE (KANSAS GAS SERVICE)

OVERHEAD ELECTRIC (EVERGY)

POWER POLE (EVERGY)

TELEPHONE PEDESTAL

GAS VALVE

PROPOSED 8' PRIVACY FENCE

UNDERGROUND FIBER OPTIC (AT&T)

PROPOSED FIRE HYDRANT

LEGEND
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GARVER
1995 MIDFIELD RD.
Wichita, KS 67209
(316) 264-8008
www.GarverUSA.com

State of Kansas      )
                                SS
County of Sedgwick)

This Planned Unit Development Amendment 1 for Arthur Heights, Bel Aire,
Sedgwick County, Kansas, has been submitted to and approved by the Bel Aire
Planning Commission, Bel Aire, Kansas, and is hereby transmitted to the City
Council of the City of Bel Aire, Kansas, with the recommendation that such plat be
approved as proposed.

Dated this           day of                       , 2022.

                                                              Chairperson
                                James Schmidt

Attest:

                                                                Secretary
Anne Stephens

State of Kansas      )
                                SS
County of Sedgwick)

The dedications shown on this plat, if any, are hereby accepted by the Governing
Body of the City of Bel Aire, Kansas on                                                 , 2022.

                                                               , Mayor
                                 Jim Benage

Attest:

                                                                City Clerk
Melissa Krehbiel

State of Kansas      )
           SS

County of Sedgwick)

The title evidence of the land included in this plat has been reviewed by me and this
plat is approved pursuant to the provisions of K.S.A. 12-401.

Date Signed:                                                , 2022.

By:                                                       .
      Jacqueline Kelly, City Attorney

State of Kansas  )
                            SS
Sedgwick County)

I, the undersigned, licensed land surveyor of the State of Kansas, do hereby certify
that a Planned Unit Development Amendment was created for the following
described tract of land:

Lot 6, Arthur Heights, Sedgwick County, Kansas, EXCEPT that part described as
beginning at the Southeast Corner of said Lot 6; thence West along the South line of
said Lot 6, 165.92 feet to the Southwest corner of said Lot 6; thence North along the
West line of said Lot 6, 10.00 feet; thence East parallel with said South line, 14.90
feet; thence Northeast, 100.00 feet to a point 35.00 feet North of said South line;
thence East parallel with said South line, 54.15 feet to the East line of said Lot 6;
thence South along said East line, 35.00 feet to the point of beginning; TOGETHER
WITH Lot 7, Arthur Heights, Sedgwick County, Kansas, EXCEPT that part of Lot 7
described as follows: Beginning at the Southwest corner of said Lot 7; thence
northerly, on the West line of said Lot 7 a distance of 181.61 feet; thence easterly to
a point on the East line of said Lot 7, said point being 179.83 feet north of the
Southeast corner of said Lot 7; thence southerly, on said East line, a distance of
179.83 feet to said Southeast corner; thence westerly on the South line of said Lot 7,
a distance of 204.08 feet to the point of beginning.

                                                      Garver, LLC

                                                                           Land Surveyor
                             William K. Clevenger, PS #1437

State of Kansas  )
                            SS
Sedgwick County)

This is to certify that the undersigned owner(s) of the land described in the Land
Surveyor's Certificate has caused the same to create a Planned Unit Development
Amendment 1 for Arthur Heights, Bel Aire, Sedgwick County, Kansas.

                                         RKR, LLC
a limited liability company

                                                      Member
Russell P. Relph

State of Kansas  )
                            SS
Sedgwick County)

The foregoing instrument acknowledged before me, this           day of                       ,
2022, by Russell P. Relph, Member, on behalf of RKR, LLC, a limited liability
company.

                                                          Notary Public

My appointment expires                  .

SHEET 2 OF 2

Entered on transfer record this           day of                       , 2022.

                                                          County Clerk
                                 Kelly B. Arnold

State of Kansas)
                          SS
Sedgwick County)

This is to certify that this plat has been filed for record in the office of the Register of

Deeds, this           day of                       , 2022, at           o'clock      M,  and is
duly recorded.

                                                  Register of Deeds
Tonya Buckingham

                                                                   Deputy
Kenly Zehring

ARTHUR  HEIGHTS  PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT
ARTHUR HEIGHTS

AMENDMENT 1

Bel Aire,  Sedgwick  County,  Kansas

VICINITY MAP
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T26S, R1ESW CORNER, SEC. 24,

T26S, R1E

DWG FILE: 22S04005 SURVEY BASE
PROJECT NO. 22S04005
SEPTEMBER 12, 2022

NOTES:
1. The site shall be developed in General Conformance with the Developer's Agreement.
2. All site lighting shall be directed downward and shielded from adjacent residential areas.
3.  A Drainage Plan shall be required and approved by the City Engineer as a condition of
of the Building Permit.
4. All Allowed Conditional Uses shall be subject to the submission of a site plan for approval
in accordance with Article 5.03E of the Zoning Code.

     Proposed Zoning - R-6
Proposed Uses - Those uses permitted by right in the R-6 Zoning District.
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1 
 

City of Bel Aire, Kansas 
 

STAFF REPORT 
 
DATE:  9/14/2022 
TO: Ty Lasher, City Manager  
FROM: Ted Henry, Assistant City Manager/ Director of Finance   
RE: 2023 Fee Schedule   
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
It is best practice to periodically review the fee schedule to ensure the City is recouping the cost of 
providing services in areas for which fees apply. The services for which a city imposes a user or regulatory 
fee typically derive from an individual person or entity’s action, request, or behavior, Therefore, except in 
cases where there is an overwhelming public benefit generated by a city’s involvement in the individual 
action, a fee for service ensures that the individual bears most, if not all, of the cost incurred by the City to 
provide that service. 
 
Ongoing review and adjustment of fees provides multiple benefits, including: 
 

 Increasing the availability of General Fund revenues to be used for services and activities available 
to all Bel Aire residents and businesses, such as public safety services. 

 Keeping pace with the general cost inflation.  
 Providing fee payers, city staff, and city policymakers with a pattern of consistency that provides 

information for forecasting and decision-making purposes. 
 
DISCUSSION: 
Staff has recommended several changes to the current fee schedule that keep up in line with current costs 
and other communities.  
 
RECOMENDATION:  
Approve the 2023 Fee Schedule effective January 1, 2023.  
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Permit Fee

Permit Fee

Permit Fee

Derby Permit Fee (based on valuation) $703.45 for first $100,000, 3.85 for every additional $1,000

ICC Fee Table (based on valuation) $1027 for first $100,000, $7.00 for every additional $1,000

Current Permit Fee .20 per sqft

Proposed Permit Fee .40 per sqft

Wichita/Valley Center/Sedgwick Co Permit fee .38 per finished sqft, .30 per unfinished sq ft

Andover Permit Fee (based on valuation) $976 for first $100,000, $5.00 for every additional $1,000

Park City Permit Fee (based on valuation) $1028 for first $100,000, $7.00 for every additional $1,000

Duplex, unfinished basement 1200sqft main level, $200,000
$480 $960 $816 $1,476 $1,728 $1,088.45 $1,727

$2,427

Single‐Family Dwelling, finished basement, 3000 sqft, $600,000
$600 $1,200 $1,140 $3,426 $6,343 $2,573.45 $4,327

$480 $960 $912 $1,976 $2,443 $1,473.45

Single‐Family Dwelling, finished basement, 2400 sqft, $300,000
Current Proposed Wichita/Sedgwick C Andover Park City Derby ICC Fee Table
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Alcohol/Liquor

Section 1

1.1 Enhanced Cereal Malt Beverage Retail   2023 Note

1.1.1 General Retailer (On‐Premise 

Consumption), per each tavern or place 

selling CMB at retail (Includes $25 State 

stamp fee, and $50 non‐refundable fee).

$225/yr 

1.1.2 Limited Retailer (Off‐Premise 

Consumption), per each place selling only 

CMB in original unopened containers, and 

not for consumption on premises. (Includes 

$25 State stamp fee, and $50 non‐

refundable fee)

$75/yr

1.2 Alcohol Liquor

1.2.1 City Temporary Permit for selling or Serving 

Alcoholic Liquor (State permit also 

required)

$100/ day

1.2.2 Caterer’s Occupational Tax for Selling or 

Serving Alcoholic Liquor

$500/2 years

Business General Licenses & Permits

Section 2

2.1 Business Licenses 2023 Notes

2.1.1 General Business License  $50/yr

2.1.2 Home Occupation License Tier 1            (not 

required to register) $0 

2.1.3 Home Occupation Licenses Tier 2 and 3 $35/yr

2.1.4 Solicitor License $30/30 days          

+ $15 per person

2.1.5 Peddlers License $30/30 days          

+ $15 per person

2.1.6 Transient Merchant License $30/90 days          

+ $15 per person

2.1.7 Business Signage‐Temp or Permanent            

(plus any building permit fees)

$50 

2.1.8 Mobile Home Licenses $50 + $5 per home

2.1.9 Amusement Ride Co. License Application 

Fee

$25 

2.1.10 Amusement Ride Co. Annual License $600/ yr

2.1.11 Temporary Amusement Ride Company 

Annual License, under 20 rides

$30/ride

2.2 General Permits 2023 Notes

2.2.1 Garage, Rummage, Yard Sale Permit $2 per day

2.2.2 Auction Permit $100 per auction

2.2.3 Well Producing Gas or Petroleum $1,000 per yr

Fee Schedule
Effective: January 1, 2023
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City Utilities and Infrastructure

Section 3

3.1 Utility Billing and Administration 2023 Notes

3.1.1 Move In Connection Fee $50 

3.1.2 Account Transfer Fee $25 

3.1.3 Non‐payment fee $50 

3.1.4 Utility Late Payment Fee 5%

3.1.5 Meter Lock Out $50 

3.1.6 Lock Damage $50 

3.1.7 Meter re‐read or leak inspection beyond 

one per yr

$50 

3.2 Water and Wastewater Connections 2023 Notes

3.2.1 Fire Line Standby $30/month

3.2.2 Fire Line Tap Fee $950 

3.2.3 Hydrant Meter Fee and Use Permit $100 

3.2.4 Metered Hydrant $10 per 1,000 gallons

3.2.5 New and Replacement Water and 4” Sewer 

(Meter install, tap, inspection, and permit) 

 1” line

$3,600

1" Water Meter, Tap, Install Permit $2,650

3.2.6 4" Sewer Tap, Install Permit $950

3.2.7 1.5” or 2” Water Meter Installation                 

(Contractor provide & install vault)

$2,500

3.2.8 Long service, compound meters or a non‐

stock meter

Section 5.3.1, 5.3.2, 

5.3.3

3.2.9 Equity Fees (water & sewer)  Water Sewer Turn Key Cost

1.5" Line $2,400  $2,400  $5,600 

2" Line $3,600  $3,600  $8,000 

3" Line $5,400  $5,400  $11,600 

4" Line $8,100  $8,100  $17,000 

5" Line $12,150  $12,150  $25,100 

6" Line $18,225  $18,225  $37,250 

7" Line $27,338  $27,338  $55,475 

8" Line $41,006  $41,006  $82,813 

10" Line $61,509  $61,509  $123,819 

12" Line $92,264  $92,264  $185,328 

Code Enforcement

Section 4

4.1 General Fees 2023 Notes
4.1.1 Sign Return

Political Sign $10

All Other Signs $15

4.1.2 8‐1‐1 One Call Violations $100

4.2 Nuisances and Abatement 2023 Notes

4.2.1 Nuisance Abatement Fees Section 5.3.1, 5.3.2, 

5.3.3

4.2.2 Condemnation Fees Section 5.3.1, 5.3.2, 

5.3.3

4.2.3 Mowing Section 5.3.1, 5.3.2, 

5.3.3
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General Fees

Section 5

5.1 Administrative Fees 2023 Notes

5.1.1 Insufficient Funds/Returned Payment $35 

5.1.2 Copy Fee‐Black and White $0.25/page

5.1.3 Copy Fee‐Color $0.50/page

5.1.4 Fax Charge $2/page

5.1.5 Retrieval Inspection of Public Records $20/hour

5.3 Labor, Equipment, Materials 2023 Notes

5.3.1 All labor expenses shall be charged at the 

employee hourly rate for the actual hours 

worked, including overtime rates of pay, if 

applicable. The labor cost shall be 

increased by 45% to cover all fringe benefit 

costs

5.3.2 All city equipment usage shall be charged 

out at hourly rates prescribed in the 

"Department of Homeland Security FEMA 

Schedule of Equipment Rates." These rates 

are updated periodically by the federal 

agency.

5.3.3 All materials  purchased from the city 

warehouse inventories or from a third 

party vendor, and contracted services, shall 

be charged out at cost + 10%

Planning and Zoning

6.1 Annual Licensing Fees 2023 Notes

6.1.1 Contractor’s License‐Class A $400/yr

6.1.2 Contractor’s License‐Class B $200/yr

6.1.3 Contractor’s License‐Class C $100/yr

6.1.4 Contractor’s License‐Class D (Limited) $  75/yr

6.1.5 Contractor’s License‐Class X (Utility) $  75/yr

6.1.6 Electrical/Mechanical/Gas $  75/yr

6.1.7 HVAC License $  75/yr

6.1.8 Plumber License $  75/yr

6.1.9 Working without a license

6.2 Construction Related Fees 2023 Notes

6.2.1 Concrete Permit $50 

6.2.2 Gas Permit $50 

6.2.3 Electrical Permit $50 

6.2.4 Mechanical Permit $50 

6.2.5 Plumbing Permit $50 

6.2.6 Special Waste Report (grease trap) $75 

6.2.7 Swimming Pool Permit Valuation Table 

6.2.8 Deck, patio, Shed, Gazebo, Fence Permit Valuation Table 

6.2.9 New residential building construction $   .40 per sq ft

6.2.10 Residential Building Permits Valuation Table 

6.2.11 Commercial Zoning & Building Permits Valuation Table 

6.2.12 Commercial Building & Site Plan Review 65% of building 

6.2.13 Demolition Permit $100 

6.2.14 Excavation Permit $100 

6.2.15 Location Permit $25 

6.2.16 Erosion Remediation 5.3.1 and/or 5.3.3

License fee is doubled
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Construction Related Fees 2023 Notes

6.2.17 Parking Lots                                          (plan 

review fee assessed per valuation)

$50 permit plus $2 

per space

6.2.18 Replacement Card $10 

6.2.19 Working without a permit Permit fee is doubled

6.2.20 Inspection when no fee specifically 

indicated

$50/hr               

(½ hr min.)

6.2.21 Re‐Inspection fee for all permits $60 

6.2.22
Same day inspection fee

$50/hr               

(½ hr min.)

6.2.23
After hours inspection

$60/hr               

(½ hr min.)

6.3 General Fees 2023 Notes

6.3.1 Curb Cut $60 

6.3.2 Culvert Cut $60 

6.3.3 Pavement Cut $60 

6.3.4 Street Connection Permit $200 

6.3.5 Well Permit $100 

6.3.6 Sprinkler Permit (Residential) $50 

6.3.7 Sprinkler Permit (Commercial) $100 

6.3.8 Backflow test report filing fee $5 

6.3.9 Floodplain Permit $25 

6.4 Land Use and Zoning 2023 Notes

6.4.1 Board of Zoning and Appeals $200.00 

6.4.2 Zone Change $500.00 + Publication 

costs

6.4.3 Lot Split $200.00

6.4.4 Vacations $250.00 

6.4.5 Preliminary Plat $350.00/$10.00 lot 

6.4.6 Final Plat $350.00/$10.00 lot 

6.4.7 One‐Step Plat Equal to Final plat 

cost

6.4.8 Preliminary PUD Plan $350.00/$10.00 lot 

6.4.9 Final PUD Plan $350.00/$10.00 lot 

6.4.10 Zoning Variance $175.00 

6.4.11 Special Use $250.00 

6.4.12 Conditional Use $250.00 

6.4.13 Administrative Exceptions $175.00 

6.4.14 Right‐of‐Way Application (Residential) $20.00 

6.4.15 Right‐of‐Way Application (Commercial) $75.00 

6.4.16 Firework Distribution $2,500 up to 2,500 sq. 

ft. /$1 per additional 

sq. ft.

6.4.17 Engineering 5.3.1 and/or 5.3.3
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Recreation

Section 7

7.1 Recreation Center Passes

Resident Non‐Resident

7.1.1 Family $85.00/year $150.00/year

7.1.2 Individual $  55.00/year $95.00/year

7.1.3 Senior Couple $  55.00/year $95.00/year

7.1.4 Resident Senior $  40.00/year $60.00/year

7.1.5 Day Fee $    3.00/day $    3.00/day

7.2 Youth Sports

Resident Non‐Resident

7.2.1 Indoor/Outdoor Soccer $38.00 $58.00

7.2.2 Short Sports $15.00 $25.00

7.2.3 Heights Baseball/Softball $95.00 $120.00

7.2.4 Blastball $25.00 $40.00

7.2.5 T Ball $38.00 $58.00

7.2.6 Machine Pitch BB/SB $45.00 $65.00

7.2.7 Youth Pitch BB/SB $45.00 $65.00

7.2.8 Flag Football $40.00 $60.00

7.2.9 Volleyball $35.00 $55.00

7.2.10 Basketball $38.00 $58.00

7.2.11 Little Dribblers $25.00 $40.00

7.2.12 Basketball Clinics/Camps

7.2.13 Late registration fee $15.00

7.3 Youth Activities

Resident Non‐Resident

7.3.1 Youth Cheerleading $38.00 $58.00

7.3.2 Spring Break Sports Week $20.00 $30.00

7.3.3 Hip Hop $38.00 $58.00

7.3.4 Tumbling $38.00 $58.00

7.3.5 Dazzling Dancers $38.00 $58.00

7.3.6 Taekwondo 1X/week $20.00 $35.00

7.3.7 Taekwondo 2X/week $30.00 $45.00

7.3.8 Day Camp $140 per week $150 per week

7.4 Adult Activities

Resident Non‐Resident

7.4.1 Group Exercise 1X/week $20.00 $35.00

7.4.2 Group Exercise 2X/week $30.00 $45.00

7.4.3 Yoga 1X/week $20.00 $35.00

7.4.4 Yoga 2X/week $30.00 $45.00

7.4.5 Taekwondo 1X/week $20.00 $35.00

7.4.6 Taekwondo 2X/week $30.00 $45.00

7.5 Facility Rental

Resident Non‐Resident

7.5.1 Gymnasium $75/hr $100/hr

7.5.2 Activity Room  $50/hr $75/hr

7.5.3 Baseball/Softball Fields $  15/hrs

7.5.4 Soccer Field

7.6 Swimming Pool

Resident Non‐Resident

7.6.1 Daily Fee $5.00 $5.00

7.6.2 Individual Membership $115.00/yr $172.00/yr

7.6.3 Family Membership $170.00 yr $255.00/yr

7.6.4 Rec/Pool Combo $220.00

7.6.5 Group Swimming Lessons $  40.00/session $  60.00/session

7.6.6 Private Swimming Lessons $  20.00/hr $  30.00/hr

7.6.7 Pool Rental‐up to 25 patrons $  60.00/hr $  60.00/hr

7.6.8 Pool Rental‐25 to 50 patrons $  80.00/hr $  80.00/hr

2023

$20‐$70; depending on duration

$  15‐$25/hr‐based on field size
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Police/Court

OFFENSES
Bond Schedule set by Judge per K.S.A 12‐4305

Infraction Fines set by K.S.A 8‐2118

CAR = Court Appearance Required.

NTA = Notice to appear.

PS = Professional Surety

OR = Own Recognizance

NCO = No Contact Order

Section 8

8.1 Court Fees 2023 Note

8.1.1 Court Cost $100

8.1.3 Warrant $50

8.1.4 DL Reinstatement $122 not determined by City

8.1.6 Pre‐Sentence Investigation $150 not determined by City

8.1.8 Filing of petition for expungment $150

8.1.9 Court Record Request $25

8.1.10 DVD Copies $30

8.1.11 Certified Letter Fee $10

8.1.12 Failure to appear Letter Fee $10

8.1.13 Court Ordered Finger Prints $33

8.1.14 Fingerprints for citizens $20

8.1.15 Police Report $20

8.1.16 Court Report $20

8.1.17 Trial Fee $20

8.1.18 Jail Fee* *

*Rate determined/billed by Sedgwick Co.

8.2 Traffic Signs, Signals, and Markings 2023 Bond Schedule Note

8.2.1 Disobeying Traffic Control Device $75 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.2.2 Violating Traffic Control Signal $75 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.2.3 Pedestrian‐Control  Signals $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.2.4 Flashing Signals $75 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.2.5 Lane‐Control Signal $75 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.2.6 $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.2.7 CAR/$135 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.2.8 Driving on Play Streets $75 NTA

8.2.9 CAR NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.3 Accidents 2023 Bond Schedule Note

8.3.1 Leaving the Scene of a Death or Injury Accident CAR 2500 PS

8.3.2 Leaving Scene Non‐Injury Accident CAR 500 PS

8.3.3 Duty to Give Information & Render Aid ACC IDENT CAR 500 PS

8.3.4 Duty Striking Unattended VEH or Other Property CAR NTA

8.3.5 Duty to Report Accidents CAR NTA

8.3.6 False Reports CAR 1000 PS

8.4 Serious Traffic Offenses 2023 Bond Schedule Note

8.4.1 Reckless Driving CAR 300 PS

8.4.2 D.U.I. (1st Offense) CAR 2500 PS

8.4.3 (2nd Offense) CAR 2500 PS

8.4.4 (3rd Offense) CAR 2500 PS

8.4.5 D.U.I. Commercial Vehicle (1st Offense) CAR 2500 PS

8.4.6 (2nd Offense) CAR 2500 PS

8.4.8 Fleeing or Attempting to Elude Police CAR 2500 OR

Interference Traffic‐Control Device or RR Signals
Unauthorized Sign, Signal, Marking or Device

Obedience to authorized persons directing traffic
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8.5 Speed Limits 2023 Bond Schedule Note

8.5.1 Speed Basic Rule $75 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.5.2 Maximum Speed Limits (1‐10 mph over limit) $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.5.3 Speed 11‐20 mph over limit (add $6.00 per mph 

over 10 up to 20) $45 plus* NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.5.4 Speed 21‐30 mph over limit (add $9.00 per mph 

over 20 up to 30) $105 plus** NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.5.5 Speed 31 mph & up over limit (add $15.00 per 

mph over 30) $195 plus *** NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.5.6 Minimum Speed Regulation $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.5.7 Speed Motor Driven Cycle $75 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.5.8 Racing or Drag Racing CAR NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

* add $6.00 per mph over 10 mph over the limit. Ex: 11mph over =$51, 12mph over=$57, 13mph over=$63, etc

**add $9.00 per mph over 20 mph over the limit. Ex: 21mph over =$114, 22mph over=$123, 23mph over=$132, etc

***add $15.00 per mph over 30mph over the limit. Ex 31mph over=$210, 32mph over=$225, 33mph over=$240, etc

8.6 2023 Bond Schedule Note

8.6.1 Driving Right Side of Roadway $75 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.6.2 Failure to Keep Right to Pass Oncoming Vehicle $75 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.6.3 Improper Passing; Increase Speed when Passed $75 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.6.4 Improper Passing on Right $75 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.6.5 Limitations on Overtaking on the Left $75 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.6.6 Further Limitations on Driving Left of Center $75 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.6.7 No Passing Zone Infraction $75 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.6.8 One‐Way Roadways and Rotary Traffic Islands $75 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.6.9 Driving on Roadways Landed for Traffic $75 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.6.10 Following Too Close $75 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.6.11 Driving Divided Highways $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.7 Turning & Starting ‐ Signals on Stopping & 

Turning 2023 Bond Schedule Note

8.7.1 Turning $75 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.7.2 U‐Turns, Where Prohibited $75 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.7.3 Turning on Curve or Crest of Grade $75 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.7.4 Starting Parked Vehicle $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.7.5 Turning Movements and Required Signals $75 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.7.6 Signals by Hand and Arm or Signal Lamps $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.7.7 Methods of Giving Signals $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.8 Right‐Of‐Way 2023 Bond Schedule Note

8.8.1 Vehicle Approaching or Entering Intersection $75 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.8.2 Vehicle Turning Left $75 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.8.3 Stop Sign and Yield Signs $75 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.8.4 Vehicle Entering Roadway $75 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.8.5 Approach of Authorized Emergency Vehicle $195 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.8.6 Highway Construction or Maintenance $105 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.9 Pedestrians 2023 Bond Schedule Note

8.9.1 Pedestrian Obedience to Traffic‐Control Device $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.9.2 Pedestrians Right of Way in Crosswalk $75 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.9.3 Crossing at Other Than Crosswalk (Jaywalking) $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.9.4 Drivers Exercise Care $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.9.5 Pedestrian Use Right Half of Crosswalk $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.9.6 Pedestrian on Highways $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.9.7 Pedestrian Solicting Rides or Business $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.9.8 Driving Through Safety Zone $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.9.9 Pedestrian Right of Way on Sidewalks $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.9.10 Pedestrian Yield to Authorized Emergency Vehicle $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.9.11 Blind Pedestrian Right of Way $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

8.9.12 Pedestrian Under Influence of Alcohol $45 200 PS

8.9.13 Bridge or RR Signals $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐2118

Driving on Right Side of Roadway; Overtaking
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8.10 Special Stops Required 2023 Bond Schedule Note

8.10.1 Obedience to Signal Approaching of Train $195 NTA

8.10.2 All Vehchile Must Stop at Certain RR Crossing $135 NTA

8.10.3 Certain Vehchile Stop at RR Crossing $195 NTA

8.10.4 Moving Heavy Equipment at RR Crossing $75 NTA

8.10.5 Emerging from Alley or Private Drive or Building $75 NTA

8.10.6 Overtaking and Passing School Bus $315 NTA

8.10.7 Overtaking and Passing Church Bus $195 NTA

8.11 Stopping, Standing, Parking 2023 Bond Schedule Note

8.11.1 (A)(1) Double Parking $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.11.2 (A)(2) On Sidewalk $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.11.3 (A)(3) Within an Intersection $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.11.4 (A)(4) On a Crosswalk $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.11.5 (A)(5) Between Safety Zone $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.11.6 (A)(6) Street Excavation $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.11.7 (A)(7) Upon Bridge $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.11.8 (A)(8) On RR Tracks $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.11.9 (A)(9) Controlled Access $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.11.10 (A)(10) Divided Highway $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.11.11 (A)(11) Signs Prohibited $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.11.12 (B)(1) Private Drive $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.11.13 (B)(2) 15' Fire Hydrant $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.11.14 (B)(3) 20' Cross Walk $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.11.15 (B)(4) 30' Stop Sign $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.11.16 (B)(5) 20' FD Driveway $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.11.17 (B)(6) Signs Prohibited $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.11.18 (C.)(1) 50' RR Crossing $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.11.19 (C.)(2) Signs Prohibit $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.11.20 (D) Away from Curb $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.11.21 (E) Fire Lanes $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.11.22 Stop or Park on Roadways $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.11.23 Handicapped Parking CAR NTA

8.11.24 Handicapped Parking; Revoked or Suspended Device CAR NTA

8.11.25 Parking for Certain Purposes Prohibited $45 NTA

8.11.26 Stall Parking $45 NTA

8.11.27 Blocking Traffic $45 NTA

8.11.28 Parking on Narrow Streets Signs $45 NTA

8.11.29 Parking in Alley $45 NTA

8.11.30 Parking Disabled and Other Vehicles $45 NTA

8.11.31 Park Adjacent to Schools $45 NTA

8.11.32 Stop, Park in Hazardous or Congested Places Signs $45 NTA

8.11.33 Parking Prohibited at All Times in Designated Places $45 NTA

8.11.34 Limited Time Parking Zones $45 NTA

8.11.35 Communication and Delivery Vehicle Loadingand Unloading $45 NTA

8.11.36 Loading, Unloading or Special Zone $45 NTA

8.12 Miscellaneous Rules 2023 Bond Schedule Note

8.12.1 Using Headphones or TV Reciever $40 NTA

8.12.2 Inattentive Driving $75 NTA

8.12.3 Transporting of Alcoholic Liquor or CMB CAR OR

8.12.4 Unattend Motor Vehicle $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.12.5 Obstruction of Driver's View or Driving Mechanism $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.12.6 Coasting $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.12.7 Following Fire APPR. PROH. $75 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.12.8 Crossing Fire Hose $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.12.9 Putting Glass, Etc. $105 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.12.10 Stop When Traffic Obstructed $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.12.11 Snowmobile Operation Limited $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118
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8.12.12 Unlawful Operation of All‐Terrain Vehicle $75 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.12.13 Unlawful Operation of Low‐Speed Vehicle $75 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.12.14 Unlawful Riding Persons 14 Years of Age and Older $75 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.12.15 Driving on Sidewalk $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.12.16 Limitations on Backing $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.12.17 Drive Through Private Property to Avoid Traffic Control  $45 NTA

8.12.18 Driving Through Procession $45 NTA

8.12.19 Street Barriers $45 NTA

8.12.20 Opening and Closing Vehicle Doors $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.12.21 Riding in House Trailer Prohibited $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.12.22 $100 NTA

8.13 Operations of Bicycles, Motorized Bicycles 2023 Bond Schedule Note

8.13.1 Parental Responsibility of Child Riding Bicycle $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.13.2 Riding on Bicycles Seats; Riders Limited $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.13.3 Clinging to Vehicle $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.13.4 Riding on Roadways and Bicycle Paths $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.13.5 Carrying Articles $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.13.6 Lamps and Other Equipment on Bicycle $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.13.7 Low Power Cycles $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.13.8 Use of Coaster, Skates, Etc. $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14 Lights, Brakes, Horns and Other Equipment 2023 Bond Schedule Note

8.14.1 Equipment Offenses $75 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14.2 When Lighted Lamps Required $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14.3 Head Lamps on Motor Vehicle $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14.4 Tail Lamps $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14.5 Reflectors $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14.6 Stop Lamps and Turn Signals $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14.7 Additional Equipment Required on Certain Vehicles $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14.8 Color of Clerance, ID, Side Marker, Backup and Reflector $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14.9 Mount of REFT., Clearance and Side Marker Lamps $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14.10 Visbility of REFT., Clear, Lamps, and Side Marker Lamps $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14.11 Lamps or Flags on Project Load $75 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14.12 Lamps on Parked Vehicles $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14.13 Lamps on Other Vehicles and Equipment $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14.14 Spot Lamps and Auxiliary Lamps $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14.15 Improper Lamps ro Lights on Emergency Vehicle $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14.16 Improper Stop or Turn Signal $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14.17 Improper Vehicle Hazad Warning Lamp $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14.18 Additional Lighting Equipment $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14.19 Multiple‐Beam Road Light Equipment $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14.20 Use of Multiple‐Beam Road Lighting Equipment $75 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14.21 Alternative Road Lighting Equipment Dim on Speed $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14.22 Number of Driving Lamps Required or Permitted $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14.23 Special Restrictions on Lamps $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14.24 School Buses $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14.25 Lighting Equipment on Church Buses $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14.26 Highway Construction and Maintenance Vehciles $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14.27 Brakes $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14.28 Horns and Warning Devices $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14.29 Noise Prevention; Mufflers $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14.30 Non‐Vehicle Sound Amplification Systems CAR NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14.31 Mirrors $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14.32 Defective Wipers; Obstruct Windshield or Windows $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14.33 Rest. As to Tire Equipment $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14.34 Improper Wide‐Based Tire $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.14.35 Spill Load on Highway $120

8.14.36 Trailer and Towed Vehicles $120

8.14.37 One‐Way Glass $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

Driving Across Lawns, Sidewalks, Yards, Crops, Etc.
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8.14.38 Child Passenger Safety Restraining System $60 NTA

8.14.39 Seat Belts $30 NTA

8.14.40 Unlawful Riding on Vehicle; Person Under Age 14 $60 NTA

8.15 2023 Bond Schedule Note

8.15.1 Headlamps $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.15.2 Tail Lamps $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.15.3 Reflectors $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.15.4 Stop Lamps $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.15.5 Multiple‐Beam Road Lighting Equipment $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.15.6 Lighting Equipment for Motor Driven Cycles $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.15.7 Brake Equipment Required $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.15.8 Performance Ability of Brakes $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.15.9 Other Equipment $45 NTA K.S.A 8‐118

8.16 Driver's License and Vehicle Tags 2023 Bond Schedule Note

8.16.1 No Driver's License CAR NTA

8.16.2 No DL in Possession CAR NTA

8.16.3 Driving While License Canceled, Suspended, or Revoked CAR 2500 OR

8.16.4 Driving in Violaton of Restrictions CAR NTA

8.16.5 Operationo of a Motor Vehicle when Habitual Offender CAR 3500 PS

8.16.6 Unauthorized Operator CAR NTA

8.16.7 Unauthorized Minors CAR NTA

8.16.8 Vehicle License, Illegal tag CAR NTA

8.16.9 Unlawful use of License CAR NTA

8.16.10 Motor Vehicle Liability Insurance CAR 1000 OR

8.17 Penalties General 2023 Bond Schedule Note

8.17.1 Parties to a Violaiton CAR NTA

8.17.2 Offenses by Persons Owning or Controling Vehicle CAR NTA

8.18 2023 Bond Schedule Note

8.18.1 Attempt to Commit a Crime CAR 200 OR

8.18.2 Conspiracy to Commit a Crime CAR 500 OR

8.18.3 Battery CAR 1000 OR NCO

8.18.4 Battery Against a Law Enforcement Officer CAR 2500 OR

8.18.5 Battery DV CAR 2500 OR NCO

8.18.6 Assault CAR 1000 OR NCO

8.18.7 Assault Against a Law Enforcement Officer CAR 500 PS

8.18.8 Criminal Possession of Firearm CAR 5000 PS

8.18.9 Interference with a Fireman CAR 300 PS

8.18.10 Encouraging Juvenile Misconduct CAR 300 PS

8.18.11 Furnishing Intoxicants to Minors CAR 1000 OR

8.18.12 Theft Less Than $1000 CAR 1000 OR

8.18.13 Theft of Services Less Than $1000 CAR 1000 OR

8.18.14 Deprivation of Property CAR 500 PS

8.18.15 Criminal Damage to Property Less Than $500 CAR 1000 OR

8.18.16 Criminal Trespass CAR 1000 OR

8.18.17 Litering CAR 500 OR

8.18.18 Tampering With Traffic Signal CAR 200 PS

8.18.19 Shoplifting CAR 500 PS

8.18.20 Giving a Worthless Check CAR 1000 OR

8.18.21 Obstructing Legal Process CAR 300 PS

8.18.22 Falsely Reporting a Crime CAR 2500 OR

8.18.23 Denial of Civil Rights CAR 500 PS

8.18.24 Lewd & Lascivious Behavior CAR 2500 PS

8.18.25 Disorderly Conduct CAR 1000 OR

8.18.26 Resist Arrest CAR 2500 OR

8.18.27 Unlawful Assembly CAR 500 OR

8.18.28 Maintaining Public Nuisance CAR 200 PS

8.18.29 Permitting a Public Nuisance CAR 200 PS

Equipment on Motorcycles and Motor‐Driven Cycles

Criminal Violations & Miscellaneous Traffic Offenses
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8.18.30 Giving a False Alarm CAR 500 OR

8.18.31 Criminal Desecration CAR 200 PS

8.18.32 Loitering CAR 100 PS

8.18.33 Promoting Prostitution CAR 2500 PS

8.18.34 Prostitution CAR 1500 OR

8.18.35 Unlawful Discharge of Firearm CAR 300 PS

8.18.36 Creating a Hazard CAR 300 PS

8.18.37 Dangerous Missles CAR 300 PS

8.18.38 Animal at Large CAR 50 PS

8.18.39 Dog at Large CAR 50 PS

8.18.40 Possession of Marijuana CAR 1000 OR

8.18.41 Possession of Drug Paraphernalia CAR 1500 OR

8.18.42 Obtain Prescription by Fraud CAR 1000 OR

8.18.43 CMB Consumption Upon a Public Place CAR 50 PS

8.18.44 CMB Sale Limited to Structure CAR 50 PS

8.18.45 Purchase or Consumption of CMB by a Minor CAR 100 PS

8.18.46 Underage Purchases, Possession, Consumption of Liquor CAR 500 OR

8.18.47 Public Intoxication CAR 100 PS

8.18.48 Liquor Consumption in a Public Place CAR 100 PS

8.18.49 False Fire Alarm CAR 100 PS

8.18.50 Fireworks Prohibited CAR 50 PS

8.18.51 Fireworks Discharge on Public Property CAR 50 PS

8.18.52 Throwing Fireworks CAR 50 PS

8.18.53 Parking Livestock Vehicles CAR 50 PS

8.18.54 Parking Inoperable Vehicles CAR 50 PS

8.18.55 Curfew Violation CAR NTA

8.18.56 Riding Bicycle or Vehicle on Sidewalk CAR NTA

8.18.57 Urinating or Defecating in Public CAR 50 PS

8.18.58 Damage Plants on Public Property CAR 50 PS

8.18.59 Curfew Violation in City Parks CAR 50 PS

8.18.60 Obstruction of Street or Sidewalk CAR 50 PS

8.18.61 Barricade Placement and Tampering CAR 50 PS

8.18.62 Putting Petroleum Products in Street CAR 50 PS

8.18.63 Burning in Street CAR 50 PS

8.18.64 Careless Driving CAR NTA

8.18.65 Parking Street Sweeping CAR NTA

8.18.66 Putting Refuse in Container Other Than Own CAR 50 PS 

8.18.67 Open Burning of Refuse CAR 50 PS

Bond Schedule set by Judge per K.S.A 12‐4305

Infraction Fines set by K.S.A 8‐2118

CAR = Court Appearance Required. These are misdemeanors

NTA = Notice to appear. Not an arrestable offense

PS = Professional Surety

OR = Own Recognizance

NCO = No Contact Order
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(First published in the Ark Valley News on ____________.) 

 

 

CITY OF BEL AIRE, KANSAS 

 
RESOLUTION NO. R-_____ 

 

 

A RESOLUTION CONCERNING SERVICE, LICENSE AND 

PERMIT FEES WITHIN THE CORPORATE LIMITS OF 

THE CITY OF BEL AIRE, KANSAS. 

 

WHEREAS, the Governing Body of the City of Bel Aire, Kansas regularly reviews, 

updates, and approves the City of Bel Aire Schedule of Service, License, and Permit Fees, 

for the City of Bel Aire, Kansas. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE 
CITY OF BEL AIRE, KANSAS, that: 

 

SECTION 1. ADOPTION. The revised 2023 City of Bel Aire Schedule of Service, 

License, and Permit Fees, (Schedule), is hereby approved for use within the 

corporate limits of the City of Bel Aire, Kansas as set forth herein. 

 

SECTION 2. INCORPORATION AS APPENDIX. One (1) copy of the Schedule 

shall be included as an Appendix within the Bel Aire City Code and open to 

inspection and available to the public at all reasonable hours. 

 

SECTION 3. PUBLICATION. This resolution shall be published once in the 

official City newspaper. 

 

SECTION 4. EFFECTIVE DATE. This resolution shall take effect and be in 

force January 1, 2023. 

 

ADOPTED AND PASSED by the Governing Body of the City of Bel Aire, Kansas, this 

_______   day of September, 2022.   

_______________________ 

Jim Benage, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_______________________ 

Melissa Krehbiel, City Clerk 

 

130

Section XI, Item B.



City of Bel Aire, Kansas 

Police Department 

Monthly Report 

 

 
 

 

 

 

August 2022 
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Department Staffing 

 

 

The Bel Aire Police Department personnel:  

Chief Darrell G. Atteberry Lieutenant Robey Foxx 

Sergeant Shaun Davis Officer Grant Greenwood 

Officer Virginia Crice Officer Mason Schell 

Officer Tessa Smithwick  

Officer Tyler Langford  

Officer Kimberly Lopez Part-time Officer James Toomey  

Officer Brandon Gibson Part-time Officer Braden Moore 

Officer Joseph Trumbull  

Officer Michael Gordon  
 

 

Municipal Court Administrator 

 

Lindsie Nygaard 
 

Traffic Enforcement:  
 

The Bel Aire Police Department recognizes the importance of enforcing traffic laws to help make 

streets safer for motorists and pedestrians. Enforcing speed zones and other traffic laws helps reduce 

factors associated with traffic crashes that cause personal injury as well as property damage.   

 

 

      Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec   Total 

Traffic Related Arrests                               

Drive While Suspended/Revoked 8 4 3 7 5 6 4 4 0 0 0 0  41 

DUI   5 0 0 3 5 3 3 2 0 0  0      21 

                              Total 62 

      Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec   Total 

Traffic Crashes                               

Vehicle Crashes   6 9 11 26 10 12 6 14 0 0 0 0  94 

                                  

 

Traffic Enforcement 

 

58

29

89

127 133

106

72 76

0 0 0 0

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

Monthly Ticket Activity
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Community Event:  

 

08-12-22- Bel Aire Police Department officers hosted a National Night Out event at City Hall.  
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Vehicles:  

 

The Bel Aire Police Department has seven vehicles. All are fully-marked patrol vehicles equipped 

with audio/visual recording devices, and used for patrol duties. Below are the year, make, model, 

and current mileage. As some of the most used vehicles gain mileage, the police department efforts 

to move the vehicles around to balance out the mileage. As vehicles get to the end of their life cycle, 

they require more maintenance and it is a challenge, sometimes, to keep the vehicles in operation.  

 

 2017 Ford Explorer (30)   –  98,000 

 2017 Ford Explorer (32)    –  70,000 

 2019 Ford Explorer (33)   –  38,200 

 2020 Ford Explorer (34)    –  26,000   

 2020 Ford Explorer (35)    –  40,000 

 2020 Ford Explorer (36)    –  26,000 

 2020 Ford Explorer (37)   –    5,000 

 

 

Warrant Service 

 

When Bel Aire Police Department personnel encounter people with outstanding warrants, they are 

required by the court to take the person into custody to answer for the warrants. The warrants can be 

for juveniles or adults, misdemeanor or felony, local, state, or federal. Each requires the officer to 

serve the warrant. 

 

      Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec   Total 

Warrants/Arrests/Commitments                             

Outside Warrants   5 0 1 5 0 1 2 2 0 0 0 0  16 

Bel Aire Warrants   0 1 3 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0  6 

Felony Arrests   2 0 2 0 1 1 0 1 0 0 0 0  10 

Misdemeanor Arrests   10 5 3 9 11 5 6 5 0 0 0 0  54 

Juvenile Arrests   0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0  0 

Court Commitments   0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0  0 

                              Total 86 
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Crime Statistics  

 

      Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec   Total 

                                  

Part One Calls for 

Service                               

Homicide     0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0  0 

Rape     0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0  0 

Robbery     0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0  0 

Aggravated Assault   1 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0  3 

Burglary     2 0 2 3 1 1 3 0 0 0 0 0  12 

Larceny/Theft   8 12 8 11 8 8 12 10 0 0 0 0  77 

Auto Theft     1 3 2 2 2 1 0 1 0 0 0 0  12 

Arson     0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0  0 

                              Total 104 

      Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec   Total 

                                  

Part Two Calls for Service                               

Simple Assault   0 0 0 0 2 5 1 0 0 0 0 0   8 

Assault/Battery/LEO   1 0 1 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0   5 

Domestic Battery   1 2 1 3 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0   9 

Battery/Resist LEO   0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0   3 

Intimidation     0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0   2 

Forgery     0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0   1 

Fraud     1 0 1 5 2 2 0 2 0 0 0 0   13 

Embezzlement   0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0  0 

Weapons Violations   0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0  0 

Prostitution     0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0   0 

Sex Offense     0 0 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0   3 

Offense Against Family and Children 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0  0 

Narcotic and Drug Law Violations 3 3 5 2 2 0 2 1 0 0 0 0   18 

Liquor Law Violations   0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0   0 

Disorderly Conduct   0 1 1 2 4 2 2 2 0 0 0 0   14 

Vagrancy     0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0  0 

Gambling     0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0  0 

Violation of Road and Driving Laws 0 1 0 0 2 2 0 1 0 0 0 0   6 

Parking Violations   0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0   0 

Other Traffic Violations   11 7 5 21 14 11 12 14 0 0 0 0   95 

Vandalism     0 0 1 0 0 2 2 2 0 0 0 0  7 

Miscellaneous Offense   6 6 6 1 6 1 1 1 0 0 0 0   28 

                              Total 212 

             Total of Both  316 

 

 

 

 

Darrell Atteberry 

Chief of Police 

City of Bel Aire 
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City of Bel Aire, Kansas 

 

STAFF REPORT 
 

DATE:  9/14/22  
TO: City Council and City Manager  
FROM: P&Z Department  
RE: August Monthly report  

 
 
Residential Construction update 
 

 

 Housing starts are steady for the month of August, Bel Aire processed 8 new single-family permits 

and one duplex permit for a value over $3 million. 
 

 

City Projects 
 
Staff is currently taking grant applications for damaged or irregular shifted city sidewalk abutting private 
property. October 15, 2022, is the deadline to submit applications. Staff will drop by locations as 
provided by Bel Aire citizens. The city will be collecting bids from selected contractors to complete all 
sections on the list not done once the project commences.  
 
Staff is currently collecting bids for replacing and or updating the city hall heating and cooling systems. 
The core of the building has 6 independent systems, the police wing and community wing there are 
another 5 independent systems. 
The recent energy study completed identified a portion of the upstairs under sized for the cooling load, 
this year with the high temperatures on a daily average, the antiquated equipment was failing more 
often.  
The building was built with good, rated equipment, by memory it is 12 seer; the newer equipment will 
be rated 16 or 17 seer (seasonal energy efficiency Ratio).  The net difference could be 15%-25% 
savings with energy use with the newer equipment. 
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August Housing Permits

single family multi units total value in millions
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The goal is to provide better comfort and use less energy if possible. The chart below is a comparison 
in the courtroom for July this year and last. 
 

 
  
  
Violations 
 
    This was part of a rough-in inspection, all trades and framing. I’m guessing that the slinky effect 
happened     
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City of Bel Aire, Kansas 
 
STAFF REPORT 
 
DATE:  September 13, 2022 
 
TO:  Ty Lasher, City Manager 
  Bel Aire City Council 
 
FROM:  Brian Hayes, Recreation Director 
 
RE:  August Activities 
 
Recreation  
 

• Pickleball participation was up with 292 compared to 256 participants last month.  
 

• Taekwondo participation was steady with 11 students compared to the same in August. TKD participation is 
typically down in the summer. 

 
• Exercise classes were steady with 21 participants compared to 20 in August. 

 
• Day Camp finished the summer with another near capacity count of 25 registered campers.  Staff is reviewing the 

program and is already planning for next year. 
 

• August daily use was steady with 556 compared to 548 last month.  
 

• The annual Bel Aire Ball was held on August 12th. Nearly 50 family members enjoyed an evening of food, fun 
and dancing. 
 

• Outdoor Soccer practices began on August 29th.  Over 200 youth ages 4-10 are participating this year which is the 
largest turnout since 2005. There are additionally 38 youth participating in volleyball and flag football jointly with 
teams from Valley Center, Andover, and Maize.  Volleyball hasn’t sported any teams since before the pandemic. 
 

• The summer drought continues to take a toll on the health of all the turf grasses at the Recreation complex. A bit 
more fertilizer was applied to some of the stressed Bermuda in August and Fescue areas around the building will 
be renovated and re-seeded due to brown patch disease and drought kill.  
 

• Rec staff have visited with several planners and have asked for proposals for an updated Rec Complex and Bel 
Aire Park master plans.  Things being discussed is ADA access at the Rec Center as well as renovation and 
possible relocation of the tennis court to the Rec Complex that can accommodate outdoor pickleball as well. 
 

• Upcoming Rec programs include, Tai Chi, Happy Feet Soccer, TGA Golf, Dance, and the annual Fall Festival. 
 
Seniors 
 

• 644 seniors participated in bridge, line dance, exercise, sewing, walking, book club, educational, and special 
activities compared to 554 last month.    

 
• A few August events included Singo, several trips & presentations and an ice cream social.  

 
• Staff continues to engage Bel Aire Seniors by phone, newsletters, and e-mail.  Every week virtual tours 

of interesting venues, fun activities, and useful information are presented. 
 

• Upcoming Senior activities include a craft activity and Tai Chi as well as the many ongoing programs.  
Potluck dinners will also return in September. 
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Swimming Pool  
 

• Pool attendance finished strong and 25% up over last year. 
 

• The Hot Dog Pool party closed out the season on August 8th.  Doggy attendance was down a bit over previous 
years with 60 pets & their families taking a dip in the pool. 
 

• The pool has been winterized and stored away for the year. 
 

• Staff is currently collecting information and estimates on pool liners and re-plastering. 
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MANAGERS REPORT    
          
 
DATE: September 15, 2022   
TO:  Mayor Benage and City Council 
FROM: Ty Lasher, City Manager    
RE:  September 20, 2022 Agenda   
 
 
Consent Agenda (Item VI) 
The Consent Agenda contains only the Minutes of the September 7th Council 
meeting and the September 13th Special City Council meeting. 
 
Appropriations Ordinance (Item VII) 
This reporting period includes one payroll period. Planning and Zoning 
purchased a new map printer/plotter from ARC Document Solutions. The 
cost of $6,190 includes a one-year support agreement. Meters and meter 
parts for new meter installs accounts for most of the $86,880 expense with 
Core and Main; split between water and sewer funds. Utility Maintenance 
Contractors installed 22 new water service lines and repaired a leaking fire 
hydrant at a cost of $39,662. 
 
City Requested Appearances (Item VIII) 
Tara Laughlin of Allen, Gibbs, and Houlik will be here to present the 
findings of the 2021 Audit. 
 
PUD Amendment, Arthur Heights (Item A) 
At their August 23rd meeting, Planning Commission reviewed the 
applicant’s request to change the current PUD to allow R-6 multi- family 
zoning and held a public hearing on the matter. Three residents voiced their 
concerns. Following the public hearing, Planning Commission considered 
the evidence and discussed the application in relation to the City’s Zoning 
Regulations and the common criteria for zoning known as the “Golden 
Factors. Commissioners noted that the surrounding area has several different 
zoning types (C-1, C-2, R-2, R-4, R-5, and R-6) and that allows the PUD to 
fit into the existing character of the neighborhood. They noted the addition 
of green space is helpful in the R-6 zoning, and the drainage plan and 
screening plans submitted by the applicant’s engineer meet requirements of 
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the zoning code. They also noted that the property has been vacant for 
several years under the current zoning. Having thoroughly reviewed the 
issue Planning Commission voted (by passing a 5-0 motion) to recommend 
changing the partial zoning within the current PUD to allow R-6 multi-
family housing with the condition of a default eight (8) foot fence or 
appropriate screening as otherwise mutually agreed upon with neighboring 
properties. Staff recommends that the Council accept the recommendation of 
the Planning Commission as stated.  
 
Resolution, 2023 Fee Schedule (Item B) 
Staff has recommended several changes to the current fee schedule and 
Council reviewed the proposed changes at the Council workshop on 
September 13th. It is considered a best practice to periodically review the fee 
schedule to ensure the City is recouping the cost of providing services and 
keeping pace with inflation. The fee schedule was last updated in 2019. The 
proposed changes are in line with current costs in other communities. Most 
of these fees are costs to individuals or companies for one-time services 
(such as building permits). Fees for service ensure that the individual bears 
most of the cost incurred by the City to provide that service. Staff 
recommend that Council approve the 2023 fee schedule to take effect on 
January 1, 2023. 
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